

# L'AIR LIQUIDE S.A. / AIR LIQUIDE FINANCE €12,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by L'Air Liquide S.A. in respect of Notes issued by Air Liquide Finance

Under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme") described in this document (the "Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus"), L'Air Liquide, société anonyme pour l'Etude et l'Exploitation des Procédés Georges Claude ("L'Air Liquide", the "Guarantor" or, in its capacity as Issuer, an "Issuer") and Air Liquide Finance ("Air Liquide Finance" or an "Issuer" and together with L'Air Liquide, the "Issuers"), subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue Euro Medium Term Notes (the "Notes"). Notes issued by Air Liquide Finance will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by L'Air Liquide. The aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed €12,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies as at the date of issue of the Notes) and may be denominated in any currency.

This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus shall, for the purposes of Notes listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange be updated annually.

Application has been made to the Commission de surveillance du secteur financier ("CSSF") in its capacity as competent authority in Luxembourg under the loi relative aux prospectus pour valeurs mobilières dated 10 July 2005, as amended (the "Prospectus Act 2005") for the approval of this document as two base prospectuses for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive. In accordance with article 7(7) of the Prospectus Act 2005, the CSSF shall give no undertaking as to the economical and financial soundness of the operation or the quality or solvency of the Issuers and/or the Guarantor by approving this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

Application may be made for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (i) to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or (ii) to the competent authority of any other Member State of the European Economic Area ("EEA") for Notes issued under the Programme to be listed and admitted to trading on a Regulated Market (as defined below) in such Member State. However, Notes issued under the Programme may also be unlisted and/or not admitted to trading on any market. The relevant final terms (the "Final Terms") (a form of which is contained herein) in respect of the issue of any Notes will specify whether or not such Notes will be listed and admitted to trading and, if so, the relevant Regulated Market, and will be published, if relevant, on the website of the Regulated Market where the admission to trading is sought or on the website of the relevant Issuer, as the case may be. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2004/39/EC, as amended, appearing on the list of regulated markets issued by the European Securities and Markets Authority (a "Regulated Market").

References in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus to the "Prospectus Directive" are to the Directive 2003/71/EC of 4 November 2003 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading, as amended.

Notes may be issued either in dematerialised form ("Dematerialised Notes") or in materialised form ("Materialised Notes"), as more fully described herein

Dematerialised Notes may, at the option of the relevant Issuer, be (a) in bearer dematerialised form (au porteur) inscribed as from the issue date in the books of Euroclear France ("Euroclear France") (acting as central depositary) which shall credit the accounts of Euroclear France Account Holders (as defined in Condition 1(a)) including Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. ("Euroclear") and the depositary bank for Clearstream Banking, S.A. ("Clearstream") or (b) in registered dematerialised form (au nominatif) and, in such latter case, at the option of the relevant Noteholder (as defined in Condition 1(c)(iv)), in either fully registered form (au nominatif pur), in which case they will be inscribed either with the Issuer or with the registration agent (designated in the relevant Final Terms) for the Issuer, or in administered registered form (au nominatif administré) in which case they will be inscribed in the accounts of the Euroclear France Account Holders designated by the relevant Noteholders.

Dematerialised Notes will at all times be in book entry form in compliance with Articles L.211-3 and R.211-1 of the French Code monétaire et financier. No physical documents of title will be issued in respect of the Dematerialised Notes.

Materialised Notes will be in bearer form only and may only be issued outside France. A temporary global certificate in bearer form without interest coupons attached (a "Temporary Global Certificate") will initially be issued in connection with Materialised Notes. Such Temporary Global Certificate will be exchanged for definitive Materialised Notes in bearer form with, where applicable, coupons for interest attached on or after a date expected to be on or about the 40th calendar day after the issue date of the Notes (subject to postponement as described in "Temporary Global Certificates Issued in respect of Materialised Bearer Notes") upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership as more fully described herein. Temporary Global Certificates will (a) in the case of a Tranche (as defined below) intended to be cleared through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, be deposited on the issue date with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream and (b) in the case of a Tranche intended to be cleared through a clearing system other than or in addition to Euroclear and/or Clearstream or delivered outside a clearing system, be deposited as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined below).

The final terms of the relevant Notes will be determined at the time of the offering of each Tranche based on the then prevailing market conditions and will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

The Programme has been rated A- by S&P Global Ratings, and A3 by Moody's Investors Service. Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where an issue of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as ratings assigned to the Programme and its rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to other Notes issued under the Programme. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. Both S&P Global Ratings and Moody's Investors Service are established in the European Union, are registered under Regulation (EC) No.1060/2009 on credit ratings agencies, as amended (the "CRA Regulation") and are included in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation published on the website of the European Securities and Markets Authority (www.esma.europa.eu/supervision/credit-rating-agencies/risk). The relevant Final Terms will specify whether or not credit ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation. Credit ratings are subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the relevant rating organisation.

Prospective investors should take into account the factors described under the section headed "Risk Factors" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus before deciding to invest in the Notes issued under the Programme.

Arranger BNP PARIBAS

Permanent Dealers
BOFA MERRILL LYNCH
CITIGROUP
ICBC PARIS BRANCH
MIZUHO SECURITIES
SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE
CORPORATE & INVESTMENT BANKING

BARCLAYS
CM-CIC MARKET SOLUTIONS
HSBC
J.P. MORGAN
NATIXIS
SMBC NIKKO

BANCA IMI BNP PARIBAS COMMERZBANK CRÉDIT AGRICOLE CIB MUFG NATWEST MARKETS This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (together with any supplements to this document published from time to time) constitutes two base prospectuses for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive: (i) the base prospectus for L'Air Liquide, société anonyme pour l'Etude et l'Exploitation des Procédés Georges Claude ("L'Air Liquide", the "Guarantor" or, in its capacity as Issuer, an "Issuer") in respect of non-equity securities within the meaning of Article 22 no. 6(4) of the Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 of 29 April 2004, as amended (hereinafter, the "Notes") to be issued by L'Air Liquide under this Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme") and (ii) the base prospectus for Air Liquide Finance ("Air Liquide Finance" or an "Issuer" and together with L'Air Liquide, the "Issuers") in respect of Notes to be issued by Air Liquide Finance under this Programme. In relation to each Tranche of Notes, this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus must be read in conjunction with the applicable Final Terms.

This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (together with any supplements to this document published from time to time) is to be read in conjunction with all information which is incorporated herein by reference in accordance with Article 11 of the Prospectus Directive (see section headed "Information Incorporated by Reference" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus).

No person is or has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained or incorporated by reference in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (together with any supplements to this document published from time to time) in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance, or any of the Dealers or the Arranger (each as defined in the section headed "General Description of the Programme" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus). Neither the delivery of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance, as the case may be, or those of L'Air Liquide and its subsidiaries taken as a whole (together, the "Air Liquide Group") since the date hereof or the date upon which this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of either of L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance, as the case may be, or that of the Air Liquide Group since the date hereof or the date upon which this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

In the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a Regulated Market in circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive, the minimum specified denomination shall be at least €100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the Notes).

The distribution of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. No action has been taken by L'Air Liquide, Air Liquide Finance or the Dealers which would permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (together with any supplements to this document published from time to time) nor any Final Terms or other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations and the Dealers have represented that all offers and sales by them will be made on the same terms. Persons into whose possession this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus comes are required by L'Air Liquide, Air Liquide Finance, the Dealers and the Arranger to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. In particular, there are restrictions on the distribution of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes in France, the United Kingdom, Italy, Belgium, the United States, Japan, Hong Kong, the People's Republic of China, Singapore and Russia.

The Notes and the Guarantee in respect of the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and the Notes may include Materialised Notes in bearer form that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, the Notes may not be offered, sold or, in the case of Materialised Notes in bearer form, delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation S") or in the case of Materialised Notes in bearer form, the U.S Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "U.S. Internal Revenue Code")). The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S. The Notes and the Guarantee have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, any state securities commission in the United States or any other U.S. regulatory authority, nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the offering of Notes or the accuracy or the adequacy of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense in the United States.

This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus or information contained herein is not an offer, or an invitation to make offers, to sell, exchange or otherwise transfer securities in the Russian Federation to or for the benefit of any Russian person or entity and does not constitute an advertisement or offering of securities in the Russian Federation within the

meaning of Russian securities laws. Information contained in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (together with any supplements to this document published from time to time) is not intended for any persons in the Russian Federation who are not "qualified investors" within the meaning of Article 51.2 of the Federal Law no. 39-FZ "On the Securities Market" dated 22 April 1996, as amended (the "Russian QIs") and must not be distributed or circulated into the Russian Federation or made available in the Russian Federation to any persons who are not Russian QIs, unless and to the extent they are otherwise permitted to access such information under Russian law. The Securities have not been and will not be registered in Russia and are not intended for "placement" or "circulation" in the Russian Federation (each as defined in Russian securities laws) unless and to the extent otherwise permitted under Russian law. For a description of certain restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and on distribution of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, see "Subscription and Sale".

This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of L'Air Liquide, Air Liquide Finance, the Dealers or the Arranger to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

The Arranger and the Dealers have not separately verified the information or representations contained or incorporated by reference in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (together with any supplements to this document published from time to time). None of the Dealers or the Arranger makes any representation, express or implied, or accepts any responsibility, with respect to the sincerity, accuracy or completeness of any of the information or representations in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus. Neither this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (together with any supplements to this document published from time to time) nor any other information incorporated by reference therein is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of L'Air Liquide, Air Liquide Finance, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (together with any supplements to this document published from time to time) or any other information incorporated by reference should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (together with any supplements to this document published from time to time) and its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or the Arranger has reviewed or undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of L'Air Liquide, Air Liquide Finance or the Air Liquide Group during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche (as defined in the section headed "General Description of the Programme" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus), the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the stabilising manager(s) (the "Stabilising Manager(s)") (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in the applicable Final Terms may to the extent permitted by applicable laws and regulations over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the final terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 calendar days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche and 60 calendar days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche.

In this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (together with any supplements to this document published from time to time), unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to "€", "Euro", "EUR" or "euro" are to the single currency of the participating member states of the European Union, references to "£", "pounds sterling", "GBP" and "Sterling" are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom, references to "\$", "USD" and "US Dollars" are to the lawful currency of the United States of America, references to "¥", "JPY", "Japanese yen" and "Yen" are to the lawful currency of Japan, references to "CHF" and "Swiss francs" are to the lawful currency of Switzerland, references to "RMB", "CNY" or "Renminbi" are to the Chinese Yuan Renminbi, the lawful currency of the People's Republic of China, which, for the purpose of this document, excludes the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan (the "PRC") and reference to "Rouble" or "RUB" means the lawful currency of the Russian Federation.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND SOURCES
RISK FACTORS6
GENERAL DESCRIPTION ON THE PROGRAMME
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
SUPPLEMENT TO THE DEBT ISSUANCE PROGRAMME PROSPECTUS
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES
TEMPORARY GLOBAL CERTIFICATES ISSUED IN RESPECT OF MATERIALISED BEARER NOTES 48
USE OF PROCEEDS
DESCRIPTION OF L'AIR LIQUIDE
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF L'AIR LIQUIDE SINCE 1 JANUARY 2017
DESCRIPTION OF AIR LIQUIDE FINANCE
DESCRIPTION OF THE GUARANTEE 63
TAXATION64
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE
FORM OF FINAL TERMS – L'AIR LIQUIDE / AIR LIQUIDE FINANCE
GENERAL INFORMATION
PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE INFORMATION GIVEN IN THE DEBT ISSUANCE PROGRAMME PROSPECTUS

# FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND SOURCES

This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus contains or incorporates by reference certain forward-looking statements that are based on estimates and assumptions, which involve risks and uncertainties, including, without limitation, certain statements made in the section headed "Risk Factors" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus. Forward-looking statements include statements with respect to the Issuers' or the Guarantor's future financial condition, results of operations, business and prospects and generally include all statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words "believe", "expect", "may", "should", "approximately", "intend", "plan", "project", "anticipate", "seek", "estimate" or similar expressions that relate to the Air Liquide Group's strategy, plans or intentions. Although it is believed that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, there is no assurance that the actual results or developments anticipated will be realised or, even if realised, that they will have the expected effects on the business, financial condition or prospects of the Issuers.

These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which the statements were made, and no obligation has been undertaken to publicly update or revise any outlook or forward-looking statements made in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus or elsewhere as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by applicable laws and regulations. When considering forward-looking statements, prospective investors should keep in mind the risk factors included in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, including those described in the section headed "Risk Factors" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus contains or incorporates by reference certain statements regarding the competitive position of the Air Liquide Group using the words "global leadership", "world leader", "leader" and similar wording. Unless a specific source is mentioned, the source for such statements is Air Liquide Group based on revenue figures from the latest published accounts of the Air Liquide Group and its main competitors.

# **RISK FACTORS**

The Issuers and/or the Guarantor, as the case may be, believe that the following factors may affect their ability to fulfil their obligations under the Notes issued under the Programme or the Guarantee, as the case may be. Prospective investors could lose all or part of their investment. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuers and/or the Guarantor, as the case may be, are not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingencies occurring.

In addition, factors which the Issuers believe may be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuers and/or the Guarantor, as the case may be, believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuers and/or the Guarantor, as the case may be, to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes or the Guarantee, as the case may be, may occur for other reasons. The risks described below are not the only risks the Issuers and/or the Guarantor, as the case may be, face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to the Issuers or the Guarantor or that they currently believe to be immaterial could also have a material impact on their business operations. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (including any information incorporated by reference herein) and the Final Terms of the relevant Notes and reach their own views prior to making any decision to invest in the Notes.

Prospective investors should consult their own financial and legal advisers about risks associated with investment in a particular Series of Notes and the suitability of investing in the Notes in light of their particular circumstances.

The order in which the following risk factors are presented is not an indication of the likelihood of their occurrence.

Words and expressions beginning with a capitalised letter used but not otherwise defined in this section shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

## 1 RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE ISSUERS AND THE GUARANTOR

# 1.1 Risk factors relating to L'Air Liquide

Please refer to the section headed "Information incorporated by reference" on page 21 of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

# 1.2 Risk factors relating to Air Liquide Finance

To benefit from economies of scale and facilitate capital markets funding (bonds and commercial paper), the Air Liquide Group uses a special-purpose subsidiary, Air Liquide Finance. This subsidiary centralizes the Air Liquide Group's funding activities, essentially in Europe, Americas, Asia and the Middle East.

As of 31 December 2016, Air Liquide Finance granted, directly or indirectly, the equivalent of 17.3 billion euros in loans and received 4.9 billion euros in cash surpluses as deposits. These transactions were denominated in 26 currencies (primarily Euro, USD, JPY, RMB) and extended to approximately 240 subsidiaries. The matching positions per currency within Air Liquide Finance, resulting from the currency hedging of intra-group loans and borrowings, ensure that these intra-group funding operations do not generate foreign exchange risk for the Air Liquide Group.

Furthermore, in certain specific cases (e.g. regulatory constraints, high country risk, joint ventures, etc.), the Air Liquide Group may decide to limit its risk by setting up specific financings in the local banking market, and by using credit risk insurance. In addition, Air Liquide Finance manages the Air Liquide Group's interest rate, foreign exchange and commodity risks for the Air Liquide Group's subsidiaries in those countries when it is permissible under law.

For those reasons, investment considerations in connection with Air Liquide Finance relate to financial risks and liquidity risks of L'Air Liquide.

## 2 RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE NOTES

# 2.1 General risks relating to the Notes

# 2.1.1 The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each prospective investor of Notes must determine, based on its own independent review and such professional advice as it deems appropriate under the circumstances, that its investment in the Notes is fully consistent with its financial needs, objectives and condition, complies and is fully consistent with all investment policies, guidelines and restrictions applicable to it and is a fit, proper and suitable investment

for it, notwithstanding the clear and substantial risks inherent in investing in or holding the Notes. In particular, each prospective investor should:

- have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits
  and the risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
  reference in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus or any applicable supplement and in the
  relevant Final Terms;
- b) have access to and knowledge of appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation and sensitivity to the risk, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact the relevant Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- d) understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant rates and financial markets; and
- e) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of its professional advisers) possible scenarios for economic interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to face the applicable risks.

A prospective investor should not invest in the Notes unless it has the expertise (either alone or with the help of its professional advisers) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

A prospective investor may not rely on the Issuers or the Dealer(s) or any of their respective affiliates in connection with its determination as to the legality of its acquisition of the Notes or as to the other matters referred to above.

## 2.1.2 Modification, waivers and substitution

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling General Meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant General Meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

# 2.1.3 Legality of purchase

Neither the Issuers, the Dealer(s) nor any of their respective affiliates has or assumes responsibility for the lawfulness of the acquisition of the Notes by a prospective investor of the Notes, whether under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or the jurisdiction in which it operates (if different), or for compliance by that prospective investor with any law, regulation or regulatory policy applicable to it.

## 2.1.4 Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

#### 2.1.5 Taxation

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or other documentary charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Notes are transferred or other jurisdictions. In some jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax authorities or court decisions may be available for innovative financial instruments such as the Notes. Potential investors are advised not to rely upon the tax overview contained in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus but to ask for their own tax adviser's advice on their individual taxation with respect to the acquisition, holding, sale and redemption of the Notes. Only these advisors are in a position to duly consider the specific situation of the potential investor. This investment consideration has to be read in conjunction with the taxation sections of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

# 2.1.6 Financial transactions tax ("FTT")

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the "Commission's Proposal") for a Directive for a common FTT in Austria, Belgium, Estonia, France, Germany, Greece, Italy, Portugal,

Spain, Slovenia and Slovakia (the "**Participating Member States**"). Following ECOFIN Council meeting of 8 December 2015, Estonia officially announced its withdrawal from the negotiations.

The Commission's Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced in its current form, apply to certain dealings in the Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances. Primary market transactions referred to in Article 5(c) of Regulation (EC) No 1287/2006 should, however, be exempt.

Under the Commission's Proposal, the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the Participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in the Notes where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a Participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a Participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a Participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a Participating Member State.

During the last ECOFIN meeting on 6 December 2016, Finance EU Ministers indicated that the Member States will continue the discussions in relation to the European FTT in January with a view to reaching an agreement by mid-2017.

The Commission's Proposal remains subject to negotiation between the Participating Member States and its scope is uncertain. It may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional Member States may decide to participate.

If the Commission's Proposal or any similar tax were adopted, secondary transactions on the Notes would be subject to higher costs, and the liquidity of the market for the Notes may be diminished.

Prospective holders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT associated with subscribing for, purchasing, holding and disposing of the Notes.

## 2.1.7 French insolvency law

Under French insolvency law, holders of debt securities are automatically grouped into a single assembly of holders (the "Assembly") in order to defend their common interests if an accelerated safeguard procedure (procédure de sauvegarde accélérée), an accelerated financial safeguard procedure (procédure de sauvegarde financière accélérée), a safeguard procedure (procédure de sauvegarde) or a judicial reorganisation procedure (procédure de redressement judiciaire) is opened in France with respect to the Issuer.

The Assembly comprises holders of all debt securities issued by the Issuer (including the Notes), whether or not under a debt issuance programme (such as the Programme) and regardless of their governing law.

The Assembly deliberates on the draft safeguard plan (*projet de plan de sauvegarde*), draft accelerated financial safeguard plan (*projet de plan de sauvegarde financière accélérée*), draft safeguard plan (*projet de plan de sauvegarde*) or draft judicial reorganisation plan (*projet de plan de redressement*) applicable to the Issuer and may further agree to:

- increase the liabilities (charges) of holders of debt securities (including the Noteholders) by rescheduling due payments and/or partially or totally writing-off receivables in the form of debt securities;
- establish an unequal treatment between holders of debt securities (including the Noteholders) as appropriate under the circumstances; and/or
- decide to convert debt securities (including the Notes) into securities that give or may give right to share capital.

Decisions of the Assembly will be taken by a two-third majority (calculated as a proportion of the debt securities held by the holders attending such Assembly or represented thereat). No quorum is required to convoke the Assembly.

For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions relating to the Representation of the Noteholders described in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus will not be applicable to the extent they are not in compliance with compulsory insolvency law provisions that apply in these circumstances.

## 2.1.8 Change of law

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are based on French law and rules of the European Union in effect as at the date of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change in French law or rules of the European Union, or their official application or interpretation, after the date of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

# 2.2 Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

The Programme allows for different types of Notes to be issued. Accordingly, each Tranche of Notes may carry varying risks for potential investors depending on the specific features of such Notes.

## 2.2.1 Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

In the event that the relevant Issuer would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of any Notes due to any withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by the country of domicile (or residence for tax purposes) by the relevant Issuer, or on behalf of France, or any political subdivision thereof or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, the relevant Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the Terms and Conditions.

The relevant Issuer has also the option, if so provided in the relevant Final Terms, to redeem the Notes under a make-whole call option as provided in Condition 7(b), a call option as provided in Condition 7(c), a residual maturity call option as provided in Condition 7(d) or a clean-up call option as provided in Condition 7(e).

In addition, if in the case of any particular Tranche of Notes the relevant Final Terms specify that the Notes are redeemable at the Issuer's option in certain other circumstances the Issuer may choose to redeem the Notes at times when prevailing interest rates may be relatively low. During a period when the Issuer may elect, or has elected, to redeem Notes, such Notes may feature a market value not substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. In such circumstances an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as that of the relevant Notes and may only be able to do so at a lower rate. Prospective investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

## 2.2.2 Fixed Rate Notes

Investment in Notes which bear interest at a fixed rate involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the relevant Tranche of Notes.

#### 2.2.3 Floating Rate Notes

Investment in Notes which bear interest at a floating rate comprise (i) a reference rate and (ii) a margin to be added or subtracted, as the case may be, from such base rate. Typically, the relevant margin will not change throughout the life of the Notes but there will be a periodic adjustment (specified in the relevant Final Terms) of the reference rate (e.g., every three months or six months) which itself will change in accordance with general market conditions. Accordingly, the market value of floating rate Notes may be volatile if changes, particularly short term changes, to market interest rates evidenced by the relevant reference rate can only be reflected in the interest rate of these Notes upon the next periodic adjustment of the relevant reference rate.

## 2.2.4 Fixed to Floating Rate Notes

Fixed to floating rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The relevant Issuer's ability to convert the interest rate will affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the relevant Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the fixed to floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable floating rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes.

## 2.2.5 Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

# 2.2.6 Variable rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those features.

## 2.2.7 Zero Coupon Notes

Changes in market interest rates have a substantially stronger impact on the prices of Zero Coupon Notes than on the prices of ordinary Notes because the discounted issue prices are substantially below par. If market interest rates increase, Zero Coupon Notes can suffer higher price losses than other Notes having the same maturity and credit rating. Due to their leverage effect, Zero Coupon Notes are a type of investment associated with a particularly high price risk.

# 2.2.8 Exercise of Change of Control Put Option in respect of certain Notes may affect the liquidity of the Notes of the same Series in respect of which such option is not exercised

Depending on the number of Notes of the same Series in respect of which the Change of Control Put Option provided for in the relevant Final Terms is exercised, any trading market in respect of those Notes in respect of which such option is not exercised may become illiquid. In addition, investors may only be able to reinvest the moneys they receive upon such early redemption in securities with a lower yield than the redeemed Notes.

In addition, if, further to the exercise of such Change of Control Put Option, 80 per cent. or more of the initial aggregate principal amount of the Notes has been purchased and cancelled by the relevant Issuer, such Issuer has the option to redeem all of the remaining Notes without obtaining the prior consent of their holders.

#### 2.2.9 Risks related to RMB Notes

Notes denominated in RMB ("RMB Notes") may be issued under the Programme. RMB Notes contain particular risks for potential investors.

RMB is not completely freely convertible and there are still significant restrictions on the remittance of RMB into and outside the PCR and the liquidity of RMB Notes may be adversely affected

RMB is not completely freely convertible at present. The government of the People's Republic of China, which, for the purpose of this document, excludes the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan ("PRC"), continues to regulate conversion between RMB and foreign currencies, despite the significant reduction over the years by the PRC government of control over trade transactions involving import and export of goods and services as well as other frequent routine foreign exchange transactions under current accounts.

However, remittance of RMB by foreign investors into the PRC for the purposes of capital account items, such as capital contributions, is generally only permitted upon obtaining specific approvals from, or completing specific registrations or filings with, the relevant authorities on a case-by-case basis and is subject to a strict monitoring system. Regulations in the PRC on the remittance of RMB into the PRC for settlement of capital account items are developing gradually.

On 26 January 2017, the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC ("SAFE") issued the Notice on Further Promoting Foreign Exchange Management Reform by Improving Real Compliance Audit (the "2017 SAFE Notice") which seeks to further regulate the foreign exchange management in relation to trading. Domestic institutions are required to handle their currency conversion trade finance businesses and process export earnings timely in accordance with the principle of "who exports, who receives payment, who imports and who makes payment". The 2017 SAFE Notice is also part of the PRC foreign debt, outbound loan and cross-border security regimes applicable to foreign currencies. For instance, the 2017 SAFE Notice states that in order for a domestic institution to carry out cross-border lending, the aggregate of the balance of domestic currency loans and foreign currency denominated loans shall not exceed 30 per cent. of the owner's equity as set out in the previous years' audited financial statements. However, there remain potential inconsistencies between these provisions and the existing rules of the People's Bank of China, and it is currently unclear as to how regulators may address such inconsistencies in practice.

The 2017 SAFE Notice, which is a relatively new regulation, will be subject to interpretation and application by the relevant PRC authorities.

To the extent the Issuers are required to source Renminbi in the offshore market to service their RMB Notes, there is no assurance that they will be able to source such Renminbi on satisfactory terms, if at all.

Risk of change in government support and regulatory regime

Although from 1 October 2016, the RMB has been added to the Special Drawing Rights basket created by the International Monetary Fund, there can be no assurance that the PRC government will continue to gradually liberalise its control over cross-border Renminbi remittances in the future or that new PRC

regulations will not be promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of Renminbi into or outside the PRC. In the event that funds cannot be repatriated outside the PRC in Renminbi, this may affect the overall availability of Renminbi outside the PRC and the ability of the Issuers to source Renminbi to finance their obligations under the RMB Notes.

#### RMB currency risk

Except in limited circumstances and unless otherwise specified, all payments of RMB under RMB Notes to an investor will be made solely by transfer to a RMB bank account maintained in Hong Kong by such investor in accordance with the prevailing rules and regulations and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the RMB Notes. The relevant Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any other means (including in bank notes or by transfer to a bank account in the PRC or anywhere else outside Hong Kong). RMB is not freely convertible at present, and conversion of RMB into other currencies is subject to certain restrictions. In particular, for personal investors, currently conversions of RMB conducted through RMB deposit accounts may be subject to a daily limit, and investors may have to allow time for conversion of RMB from/to another currency of an amount exceeding such daily limit.

In addition, there can be no assurance that access to RMB for the purposes of making payments under such Notes or generally may remain or will not become restricted. If it becomes impossible to convert RMB from/to another freely convertible currency, or transfer RMB between accounts in Hong Kong, or the general RMB exchange market in Hong Kong becomes illiquid, any payment of RMB under the RMB Notes may be delayed or the relevant Issuer may make such payments in another currency selected by the Issuer using an exchange rate determined by the Calculation Agent, or the relevant Issuer may redeem the Notes by making payment in another currency.

#### RMB exchange rate risk

The value of RMB against foreign currencies fluctuates and is affected by changes in the PRC and international political and economic conditions and by many other factors. The relevant Issuer will make all RMB payments under RMB Notes in RMB (subject to the second paragraph under the heading "RMB currency risk" above). As a result, the value of such payments in RMB (in foreign currency terms) may vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value of RMB depreciates against any foreign currencies, the value of an investor's investment in such applicable foreign currency terms will decline. In addition, the PBOC changed the way it calculates the mid-point price of RMB against the US Dollar. This change may increase volatility in the value of RMB against foreign currencies.

#### 2.2.10 Risks relating to RUB Notes

The Notes may be denominated and settled in Roubles. Offerings of debt instruments that are denominated and settled in Roubles are a relatively new phenomenon in the international capital markets. This, coupled with the relative inexperience of Euroclear France, Euroclear and Clearstream (the "Clearing Systems") in dealing with Rouble payments and Rouble accounts, could lead to unforeseen difficulties, which may have an adverse effect on the liquidity, marketability or trading price of such Notes. Due to the lack of experience of the Clearing Systems with settling, clearing and trading debt instruments that are both denominated and settled in Roubles, there can be no guarantee that such clearing, settlement and trading procedures will progress smoothly or in a way which is comparable to procedures carried out with respect to instruments denominated in more conventionally settled currencies, such as U.S. Dollars or euros.

Russian law previously prohibited or otherwise severely restricted the transfer and holding of Roubles offshore and their repatriation onshore. Although these restrictions have now been lifted (save for some restrictions which apply to the regime of residents' accounts held outside of the Russian Federation), there is still no specific tested framework under Russian law for transferring or holding Roubles in offshore Rouble accounts. If restrictions or prohibitions were placed on the transfer and holding of Roubles offshore or if such legislation was reinterpreted by the Russian regulators or courts to the effect that restrictions were still deemed to apply to the transfer and holding of Roubles offshore, this would severely hinder Noteholders' ability to receive payments into their offshore Rouble accounts of principal or interest under the relevant Notes or proceeds from the sale of such Notes.

Payments of principal and interest under the relevant Notes and proceeds from the sale of such Notes will be made in Roubles. All payments of Roubles to, from, or between Rouble accounts located outside the Russian Federation will be made via onshore correspondent accounts within the Russian banking system. The Russian banking system is less developed than many of its Western counterparts and is relatively inexperienced in dealing with payments relating to Eurobonds or similar international debt instruments. Consequently there is a risk that payments of both principal and interest under the relevant Notes and proceeds from the sale of such Notes, which need to pass through the Russian banking system, will be subject to delays and disruptions which may not exist in more mature banking markets. In order for Noteholders to remove Roubles received from payments of principal and interest on the relevant Notes and

proceeds from the sale of such Notes from the Clearing Systems, they will need to hold a bank account denominated in Roubles. Noteholders may also encounter procedural difficulties with opening Rouble accounts onshore in the Russian Federation or outside the Russian Federation. There can therefore be no guarantee that Noteholders will be able to readily open up a Rouble bank account either offshore or in the Russian Federation or transfer Rouble payments made under the relevant Notes out of the Clearing Systems.

## 2.3 Risks related to the market

## 2.3.1 No active secondary/trading market for the Notes

Notes issued under the Programme will be new securities which may not be widely distributed and for which there may be no active trading market (unless in the case of any particular Tranche, such Tranche is to be consolidated with and form a single Series with a Tranche of Notes which is already issued). If the Notes are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount to their initial offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, general economic conditions and the financial condition of the relevant Issuer. Although in relation to Notes to be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or any other EEA Regulated Market, the Final Terms of the Notes will be filed with the Commission de surveillance du secteur financier in Luxembourg and/or with the competent authority of the EEA Regulated Market where the Notes will be listed and admitted to trading, there is no assurance that such filings will be accepted, that any particular Tranche of Notes will be so listed and admitted or that an active trading market will develop. Accordingly, there is no assurance as to the development or liquidity of any trading market for any particular Tranche of Notes.

#### 2.3.2 Potential conflicts of interest

All or some of the Dealers and their affiliates have and/or may in the future engage, in the ordinary course of business, in lending, in investment banking, commercial banking and/or other financial advisory and commercial dealings with the Issuers and their affiliates and in relation to securities issued by any entity of the Air Liquide Group. They have or may, in the ordinary course of their business, (i) engage in investment banking, trading or hedging activities including activities that may include prime brokerage business, financing transactions or entry into derivative transactions, (ii) act as underwriters in connection with offering of shares or other securities issued by any entity of the Air Liquide Group or (iii) act as financial advisers to the Issuers or other companies of the Air Liquide Group. In the context of these transactions, certain of such Dealers have or may hold shares or other securities issued by entities of the Air Liquide Group. Where applicable, they have or will receive customary fees and commissions for these transactions.

Each of the Issuers and the Dealer(s) may from time to time be engaged in transactions involving an index or related derivatives which may affect the market price, liquidity or value of the Notes and which could be deemed to be adverse to the interests of the Noteholders.

Potential conflicts of interest may arise between the calculation agent, if any, for a Tranche of Notes and the Noteholders (including where a Dealer acts as a calculation agent), including with respect to certain discretionary determinations and judgements that such calculation agent may make pursuant to the Terms and Conditions that may influence the amount receivable upon redemption of the Notes. If the Issuer appoints a Dealer as calculation agent in respect of an issuance of Notes under the Programme, the calculation agent is likely to be a member of an international financial group that is involved, in the ordinary course of its business, in a wide range of banking activities out of which conflicting interests may arise. Whilst such a calculation agent will, where relevant, have information barriers and procedures in place to manage conflicts of interest, it may in its other banking activities from time to time be engaged in transactions involving an index or related derivatives which may affect amounts receivable by Noteholders during the term and on the maturity of the Notes or the market price, liquidity or value of the Notes and which could be deemed to be adverse to the interests of the Noteholders.

For the purpose of this paragraph, the term "affiliates" include also parent companies.

## 2.3.3 Exchange rates

Prospective investors of the Notes should be aware that an investment in the Notes may involve exchange rate risks. The Notes may be denominated in a currency other than the currency of the purchaser's home jurisdiction, and/or the Notes may be denominated in a currency other than the currency in which a purchaser wishes to receive funds. Exchange rates between currencies are determined by factors of supply and demand in the international currency markets which are influenced by macro economic factors, speculation and central bank and government intervention (including the imposition of currency controls and restrictions). Fluctuations in exchange rates may affect the value of the Notes.

# 2.3.4 Market value of the Notes

The market value of the Notes will be affected by the creditworthiness of the relevant Issuer and a number of additional factors, including, but not limited to, the volatility of the market interest and yield rates and the time remaining to the maturity date.

The value of the Notes depends on a number of interrelated factors, including economic, financial and political events in France or elsewhere, including factors affecting capital markets generally and the stock exchanges on which the Notes are traded. The price at which a Noteholder will be able to sell the Notes prior to maturity may be at a discount, which could be substantial, from the issue price or the purchase price paid by such Noteholder.

## GENERAL DESCRIPTION ON THE PROGRAMME

The following overview is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus. Words and expressions beginning with a capitalised letter used but not otherwise defined in this section shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus or elsewhere in this document.

Issuers: L'Air Liquide, société anonyme pour l'Etude et l'Exploitation

des Procédés Georges Claude ("L'Air Liquide")

Air Liquide Finance

**Guarantor:** L'Air Liquide in respect of Notes issued by Air Liquide Finance.

**Description:** Euro Medium Term Note Programme for the continuous offer of

Notes (the "Programme").

Arranger: BNP PARIBAS

**Dealers:** Banca IMI S.p.A.

Barclays Bank PLC

**BNP PARIBAS** 

Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft

Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank

Crédit Industriel et Commercial S.A.

**HSBC** France

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Europe) S.A., acting

through its Paris branch

J.P. Morgan Securities plc

Merrill Lynch International

Mizuho International plc

MUFG Securities EMEA plc

Natixis

SMBC Nikko Capital Markets Limited

Société Générale

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (trading as NatWest Markets)

The Issuers may from time to time terminate the appointment of any dealer under the Programme or appoint additional dealers either in respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the whole Programme. References in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus to "Permanent Dealers" are to the persons listed above as Permanent Dealers and to such additional persons that are appointed as dealers in respect of the whole Programme (and whose appointment has not been terminated) and references to "Dealers" are to all Permanent Dealers and all persons appointed as a dealer in respect of one or more Tranches. The identity of the Dealer(s) in respect of a specific Tranche will be disclosed in the relevant Final Terms.

At the date of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, only credit institutions and investment firms incorporated in a member state of the European Union ("EU") and which are authorised by the relevant authority of such member state to lead-manage bond issues in such member state may, in the case of Notes to be listed on a Regulated Market, act (a) as Dealers with respect to non-syndicated issues of Notes denominated in euro and (b) as lead

manager of issues of Notes denominated in euro issued on a syndicated basis.

Up to €12,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies as at the date of issue of the Notes) aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding at any one time.

The maximum aggregate principal amount of Notes which may be outstanding under the Programme may be increased from time to time, subject to compliance with the relevant provisions of the Amended and Restated Dealer Agreement.

BNP Paribas Securities Services (affiliated with Euroclear France under number 29106).

The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The Notes will be issued in series (each a "Series") having one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in tranches (each a "Tranche") on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche will be set out in a final terms to this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (the "Final Terms").

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, any maturity from one month from the date of original issue, as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, Notes may be issued in Euro, US Dollars, Japanese yen, Swiss francs, Sterling, Renminbi and in any other currency agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and the relevant Dealers and specified in the Final Terms.

The Notes will be issued in such denomination(s) as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealers save that the minimum denomination of each Note listed and admitted to trading on a Regulated Market in a Member State of the EEA in circumstances which require the publication of a Prospectus under the Prospectus Directive (given that any exemption regime, as set out in the Prospectus Directive, could apply in contemplation of the relevant issue) will be at least €100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such currency at the issue date) or such other higher amount as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Specified Currency.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year will constitute deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting deposits contained in Section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the "FSMA") unless they are issued to a limited class of professional investors and have a denomination of at least £100,000 or its equivalent.

Dematerialised Notes will be issued in one denomination only.

The principal and interest on the Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to the provisions of Condition 5) unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer and rank and will at all times rank *pari passu* without preference among themselves and (save for certain obligations required to be preferred by law) at least equally and rateably with all other present or future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness and monetary obligations of the relevant Issuer, from time to time outstanding.

**Programme Limit:** 

**Fiscal Agent and Paying Agent:** 

Method of Issue:

**Maturities:** 

**Currencies:** 

**Denomination(s):** 

**Status of the Notes:** 

**Guarantee:** 

The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due payment of all sums expressed to be due and payable by Air Liquide Finance under the Notes and Coupons issued by it and in accordance with their terms and conditions. The obligations of the Guarantor in this respect arise pursuant to a guarantee (the "Guarantee") executed by the Guarantor and dated 3 June 2016.

**Status of the Guarantee:** 

The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to the provisions of Condition 5) unsecured obligations of the Guarantor and shall at all times rank (save for certain obligations required to be preferred by law) equally and rateably with all other present or future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness and monetary obligations of the Guarantor.

**Negative Pledge:** 

There will be a negative pledge in respect of the Notes and the Guarantee as set out in Condition 5. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Negative Pledge".

Events of Default (including cross-default):

There will be events of default and a cross-default in respect of the Notes as set out in Condition 10. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Events of Default".

**Redemption:** 

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Note shall be finally redeemed on the Maturity Date at its nominal amount. Unless permitted by laws and regulations in force at the relevant time, Notes (including Notes denominated in sterling) having a maturity of less than one year from the date of issue and in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention of Section 19 of the FSMA must have a minimum redemption amount of £100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).

**Optional Redemption:** 

The Issuers may have the option to redeem the Notes, (i) in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, prior to their Maturity Date and (ii) in whole but not in part, at any time as from the call option date, which shall be set out in the relevant Final Terms (as further set out in Condition 7).

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity at the option of the relevant Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or the Noteholders and, if so, the terms applicable to such redemption.

If a Change of Control Put Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms, following the occurrence of a Change of Control, the Noteholders will be entitled to request the relevant Issuer to redeem or, at the Issuer's option, procure the purchase of its Notes, as more fully set out in Condition 7. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Redemption, Purchase and Options".

**Early Redemption:** 

Except as provided in "Optional Redemption" above, Notes will be redeemable at the option of the relevant Issuer prior to maturity only for tax reasons as set out in Condition 7. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Redemption, Purchase and Options".

**Taxation in respect of the Notes:** 

All payments of principal, interest and other revenues by or on behalf of the Issuers in respect of the Notes shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within France or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law.

See section headed "Taxation" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

**Interest Periods and Interest Rates:** 

The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable interest rate or its method of calculation may differ from time to time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate, or both. The use of interest accrual periods permits the Notes to bear interest at different rates in the same interest period. All such information will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

Fixed interest will be payable in arrears on the date or dates in each year specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest determined separately for each Series as follows:

- (i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or
- (ii) by reference to LIBOR or EURIBOR (or such other benchmark as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms), in each case as adjusted for any applicable margin. Interest periods will be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount to it and will not bear interest.

Notes issued in the currency of any Member State of the EU which will participate in the single currency of the EMU may be redenominated into Euro, all as more fully provided in Condition 1. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Form, Denomination, Title and Redenomination" below.

Notes of one Series may be consolidated with Notes of another Series as more fully provided in Condition 14. See "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Further Issues and Consolidation".

Notes may be issued in either dematerialised form ("**Dematerialised Notes**") or in materialised form ("**Materialised Notes**"). Dematerialised Notes may, at the option of the relevant Issuer, be issued in bearer dematerialised form (*au porteur*) only or in registered dematerialised form (*au nominatif*) and, in such latter case, at the option of the relevant Noteholder, in either *au nominatif pur* or *au nominatif administré* form. No physical documents of title will be issued in respect of Dematerialised Notes, as more fully provided in Condition 1. See "Notes – Form, Denomination, Title and Redenomination".

Materialised Notes will be in bearer form ("Materialised Bearer Notes") only. A Temporary Global Certificate will be issued initially in respect of each Tranche of Materialised Bearer Notes. Materialised Notes may only be issued outside France.

The Notes (and, where applicable, the Coupons and the Talons) and the Guarantee are governed by, and shall be construed in

**Fixed Rate Notes:** 

**Floating Rate Notes:** 

**Zero Coupon Notes:** 

**Redenomination:** 

**Consolidation:** 

Form of Notes:

**Governing Law and Jurisdiction:** 

accordance with French law.

Any claim against the relevant Issuer in connection with any Notes, Coupons or Talons or the Guarantee may be brought

before any competent court located in Paris.

Euroclear France in relation to Dematerialised Notes. **Central Depositary:** 

**Clearing Systems:** Clearstream, Euroclear or any other clearing system (provided proper clearing and settlement procedures have previously been

put in place) that may be agreed between the Issuers, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealer in relation to Materialised Notes.

**Initial Delivery of Dematerialised Notes:** One Paris business day before the issue date of each Tranche of

Dematerialised Notes, the Lettre Comptable relating to such Tranche shall be deposited with Euroclear France as central

depositary.

On or before the issue date for each Tranche of Materialised **Initial Delivery of Materialised Notes:** 

> Bearer Notes, the Temporary Global Certificate issued in respect of such Tranche shall be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream or with any other clearing system or may be delivered outside any clearing system provided that the method of such delivery has been agreed in advance by the

relevant Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Dealer.

Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or premium to their nominal amount. The Issue Price of the Notes

will be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

The Luxembourg Stock Exchange or as otherwise specified in the Admission to Trading and Listing:

relevant Final Terms. A Series of Notes may or may not be listed

and admitted to trading. Method of Publication of the Debt

Issuance Programme Prospectus, the Final Terms and the Guarantee:

This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus (together with any supplements to this document published from time to time) and the Final Terms related to Notes admitted to trading will be published on the website of the Issuers and, for so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu), as the case may be, and copies of any such documents together with the Guarantee may be obtained from the Fiscal Agent or through any other means in accordance with the terms of Article 14 of the Prospectus Directive.

The Programme has been rated A- by S&P Global Ratings, and A3 by Moody's Investors Service.

L'Air Liquide's long-term rating is A- by S&P Global Ratings and A3 by Moody's Investors Service and its short-term rating is A2 by S&P Global Ratings and P-2 by Moody's Investors Service.

Each of S&P Global Ratings and Moody's Investors Service is established in the European Union and is registered under Regulation (EC) No.1060/2009 on credit ratings agencies, as amended (the "CRA Regulation") and included in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation published on the European Securities and Markets Authority's website (www.esma.europa.eu/supervision/creditrating-agencies/risk).

Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the ratings assigned to the Programme and its rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to other Notes issued under the Programme.

The relevant Final Terms will specify whether or not credit

**Rating:** 

**Issue Price:** 

ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation.

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

There are restrictions on the sale of Notes and the distribution of offering material in various jurisdictions. See "Subscription and Sale".

The Notes to be issued by each Issuer qualify under Category 2 for the purposes of Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Materialised Notes will be issued in compliance with US Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the "**D Rules**") unless the relevant Final Terms states that such Materialised Notes are issued in compliance with US Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the "**C Rules**"), or (ii) such Materialised Notes are issued other than in compliance with the D Rules or the C Rules but in circumstances in which the Notes will not constitute "registration required obligations" under the United States Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 ("**TEFRA**"), which circumstance will be referred to in the relevant Final Terms as a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable.

The TEFRA rules do not apply to any Dematerialised Notes.

The risk factors relating to the Issuers, the Guarantor and the Notes are described in the section headed "Risk Factors" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

**Selling Restrictions:** 

**Risk Factors:** 

# INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus shall be read and construed in conjunction with the following information, which is incorporated by reference in, and forms part of, this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus:

- (1) the sections referred to in the cross-reference tables below of the English version of the 2016 reference document (the "2016 Reference Document"). This document includes the audited annual consolidated financial statements and related audit report for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 of L'Air Liquide;
- (2) the sections referred to in the cross-reference tables below of the English version of the 2015 reference document (the "2015 Reference Document"). This document includes the audited annual consolidated financial statements and related audit report for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 of L'Air Liquide;
- (3) the English version of the first quarter 2017 revenue report of L'Air Liquide as released in a press release published on 26 April 2017 (the "First Quarter 2017 Revenue Report");
- (4) the English language annual statutory accounts of Air Liquide Finance as of and for the year ended 31 December 2016;
- (5) the English language annual statutory accounts of Air Liquide Finance as of and for the year ended 31 December 2015;
- (6) the terms and conditions of the notes set out in pages 32 to 52 of the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 19 July 2007 (the "2007 EMTN Conditions");
- (7) the terms and conditions of the notes set out in pages 32 to 52 of the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 3 July 2009, as amended by the fourth supplement dated 16 March 2010 to the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 3 July 2009 (the "2009 EMTN Conditions");
- (8) the terms and conditions of the notes set out in pages 33 to 60 of the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 24 June 2011 (the "2011 EMTN Conditions");
- (9) the terms and conditions of the notes set out in pages 34 to 64 of the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 19 June 2012, as amended by the first supplement dated 12 September 2012 to the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 19 June 2012 (the "2012 EMTN Conditions");
- (10) the terms and conditions of the notes set out in pages 29 to 58 of the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 6 June 2013 (the "2013 EMTN Conditions");
- (11) the terms and conditions of the notes set out in pages 28 to 56 of the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 23 May 2014 (the "2014 EMTN Conditions");
- (12) the terms and conditions of the notes set out in pages 29 to 59 of the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 20 May 2015 (the "2015 EMTN Conditions"); and
- (13) the terms and conditions of the notes set out in pages 32 to 62 of the debt issuance programme prospectus dated 3 June 2016 (the "2016 EMTN Conditions" and together with the 2007, 2009, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, and 2015 EMTN Conditions, the "Previous EMTN Conditions").

For the avoidance of doubt, it is specified that the information contained in the above-mentioned documents that is not referred to in the cross-reference tables below is not incorporated by reference in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus because it is either not relevant for investors or it is covered elsewhere in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus. It is not required by the relevant schedules of the Commission Regulation No. 809/2004, as amended.

L'Air Liquide takes responsibility for the English versions of the 2015 Reference Document, 2016 Reference Document and the First Quarter 2017 Revenue Report of L'Air Liquide and Air Liquide Finance takes responsibility for the English versions of its annual statutory accounts as of and for the year ended 31 December 2015 and of its annual statutory accounts as of and for the year ended 31 December 2016, in each case subject to the Responsibility Statement on page 84 of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus. In the event of any inconsistencies between a statement in the English version of the documents above and the corresponding statement in the French version, the corresponding statement in the French version will prevail. For the avoidance of doubt, the French versions of the English language documents incorporated by reference above are not incorporated by reference in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

L'Air Liquide		2016 Reference Document	2015 Reference Document
Risk Factors	Prominent disclosure of risk factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligation under the securities to investors	Pages 28 to 33, 145 to 152 and 293 to 302	-
Financial information concerning the Issuer's assets and liabilities, financial position and profits and losses	Audited historical financial information for the latest two financial years	Pages 237 to 309	Pages 201 to 270
	Consolidated Income statement	Page 237	Page 201
	Statement of net income and gains and losses recognised directly in equity	Page 238	Page 202
	Consolidated Balance Sheet	Page 239	Page 203
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	Pages 240 and 241	Pages 204 and 205
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	Pages 242 and 243	Pages 206 and 207
	Accounting principles	Pages 244 to 254	Pages 208 to 220
	Explanatory notes: segment information, income statement, balance sheet, others	Pages 254 to 306	Pages 221 to 267
	Organisational structure	Pages 307 to 309	Pages 268 to 270
	Audit report for the latest financial year	Pages 311 and 312	Pages 272 and 273
Trend Information		Page 64	
Administrative, Management, and Supervisory Bodies	Board of Directors	Pages 126, 127 and 220 to 232	-
	Executive Committee	Page 128	-
<b>Board Practices</b>	Corporate Governance	Pages 129, 145 and 376	-
	Audit and Accounts Committee, Appointment and Governance Committee and Remuneration Committee	Pages 138 to 144	-
<b>Business Overview</b>	Principal activities	Pages 15 to 26	-
	Principal markets (including the competitive position of L'Air Liquide)	Pages 2,3, 15 to 27, 34 to 44, 63 to 64, 260 to 263	-
	Performance and highlights of the year	Pages 13 to 14, 34 to 46	-
Financing Strategy		Pages 51 to 53	-
Investments		Pages 45 to 51, 240, 260, 304	-
Legal and arbitration		Pages 31 to 32, 281,	-

L'Air Liquide		2016 Reference Document	2015 Reference Document
proceedings		305	
<b>Material Contracts</b>		Pages 304 and 305	-
Major Shareholders		Pages 364 to 366	-
Annual Shareholders' Meetings	Resolutions proposed for approval at the Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders' Meetings	Pages 343 to 353	-
New Products		Pages 54 to 62	=

L'Air Liquide		First Quarter 2017 Revenue Report
Unaudited financial information concerning the Issuer's revenue	Unaudited Consolidated Revenue	Pages 1 to 5
	Investment Cycle	Page 8
	Operating Performance	Page 9
	Outlook	Page 9
	Significant scope, currency and energy impact	Pages 10 to 11

Air Liquide Finance		Statutory Accounts 2016	Statutory Accounts 2015
Financial information concerning the Issuer's assets and liabilities, financial position and profits and losses	Audited historical financial information for the latest two financial years	Pages 1 to 14	Pages 1 to 15
	Balance Sheet	Pages 2 and 3	Pages 2 and 3
	Income statement	Page 4	Page 4
	Accounting policies	Pages 6 and 7	Pages 6 and 7
	Explanatory notes	Pages 8 to 14	Pages 8 to 15
Audit report for the latest financial year		Pages 15 and 16	Pages 16 and 18

Any statement contained in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, including through incorporation by reference shall be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus to the extent that it is modified or incorporated by way of a supplement prepared in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.

This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus and copies of the documents incorporated by reference herein may be obtained as described in paragraph 6 of the section headed "General Information" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

# SUPPLEMENT TO THE DEBT ISSUANCE PROGRAMME PROSPECTUS

If at any time L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance shall be required to prepare a supplement to the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus pursuant to the provisions of the Prospectus Act 2005 in Luxembourg implementing Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, because of the occurrence or disclosure at any time during the duration of the Programme of a significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to the information included in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, L'Air Liquide and/or Air Liquide Finance undertake, *inter alia*, to the Dealers, and to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange to prepare and make available an appropriate supplement to this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus or a restated Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, which in respect of any subsequent issue of Notes to be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or on a Regulated Market, shall constitute a supplement to the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus for the purpose of the relevant provisions of the Prospectus Act 2005.

L'Air Liquide and Air Liquide Finance shall submit such supplement or updated Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus to the *Commission de surveillance du secteur financier* in Luxembourg for approval and supply each Dealer and the Luxembourg Stock Exchange with such number of copies of such supplement as may reasonably be requested.

# TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to completion in accordance with the provisions of the relevant Final Terms, shall be applicable to the Notes. In the case of Dematerialised Notes, the text of the terms and conditions will not be endorsed on physical documents of title but will be constituted by the following text as completed by the relevant Final Terms. In the case of Materialised Notes, either (i) the full text of these terms and conditions together with the relevant provisions of the Final Terms or (ii) these terms and conditions as so completed (and subject to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable provisions), shall be endorsed on Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes. All capitalised terms that are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in the relevant Final Terms. References in the Conditions to "Notes" are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

The Notes are issued by Air Liquide Finance ("Air Liquide Finance" or an "Issuer") and L'Air Liquide S.A. ("L'Air Liquide", in its capacity as guarantor of Notes issued by Air Liquide Finance, the "Guarantor" or, in its capacity as issuer, an "Issuer") (together with Air Liquide Finance, the "Issuers") with the benefit of an amended and restated agency agreement dated 9 June 2017 (the "Amended and Restated Agency Agreement") between the Issuers, the Guarantor, BNP Paribas Securities Services as fiscal agent and the other agents named in it, and with respect to Notes issued by Air Liquide Finance with the benefit of a guarantee dated 3 June 2016 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Guarantee" executed by the Guarantor). The fiscal agent, the paying agents, the redenomination agent, the consolidation agent and the calculation agent(s) for the time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the "Fiscal Agent", the "Paying Agents" (which expression shall include the Fiscal Agent), the "Redenomination Agent", the "Consolidation Agent" and the "Calculation Agent(s)".

For the purpose of these Terms and Conditions, "Regulated Market" means any regulated market situated in a Member State of the European Economic Area ("EEA") as defined in the Directive 2004/39/EC on Markets in Financial Instruments dated 21 April 2004, as amended, and appearing on the list of regulated markets issued by the European Securities and Markets Authority, and "holder of Notes", "holder of any Note" or "Noteholder" means (i) in the case of Dematerialised Notes, the person whose name appears in the account of the relevant Euroclear France Account Holder or the relevant Issuer or the Registration Agent (as the case may be) as being entitled to such Notes and (ii) in the case of Materialised Notes, the bearer of any Definitive Materialised Bearer Note and the Coupons, or Talon relating to it.

References below to "Conditions" are, unless the context requires otherwise, to the numbered paragraphs below.

Copies of the Amended and Restated Agency Agreement and the Guarantee are available, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays expected), for inspection, at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent. A copy of the Guarantee is also available, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays expected), for inspection at the registered office of L'Air Liquide (75, quai d'Orsay – 75007 Paris – France).

# 1 FORM, DENOMINATION(S), TITLE AND REDENOMINATION

# (a) Form

Notes may be issued either in dematerialised form ("Dematerialised Notes") or in materialised form ("Materialised Notes"), as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

(i) Title to Dematerialised Notes will be evidenced in accordance with Articles L.211-3 and R.211-1 of the French *Code monétaire et financier* (the "Code") by book entries (*inscriptions en compte*). No physical document of title (including *certificats représentatifs* pursuant to Article R.211-7 of the Code) will be issued in respect of Dematerialised Notes.

Dematerialised Notes are issued, at the option of the relevant Issuer and as specified in the relevant Final Terms (the "Final Terms"), in either (a) bearer dematerialised form (au porteur), in which case they will be inscribed in the books of Euroclear France S.A. (acting as central depositary) ("Euroclear France") which shall credit the accounts of Euroclear France Account Holders, or in (b) registered dematerialised form (au nominatif) and, in such latter case, at the option of the relevant Noteholder in either administered registered form (au nominatif administré) inscribed in the books of the Euroclear France Account Holder designated by the relevant Noteholder or in fully registered form (au nominatif pur) inscribed in an account in the books of Euroclear France maintained by the Issuer or the Registration Agent (designated in the relevant Final Terms) acting on behalf of the Issuer (the "Registration Agent").

Pursuant to article L.228-2 of the French *Code de commerce*, the Issuer may require the identification of the Noteholders in accordance with French law unless such right is expressly excluded in the relevant Final Terms.

For the purpose of these Conditions, "Euroclear France Account Holder" means any intermediary institution entitled directly or indirectly to hold accounts on behalf of its customers with Euroclear France, and includes the depositary bank for Clearstream Banking, S.A. ("Clearstream") and Euroclear Bank S.A. / N.V. ("Euroclear").

(ii) Materialised Notes are issued in bearer form ("Materialised Bearer Notes"). Materialised Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with interest coupons (the "Coupons") (and, where appropriate, a talon ("Talon")) attached, save in the case of Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to interest (other than in relation to interest due after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable.

In accordance with Articles L.211-3 and R.211-1 of the Code, securities (such as Notes) which are governed by French law and are in materialised form must be issued outside the French territory.

## (b) **Denomination**(s)

Notes shall be issued in the specified denomination(s) as set out in the relevant Final Terms (the "**Specified Denomination(s)**") save that the minimum denomination of each Note listed and admitted to trading on a Regulated Market in circumstances which require the publication of a Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus under the Prospectus Directive will be at least €100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such currency at the issue date) or such other higher amount as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Specified Currency.

Dematerialised Notes shall be issued in one Specified Denomination only.

#### (c) Title

- (i) Title to Dematerialised Notes in bearer dematerialised form (*au porteur*) and in administered registered form (*au nominatif administré*) shall pass upon, and transfer of such Notes may only be effected through, registration of the transfer in the accounts of Euroclear France Account Holders. Title to Dematerialised Notes in fully registered form (*au nominatif pur*) shall pass upon, and transfer of such Notes may only be effected through, registration of the transfer in the accounts of the Issuer or of the Registration Agent.
- (ii) Title to Materialised Bearer Notes in definitive form having, where appropriate, Coupons and/or a Talon attached thereto on issue ("**Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes**"), shall pass by delivery.
- (iii) Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes, whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, or an interest in it, any writing on it or its theft or loss and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.

#### (d) Redenomination

If Condition 1(d) is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable, the relevant Issuer may, without the consent of any of the holders of any Note, Coupon or Talon, by giving at least 30 calendar days' notice in accordance with Condition 15, redenominate on any Interest Payment Date all, but not some only, of the Notes of any Series into Euro and adjust the aggregate principal amount and the Specified Denomination(s) on or after the date on which the Member State of the European Union in whose national currency such Notes are denominated has become a participant member in the third stage of the European economic and monetary union ("EMU"), as described below. The date on which such redenomination becomes effective shall be referred to in these Conditions as the "Redenomination Date".

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the redenomination of the Notes pursuant to Condition 1(d) shall be made by converting the principal amount of each Note from the relevant national currency into Euro using the fixed relevant national currency Euro conversion rate established by the Council of the European Union pursuant to applicable regulations of the Treaty and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest Euro 0.01 (with Euro 0.005 being rounded upwards). If the Issuer so elects, the figure resulting from conversion of the principal amount of each Note using the fixed relevant national currency Euro conversion rate shall be rounded down to the nearest Euro. The Euro denominations of the Notes so determined shall be notified to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15. Any balance remaining from the redenomination with a denomination higher than Euro 0.01 shall be paid by way of cash adjustment rounded to the nearest Euro 0.01 (with Euro 0.005 being rounded upwards). Such cash adjustment will be payable in Euro on the Redenomination Date in the

manner notified to Noteholders by the Issuer. For the avoidance of doubt, the minimum denomination of each redenominated Note shall not be less than €100,000.

Upon redenomination of the Notes, any reference in the relevant Final Terms to the relevant national currency shall be construed as a reference to Euro.

Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer may, with the prior approval of the Fiscal Agent, in connection with any redenomination pursuant to this Condition or any consolidation pursuant to Condition 14, without the consent of the holder of any Note, Coupon or Talon, make any changes or additions to these Conditions or Condition 14 (including, without limitation, any change to any applicable business day definition, business day convention, principal financial centre of the country of the Specified Currency, interest accrual basis or benchmark), taking into account market practice in respect of redenominated euromarket debt obligations and which it believes are not prejudicial to the interests of such Noteholders. Any such changes or additions shall, in the absence of manifest error, be binding on the holder of Notes, Coupons and Talons and shall be notified to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 as soon as practicable thereafter.

Neither the Issuer nor any Paying Agent shall be liable to the holder of any Note, Coupon or Talon or other person for any commissions, costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting from the credit or transfer of euro or any currency conversion or rounding effected in connection therewith.

# 2 CONVERSION AND EXCHANGES OF NOTES

#### (a) **Dematerialised Notes:**

Dematerialised Notes issued in bearer dematerialised form (*au porteur*) may not be converted into Dematerialised Notes in registered dematerialised form, whether in fully registered form (*au nominatif pur*) or in administered registered form (*au nominatif administré*).

Dematerialised Notes issued in registered dematerialised form (*au nominatif*) may not be converted into Dematerialised Notes in bearer dematerialised form (*au porteur*).

Dematerialised Notes issued in fully registered form (*au nominatif pur*) may, at the option of the Noteholder, be converted into Notes in administered registered form (*au nominatif administré*), and *vice versa*. The exercise of any such option by such Noteholder shall be made in accordance with Article R.211-4 of the Code. Any such conversion shall be effected at the cost of such Noteholder.

## (b) Materialised Notes:

Materialised Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Materialised Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination.

# 3 GUARANTEE

The Guarantor has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due payment of all sums expressed to be due and payable by Air Liquide Finance under the Notes and Coupons issued by it and in accordance with their terms and conditions. The obligations of the Guarantor in this respect arise pursuant to a Guarantee executed by the Guarantor and dated 3 June 2016.

# 4 STATUS

## (a) Status of the Notes:

The principal and interest on the Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to the provisions of Condition 5) unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer and rank and will at all times rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and (save for certain obligations required to be preferred by law) at least equally and rateably with all other present or future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness and monetary obligations of the relevant Issuer, from time to time outstanding.

## (b) Status of the Guarantee:

The obligations of the Guarantor under the Guarantee, if any, constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to the provisions of Condition 5) unsecured obligations of the Guarantor and shall at all times rank (save for certain obligations required to be preferred by law) equally and rateably with all other present or future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness and monetary obligations of the Guarantor.

## 5 NEGATIVE PLEDGE

So long as any of the Notes or, if applicable, any Coupons relating to them, remain outstanding, the relevant Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor, will not create any mortgage, charge, pledge or other security interest (*sûreté réelle*) upon any of their respective assets or revenues, present or future, to secure any Relevant Indebtedness (as defined below) or any guarantee in respect of any Relevant Indebtedness (whether before or after the issue of Notes) unless such Issuer's obligations under the Notes and Coupons are (i) secured equally and rateably with such Relevant Indebtedness or guarantee in respect thereof, or (ii) are given the benefit of such other security, guarantee or arrangement as shall be approved by the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12.

For the purposes of this Condition:

"Relevant Indebtedness" means any indebtedness for borrowed money represented by bonds or notes (obligations) which are for the time being, or are capable of being, quoted, listed or ordinarily dealt in on any stock exchange or any other regulated securities market.

"outstanding" means, in relation to the Notes of any Series, all the Notes issued other than (a) those that have been redeemed in accordance with the Conditions, (b) those in respect of which the date for redemption has occurred and the redemption monies (including all interest accrued on such Notes to the date for such redemption and any interest payable under the Conditions after such date) have been duly paid (i) in the case of Dematerialised Notes in bearer form and in administered registered form, to the relevant Euroclear France Account Holders on behalf of the Noteholder as provided in Condition 8(a), (ii) in the case of Dematerialised Notes in fully registered form, to the account of the Noteholder as provided in Condition 8(a) and (iii) in the case of Materialised Notes, to the Fiscal Agent as provided in the Amended and Restated Agency Agreement and remain available for payment against presentation and surrender of Materialised Bearer Notes and/or Coupons, as the case may be, (c) those which have become void or in respect of which claims have become prescribed, (d) those which have been purchased and cancelled as provided in the Conditions, (e) in the case of Materialised Notes (i) those mutilated or defaced Materialised Bearer Notes that have been surrendered in exchange for replacement Materialised Bearer Notes, (ii) (for the purpose only of determining how many such Materialised Bearer Notes are outstanding and without prejudice to their status for any other purpose) those Materialised Bearer Notes alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed and in respect of which replacement Materialised Notes have been issued and (iii) any Temporary Global Certificate to the extent that it shall have been exchanged for one or more Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes, pursuant to its provisions.

#### 6 INTEREST AND OTHER CALCULATIONS

(a) **Definitions**: In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

# "Business Day" means:

- (i) in the case of euro, a day on which the Trans European Automated Real Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer system (known as TARGET 2) or any successor thereto (the "TARGET System") is operating (a "TARGET Business Day") and/or
- (ii) in the case of a specified currency other than euro or Renminbi, a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre for such currency and/or
- (iii) in relation to any sum payable in Renminbi, a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in Renminbi in Hong Kong and in the relevant Business Centre(s) (if any) and/or
- (iv) in the case of a currency and/or one or more business centres specified in the relevant Final Terms (the "Business Centre(s)"), a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in such currency in the Business Centre(s) or, if no currency is indicated, generally in each of the Business Centres so specified

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) (whether or not constituting an Interest Period, the "Calculation Period"):

if "Actual/365" or "Actual/Actual-ISDA" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365)

- (ii) if "Actual/Actual-ICMA" is specified in the relevant Final Terms:
  - (A) if the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
  - (B) if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:
    - (x) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and
    - (y) the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year

where: "Determination Period" means the period from and including a Determination Date in any year to but excluding the next Determination Date

- (iii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365
- (iv) if "Actual/360" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360
- (v) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months (unless (a) the last day of the Calculation Period is the 31st day of a month but the first day of the Calculation Period is a day other than the 30th or 31st day of a month, in which case the month that includes that last day shall not be considered to be shortened to a 30-day month, or (b) the last day of the Calculation Period is the last day of the month of February, in which case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened to a 30-day month)) and
- (vi) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months, without regard to the date of the first day or last day of the Calculation Period unless, in the case of a Calculation Period ending on the Maturity Date, the Maturity Date is the last day of the month of February, in which case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened to a 30-day month)

"Effective Date" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined on an Interest Determination Date, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is so specified, the first day of the Interest Accrual Period to which such Interest Determination Date relates

"Euro-zone" means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended

"Interest Accrual Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Period Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Period Date

"Interest Amount" means the amount of interest payable, and in the case of Fixed Rate Notes, means the Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount, as the case may be, as specified in the relevant Final Terms

"Interest Commencement Date" means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms

"Interest Determination Date" means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period or the interest amount in relation to RMB Notes, the date specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is so specified, (i) the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is euro or (ii) the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling or (iii) the day falling two Business Days in the city specified in the Final Terms for the Specified Currency prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor euro

"Interest Payment Date" means the date(s) specified in the relevant Final Terms

- "Interest Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date
- "Interest Period Date" means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms
- "ISDA Definitions" means the 2006 ISDA Definitions as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and as amended as the case may be at the issue date of the first Tranche of the relevant Series
- "Page" means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information service (including, but not limited to, Reuters Markets 3000 ("Reuters")) as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms for the purpose of providing a Relevant Rate, or such other page, section, caption, column or other part as may replace it on that information service or on such other information service, in each case as may be nominated by the person or organisation providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to that Relevant Rate
- "Rate of Interest" means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of the Notes and that is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions in the relevant Final Terms
- "Reference Banks" means, in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal London office of four major banks in the London inter-bank market, or, if otherwise, the principal offices of five major banks in the Relevant Inter-Bank Market, in each case selected by the Calculation Agent or as specified in the relevant Final Terms
- "Reference Rate" means the rate specified as such in the relevant Final Terms
- "Relevant Financial Centre" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined in accordance with a Screen Rate Determination on an Interest Determination Date, the financial centre as may be specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is so specified, the financial centre with which the relevant Benchmark is most closely connected (which, in the case of EURIBOR, shall be the Euro-zone) or, if none is so connected, Paris
- "Relevant Inter-Bank Market" means such inter-bank market as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms
- "Relevant Rate" means the Benchmark for a Representative Amount of the Specified Currency for a period (if applicable or appropriate to the Benchmark) equal to the Specified Duration commencing on the Effective Date
- "Relevant Screen Page" means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular information service as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms
- "Relevant Screen Page Time" means such relevant Screen Page Time as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms
- "Relevant Time" means, with respect to any Interest Determination Date, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre specified in the relevant Final Terms or, if no time is specified, the local time in the Relevant Financial Centre at which it is customary to determine bid and offered rates in respect of deposits in the Specified Currency in the interbank market in the Relevant Financial Centre or, if no such customary local time exists, 11.00 hours in the Relevant Financial Centre and for the purpose of this definition "local time" means, with respect to Europe and the Euro-zone as a Relevant Financial Centre, Central European Time
- "Representative Amount" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined in accordance with a Screen Rate Determination on an Interest Determination Date, the amount specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is specified, an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the time
- "RMB Note" means a Note denominated in Renminbi
- "Specified Currency" means the currency specified as such in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated and
- "Specified Duration" means, with respect to any Floating Rate to be determined in accordance with a Screen Rate Determination on an Interest Determination Date, the duration specified in the relevant Final Terms or, if none is specified, a period of time equal to the relative Interest Accrual Period, ignoring any adjustment pursuant to Condition 6(c)(ii).

(b) **Interest on Fixed Rate Notes**: Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the rate *per annum* (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date.

If a Fixed Coupon Amount or a Broken Amount is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount or, if applicable, the Broken Amount so specified and in the case of the Broken Amount will be payable on the particular Interest Payment Date(s) specified in the relevant Final Terms.

## (c) Interest on Floating Rate Notes:

- (i) Interest Payment Dates: Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear (except as otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms) on each Interest Payment Date. Such Interest Payment Date(s) is/are either shown in the relevant Final Terms as Specified Interest Payment Dates or, if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are shown in the relevant Final Terms, Interest Payment Date shall mean each date which falls the number of months or other period shown in the relevant Final Terms as the Specified Period after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.
- Business Day Convention: If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be (ii) subject to adjustment in accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is (A) the Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (B) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day. Notwithstanding the foregoing, where the relevant Final Terms specify that the relevant Business Day Convention is to be applied on an "unadjusted" basis, the Interest Amount payable on any date shall not be affected by the application of the relevant Business Day Convention.
- (iii) Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes: The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined in the manner specified in the relevant Final Terms and the provisions below relating to either ISDA Determination or Screen Rate Determination shall apply, depending upon which is specified in the relevant Final Terms.
  - (A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes:

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period shall be determined by the Calculation Agent as a rate equal to the relevant ISDA Rate. For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "ISDA Rate" for an Interest Accrual Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under a Swap Transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

- (a) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the relevant Final Terms;
- (b) the designated Maturity is a period specified in the relevant Final Terms; and
- (c) the relevant Reset Date is the first day of that Interest Accrual Period unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "designated Maturity", "Reset Date" and "Swap Transaction" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

(B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes:

- (a) Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner according to which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will, subject as provided below, be either:
  - (i) the offered quotation or
  - (ii) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate *per annum*) for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at either (i) 11.00 a.m. (London time in the case of LIBOR or Brussels time in the case of EURIBOR) or (ii) if otherwise, the Relevant Screen Page Time on the Interest Determination Date in question as determined by the Calculation Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being other than LIBOR or EURIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be determined as provided in the relevant Final Terms.

- (b) if the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if sub-paragraph (a)(i) applies and no such offered quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page or if sub-paragraph (a)(ii) applies and fewer than three such offered quotations appear on the Relevant Screen Page, subject as provided below, the Calculation Agent shall request, (i) if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the principal London office of each of the Reference Banks or, (ii) if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of each of the Reference Banks or, (iii) if otherwise, each of the Reference Banks to provide the Calculation Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate *per annum*) for the Reference Rate if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time), if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if otherwise, at the Relevant Screen Page Time on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean of such offered quotations as determined by the Calculation Agent; and
- if paragraph (b) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that fewer than two Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject as provided below, the Rate of Interest shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates per annum (expressed as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the request of) the Calculation Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time), if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if otherwise, at the Relevant Screen Page Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market or, if otherwise, the Relevant Inter-Bank Market, as the case may be, or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate, at which, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time), if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) or, if otherwise, at the Relevant Screen Page Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro zone inter-bank market or, if otherwise, the Relevant Inter-Bank Market, as the case may be, provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be

determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin, Rate Multiplier or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual Period from that applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period).

- (d) **Zero Coupon Notes**: Where a Note the Interest Basis of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to the Maturity Date is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date shall be the Early Redemption Amount of such Note. As from the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest for any overdue principal of such a Note shall be a rate *per annum* (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (as described in Condition 7(g)(i)).
- (e) **Accrual of Interest:** Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless (i) in the case of Dematerialised Notes, on such due date or (ii) in the case of Materialised Notes, upon due presentation, payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to accrue (as well after as before judgement) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this Condition 6 to the Relevant Date.

# (f) Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest and Redemption Amounts, Rate Multipliers and Rounding:

- (i) If any Margin or Rate Multiplier is specified in the relevant Final Terms (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Interest Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the case of (x), or the Rates of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case of (y), calculated in accordance with (c) above by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting the absolute value (if a negative number) of such Margin or multiplying by such Rate Multiplier, subject always to the next paragraph.
- (ii) If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount is specified in the relevant Final Terms, then any Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as the case may be.
- (iii) For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions, (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with halves being rounded up), (y) all figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures (with halves being rounded up) and (z) all currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with halves being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest yen. For these purposes "unit" means the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country(ies) of such currency.
- (g) Calculations: The amount of interest payable in respect of any Note for any period shall be calculated by multiplying the product of the Rate of Interest and the outstanding nominal amount of such Note by the Day Count Fraction, unless an Interest Amount is specified in respect of such period in the Final Terms, in which case the amount of interest payable in respect of such Note for such period shall equal such Interest Amount. Where any Interest Period comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the amounts of interest payable in respect of each of those Interest Accrual Periods.
- Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts, Final Redemption (h) Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts and Early Redemption Amounts: As soon as practicable after the relevant time on such date as the Calculation Agent may be required to calculate any rate or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination or calculation, it shall determine such rate and calculate the Interest Amounts in respect of each Specified Denomination of the Notes for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, calculate the Final Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount, obtain such quotation or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date and, if required to be calculated, the Final Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount or Early Redemption Amount to be notified to the Fiscal Agent, the relevant Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of the Notes that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Notes are listed and admitted to trading on a Regulated Market and the rules of such Regulated Market so require, such exchange as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to such

time, in the case of notification to such exchange of a Rate of Interest and Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the fourth Business Day after such determination. Where any Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition 6(c)(ii), the Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 10, the accrued interest and the Rate of Interest payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously in accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Rate of Interest or the Interest Amount so calculated need be made. The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent(s) shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

- (i) Reference Banks and Calculation Agent: The relevant Issuer shall procure that there shall at all times be four Reference Banks (or such other number as may be required) with offices in the Relevant Financial Centre and one or more Calculation Agents if provision is made for them in the relevant Final Terms and for so long as any Note is outstanding (as defined in the Amended and Restated Agency Agreement). If any Reference Bank (acting through its relevant office) is unable or unwilling to continue to act as a Reference Bank, then the relevant Issuer shall appoint another Reference Bank with an office in the Relevant Financial Centre to act as such in its place. Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in these Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its respective duties under the Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Period or Interest Accrual Period or to calculate any Interest Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be, or to comply with any other requirement, the relevant Issuer shall appoint a leading bank or investment banking firm engaged in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money, swap or over-the-counter index options market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or determination to be made by the Calculation Agent (acting through its principal Luxembourg office or any other office actively involved in such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.
- (j) **RMB Notes**: Notwithstanding the foregoing, each RMB Note which is a Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate *per annum* equal to the Rate of Interest. For the purposes of calculating the amount of interest, if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, it shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month in which case it shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day. Interest will be payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date.

The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the Relevant Time as specified in the relevant Final Terms on each Interest Determination Date, calculate the amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination for the relevant Interest Period. The determination of the amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error and after confirmation by the Issuer) be final and binding upon all parties.

The Calculation Agent will cause the amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to each of the Paying Agents and to be notified to Noteholders as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than the fourth Business Day thereafter. The amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination and Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an adjustment of the Interest Period, if the Interest Payment Date is not a Business Day. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 10, the accrued interest per Specified Denomination shall nevertheless continue to be calculated as previously by the Calculation Agent in accordance with this provision but no publication of the amount of interest payable per Specified Denomination so calculated need be made.

Interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest to the Specified Denomination, multiplying such product by the actual number of days in the relevant Interest Period or, as applicable, other period concerned and dividing it by 365, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest Renminbi sub-unit, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.

# 7 REDEMPTION, PURCHASE AND OPTIONS

- (a) **Final Redemption**: Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided below in accordance with this Condition 7, each Note shall be finally redeemed on the Maturity Date specified in the relevant Final Terms at its Final Redemption Amount (which is its nominal amount).
- (b) Make-Whole Redemption by the Issuer: If a Make-Whole Redemption by the relevant Issuer is specified in the relevant Final Terms in respect of any issue of Notes, the relevant Issuer will, subject to compliance by the relevant Issuer with all relevant laws, regulations and directives and on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 calendar days' irrevocable notice in accordance with Condition 15 to the Noteholders (or such other notice period as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms), have the option to redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, prior to their Maturity Date (the "Optional Redemption Date") at their Optional Redemption Amount. The Optional Redemption Amount will be calculated by the Calculation Agent and will be the greater of (x) 100 per cent. of the nominal amount of the Notes so redeemed and, (y) the sum of the then present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on such Notes (not including any interest accrued on the Notes to, but excluding, the relevant Optional Redemption Date) discounted to the relevant Optional Redemption Date on an annual basis at the Redemption Rate plus a Redemption Margin (as specified in the relevant Final Terms), plus in each case (x) or (y) above, any interest accrued on the Notes to, but excluding, the Optional Redemption Date.

"Redemption Rate" is the average of the four quotations given by the Reference Dealers of the midmarket annual yield to maturity of the Reference Security (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) on the fourth business day preceding the Optional Redemption Date at 11.00 a.m. (Central European time (CET)).

"Reference Dealers" means each of the four banks selected by the Calculation Agent which are primary European government security dealers, and their respective successors, or market makers in pricing corporate bond issues or as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

If the Reference Security is no longer outstanding, a Similar Security (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) will be chosen by the Calculation Agent at 11.00 a.m. (Central European time (CET)) on the third business day in London preceding the Optional Redemption Date, quoted in writing by the Calculation Agent to the relevant Issuer and notified in accordance with Condition 15.

The Optional Redemption Date, the Optional Redemption Amount and the Redemption Rate will be notified by the relevant Issuer in accordance with Condition 15.

The determination of any rate or amount, the obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

Any notice given by the relevant Issuer pursuant to this Condition 7(b) shall be deemed void and of no effect in relation to any Note in the event that, prior to the giving of such notice by the Issuer, the relevant Noteholder had already delivered an Exercise Notice or a Change of Control Put Option Notice in relation to such Note in accordance with Condition 7(f) below.

(c) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer and Exercise of Issuer's Options: If a Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Issuer may, on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 calendar days' irrevocable notice in accordance with Condition 15 to the Noteholders (or such other notice period as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) redeem, or exercise any Issuer's option (as may be described) in relation to, all or, if so provided, some, of the Notes on any Optional Redemption Date or Option Exercise Date, as the case may be. Any such redemption of Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption, if any. Any such redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a nominal amount at least equal to the minimum nominal amount to be redeemed specified in the relevant Final Terms and no greater than the maximum nominal amount to be redeemed specified in the relevant Final Terms.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed, or the Issuer's option shall be exercised, on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

(d) **Residual Maturity Call Option:** If a Residual Maturity Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Issuer may, on giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 calendar days' irrevocable notice (or such other notice period if specified in the relevant Final Terms) in accordance with Condition 15 to the Noteholders redeem the Notes, in whole but not in part, at par together with interest accrued to, but excluding, the date fixed for redemption, at any time as from the Call Option Date specified in the relevant Final Terms, which shall be no earlier than (i) three months before the Maturity Date in respect of Notes having a maturity of not more than ten years or (ii) six months

before the Maturity Date in respect of Notes having a maturity of more than ten years, until the Maturity Date.

For the purpose of the preceding paragraph, the maturity of not more than ten years or the maturity of more than ten years shall be determined as from the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the relevant Series of Notes.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition.

(e) **Clean-Up Call Option:** If so specified in the relevant Final Terms, in the event that at least 80 per cent. of the initial aggregate principal amount of the Notes has been purchased and cancelled by the Issuer, the Issuer may, at its option (the "**Clean-Up Call Option**") but subject to having given not less than 15 nor more than 30 calendar days' irrevocable notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15, redeem all, but not some only, of the outstanding Notes at their Clean-Up Redemption Amount together with any interest accrued to the date set for redemption (as specified in the relevant Final Terms).

# (f) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders and Exercise of Noteholders' Options:

## (A) Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders following a Put Option:

If a Put Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Issuer shall, at the option of the Noteholder, upon the Noteholder giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 calendar days' notice to the Issuer (or such other notice period as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption Date(s) at its Optional Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption.

To exercise such option, the Noteholder must deposit with a Paying Agent at its specified office a duly completed option exercise notice (the "Exercise Notice") in the form obtained from any Paying Agent, within the notice period. In the case of Materialised Bearer Notes, the Exercise Notice shall have attached to it the relevant Notes (together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons). In the case of Dematerialised Notes, the Noteholder shall transfer, or cause to be transferred, the Dematerialised Notes to be redeemed to the account of the Fiscal Agent or the Paying Agent with a specified office in Paris as specified in the Exercise Notice. No option so exercised and, where applicable, no Note so deposited or transferred, may be withdrawn without the prior consent of the Issuer.

# (B) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders following a Change of Control Put Option:

If a Change of Control Put Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms and if at any time while any Note remains outstanding there occurs (i) a Change of Control and (ii) within the Change of Control Period a Rating Downgrade occurs as a result of that Change of Control or as a result of a Potential Change of Control (the occurrence of (i) and (ii) together constitutes a "Put Event"), then the holder of each Note will have the option (the "Change of Control Put Option") (unless, prior to the giving of the Put Event Notice (as defined below), the Issuer gives notice of its intention to redeem the Note under Condition 7) to require the Issuer to redeem or, at the Issuer's option, to procure the purchase of that Note on the Optional Redemption Date (as defined below) at its principal amount together with (or, where purchased, together with an amount equal to) accrued interest to but excluding the Optional Redemption Date.

A "Change of Control" shall be deemed to have occurred each time any person or persons acting in concert come(s) to own or acquire(s) (i) more than 50 per cent. of the issued share capital of L'Air Liquide or (b) such number of shares in the capital of L'Air Liquide carrying more than 50 per cent. of the voting rights.

#### "Change of Control Period" means:

- (i) Pursuant to a Change of Control, the period commencing on the date of the public announcement of the result (avis de résultat) by the Autorité des marchés financiers (the "AMF") of the relevant Change of Control and ending on the date which is 90 calendar days (inclusive) after the date of the public announcement by the AMF of the relevant Change of Control, or
- (ii) Pursuant to a Potential Change of Control, the period commencing 180 calendar days prior to the date of the public announcement of the result (*avis de résultat*) by the AMF of the relevant Change of Control and ending on the date of such announcement (inclusive).
- "Rating Agency" means S&P Global Ratings or Moody's Investors Service or any other rating agency of equivalent international standing requested from time to time by the Issuer to grant a rating to the Notes and, in each case, their respective successors or affiliates.

A "**Rating Downgrade**" shall be deemed to have occurred in respect of a Change of Control or in respect of a Potential Change of Control if within the Change of Control Period:

(A) the credit rating previously assigned to the Notes by any Rating Agency is (x) withdrawn or (y) changed from an investment grade credit rating (BBB-, or its respective equivalents for the time being, or better) to a non-investment grade credit rating (BB+, or their respective equivalents for the time being, or worse) or (z) if the credit rating previously assigned to the Notes by any Rating Agency was below an investment grade credit rating (as described above), lowered by at least one full rating notch, or

(B) the Notes were not previously assigned with a credit rating by any Rating Agency and no Rating Agency assigns an investment grade credit rating to such Notes, unless L'Air Liquide has a credit rating from a Rating Agency, in which case paragraph (A) shall apply to the credit rating assigned to L'Air Liquide by any Rating Agency; and

provided that (i) a Rating Downgrade otherwise arising by virtue of a particular change in credit rating shall be deemed not to have occurred in respect of a particular Change of Control or Potential Change of Control, as the case may be, if the Rating Agency making the change in credit rating does not publicly announce or publicly confirm that the reduction was the result of the Change of Control or the Potential Change of Control, as the case may be, and (ii) any Rating Downgrade has to be confirmed in a letter, or other form of written communication, sent to the Issuer and publicly disclosed.

"Potential Change of Control" means any public announcement or statement by L'Air Liquide and/or any actual or potential bidder relating to any potential Change of Control of L'Air Liquide.

Promptly upon the Issuer becoming aware that a Put Event has occurred, the Issuer shall give notice (a "Put Event Notice") to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 specifying the nature of the Put Event and the circumstances giving rise to it and the procedure for exercising the Change of Control Put Option.

To exercise the Change of Control Put Option to require redemption or, as the case may be, purchase of a Note following a Put Event, the holder of that Note must transfer or cause to be transferred by its Account Holder its Notes to be so redeemed to the account of the Fiscal Agent in the Put Option Notice for the account of the Issuer within the period (the "Put Period") of 45 calendar days after the Put Event Notice is given together with a duly signed and completed notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from the specified office of any Paying Agent (as applicable) (a "Put Option Notice") and in which the holder may specify a bank account to which payment is to be made.

The Issuer shall redeem or, at the option of the Issuer procure the purchase of, the Notes in respect of which the Change of Control Put Option has been validly exercised as provided above, and subject to the transfer of such Notes to the account of the Fiscal Agent for the account of the Issuer as described above on the date which is the fifth Business Day following the end of the Put Period (the "Optional Redemption Date"). Payment in respect of any Note so transferred will be made in the Specified Currency to the holder to the bank account specified in the Put Option Notice on the Optional Redemption Date via the relevant Account Holders.

## (g) Early Redemption:

- (i) Zero Coupon Notes:
  - (A) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 7(h) or Condition 7(l) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 shall be the Amortised Nominal Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Note.
  - (B) Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (C) below, the Amortised Nominal Amount of any such Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date discounted at a rate *per annum* (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield (which, if none is shown in the relevant Final Terms, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised Nominal Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes if they were discounted back to their issue price on the Issue Date) compounded annually.
  - (C) If the Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption pursuant to Condition 7(h) or Condition 7(l) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Nominal Amount of such Note as defined in sub-paragraph (B) above, except that such sub-

paragraph shall have effect as though the date on which the Amortised Nominal Amount becomes due and payable were the Relevant Date. The calculation of the Amortised Nominal Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph shall continue to be made (as well after as before judgement) until the Relevant Date, unless the Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity Date together with any interest that may accrue in accordance with Condition 6(d).

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the basis of the Day Count Fraction shown in the relevant Final Terms.

(ii) Other Notes: The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Notes described in (i) above), upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 7(h) or Condition 7(l), or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 shall be the Final Redemption Amount.

# (h) Redemption for Taxation Reasons:

- (i) If, by reason of any change in, or any change in the official application or interpretation of, French law, becoming effective after the Issue Date, the relevant Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor (in respect of the Guarantee), would on the occasion of the next payment of principal or interest due in respect of the Notes, not be able to make such payment without having to pay additional amounts as specified under Condition 9 below, the relevant Issuer may, at its option, on any Interest Payment Date or, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, at any time, subject to having given not more than 45 nor less than 30 calendar days' notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), in accordance with Condition 15, redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount together with any interest accrued to the date set for redemption provided that the due date for redemption of which notice hereunder may be given shall be no earlier than the latest practicable date on which the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, could make payment of principal and interest without withholding for such French taxes.
- (ii) If the relevant Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor (in respect of the Guarantee), would, on the next payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes, be prevented by French law from making payment to the Noteholders or, if applicable, the holders of the Coupons (the "Couponholders") of the full amounts then due and payable, notwithstanding the undertaking to pay additional amounts contained in Condition 9 below, then the relevant Issuer, shall forthwith give notice of such fact to the Fiscal Agent and the relevant Issuer shall upon giving not less than seven calendar days' prior notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15, redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes then outstanding at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 7(g) above) together with any interest accrued to the date set for redemption on the latest practicable Interest Payment Date on which the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, could make payment of the full amount then due and payable in respect of the Notes or, if applicable, Coupons, or, if that date is passed, as soon as practicable thereafter.
- (i) **Purchases**: The relevant Issuer shall have the right at all times to purchase Notes (provided that, in the case of Materialised Notes, all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open market or otherwise at any price. Unless otherwise provided in the relevant Final Terms, all Notes so purchased by the relevant Issuer may be held and resold for the purpose of enhancing the liquidity of the Notes in accordance with Articles L.213-0-1 and D.213-1 A of the Code.
- (j) Cancellation: All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the relevant Issuer for cancellation shall forthwith be cancelled, in the case of Dematerialised Notes, by transfer to an account in accordance with the rules and procedures of Euroclear France and, in the case of Materialised Bearer Notes, by surrendering the Temporary Global Certificate or the Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes in question together with all unmatured Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Fiscal Agent and, in each case, if so transferred or surrendered, shall, together with all Notes redeemed by the relevant Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with, in the case of Dematerialised Notes, all rights relating to payment of interest and other amounts relating to such Dematerialised Notes and, in the case of Materialised Notes, all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith). Any Notes so cancelled or, where applicable, transferred or surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged.

- (k) **Partial Redemptions:** In the case of a partial redemption at the option of the Issuer in accordance with Condition 7(b) or 7(c):
  - (i) in respect of Materialised Notes, the redemption shall be effected by drawing amongst the then outstanding Materialised Notes in order to determine the Materialised Notes to be redeemed, it being specified that the drawing shall be handled by the Fiscal Agent in such place and in such manner as may be fair and reasonable in the circumstances, taking account of prevailing market practices, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange requirements.
  - (ii) in respect of Dematerialised Notes, the redemption may be effected by reducing the nominal amount of all such Dematerialised Notes in proportion to the aggregate nominal amount redeemed, subject to compliance with any other applicable laws and stock exchange requirements. In no event, the outstanding nominal amount of each Note following such reduction shall be below any amount which would prevent the relevant Issuer from choosing its home Member State (as such term is defined in the Prospectus Directive).

In addition, so long as the Notes are listed and admitted to trading on any Regulated Market and the rules of such Regulated Market so require, the relevant Issuer shall, once in each year in which there has been a partial redemption of the Notes (whether at the option of the Issuer or of the Noteholders), cause to be published in a leading newspaper with general circulation in the city where the Regulated Market is located or, so long as the Notes are listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and so long as the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange so permit, on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu), a notice specifying the aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding and, in the case of Materialised Notes, a list of any Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes drawn for redemption but not surrendered.

(1) **Illegality**: If, by reason of any change in French law or any change in the official application of such law, becoming effective after the Issue Date, it becomes unlawful (i) for the relevant Issuer to perform or comply with one or more of its obligations under the Notes, or (ii) for the Guarantor to perform or comply with one or more of its obligations under the Guarantee the relevant Issuer which in the case of (ii) above, shall be the issuer of the Notes guaranteed by the Guarantor will, subject to having given not more than 45 nor less than 30 calendar days' notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), in accordance with Condition 15, redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at their Early Redemption Amount together with any interest accrued to the date set for redemption.

# 8 PAYMENTS AND TALONS

- (a) **Dematerialised Notes**: Payments of principal and interest in respect of Dematerialised Notes shall be made (i) (in the case of Dematerialised Notes in bearer dematerialised form or administered registered dematerialised form) by transfer to the account denominated in the relevant currency of the relevant Euroclear France Account Holders for the benefit of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) (in the case of Dematerialised Notes in fully registered form), to an account denominated in the relevant currency with a Bank designated by the relevant Noteholder. All payments validly made to such Euroclear France Account Holders will constitute an effective discharge of the relevant Issuer in respect of such payments.
- (b) **Materialised Bearer Notes**: Payments of principal and interest in respect of Materialised Bearer Notes shall, subject as mentioned below, be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Materialised Bearer Notes (in the case of all other payments of principal and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 8(f)(v)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as specified in Condition 8(f)(v)), as the case may be:
  - (i) in the case of a currency other than RMB, at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States by a cheque payable in the relevant currency drawn on, or, at the option of the Noteholder, by transfer to an account denominated in such currency with, a Bank; and
  - (ii) in the case of RMB, by transfer to a RMB account maintained by or on behalf of the Noteholder with a Bank.
  - "Bank" means a bank in the principal financial centre for such currency or, in the case of Renminbi in Hong Kong or in the relevant Business Centre (if any), and in the case of euro, in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System.
- (c) Payments in the United States: Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Materialised Bearer Notes are denominated in US Dollars, payments in respect thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the same manner as aforesaid if (i) the relevant Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable

expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment of the amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in full of such amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United States law, without involving, in the opinion of the relevant Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, if payment is being made under the Guarantee.

- (d) Payments Subject to Fiscal Laws: All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives in the place of payment but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 9. No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.
- Appointment of Agents: The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Calculation Agent, the (e) Redenomination Agent and the Consolidation Agent initially appointed under the Amended and Restated Agency Agreement and their respective specified offices are specified therein. The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Redenomination Agent, the Registration Agent and the Consolidation Agent act solely as agents of each Issuer and the Calculation Agent(s) act(s) as independent experts(s) and, in each case such, do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency for any Noteholder or Couponholder. The Issuers reserve the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Redenomination Agent, the Registration Agent and the Consolidation Agent or the Calculation Agent(s) and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents, provided that the Issuers shall at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) one or more Calculation Agent(s) where the Conditions so require, (iii) a Redenomination Agent and a Consolidation Agent where the Conditions so require, (iv) a Paying Agent having specified offices in at least one major European city, (v) such other agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed and admitted to trading and (vi) such other agents as may be required by the rules of any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed and admitted to trading.

In addition, the Issuers (or the Guarantor, if payment is being made under the Guarantee) shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in respect of any Materialised Bearer Notes denominated in US Dollars in the circumstances described in paragraph (c) above.

On a redenomination of the Notes of any Series pursuant to Condition 1(d) with a view to consolidating such Notes with one or more other Series of Notes, in accordance with Condition 14, the Issuer shall ensure that the same entity shall be appointed as both Redenomination Agent and Consolidation Agent in respect of both such Notes and such other Series of Notes to be so consolidated with such Notes.

Notice of any such change or any change of any specified office shall promptly be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

# (f) Unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons:

Unless Materialised Bearer Notes provide that the relative Coupons are to become void upon (i) the due date for redemption of those Notes, Materialised Bearer Notes should be surrendered for payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) relating thereto, failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon that the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) shall be deducted from the Final Redemption Amount, Amortised Nominal Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount, as the case may be, due for payment. Any amount so deducted shall be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal (whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 11) provided that, if any Materialised Bearer Note should be issued with a maturity date and an Interest Rate or Rates such that, on the presentation for payment of any such Note without any unmatured Coupons attached thereto or surrendered therewith, the amount required to be deducted in respect of such unmatured Coupons would be greater than the relevant Redemption Amount otherwise due for payment, then, upon the due date for redemption of any such Note, such unmatured Coupons (whether or not attached) shall become void (and no payment shall be made in respect thereof) as shall be required so that, upon application of the foregoing provisions in respect of such Coupons as have not so become void, the amount required by this paragraph to be deducted would not be greater than the relevant Redemption Amount otherwise due for payment. Where the application of the foregoing provisions requires some but not all of the unmatured Coupons relating to a Materialised Bearer Note to become void and shall select for such purpose Coupons maturing on later dates in preference to Coupons maturing on earlier dates.

- (ii) If Materialised Bearer Notes so provide, upon the due date for redemption of any such Materialised Bearer Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them.
- (iii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Materialised Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such Talon.
- (iv) Where any Materialised Bearer Note that provides that the relative unmatured Coupons are to become void upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons, and where any such Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be, may require.
- (v) If the due date for redemption of any Materialised Bearer Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Definitive Materialised Bearer Note. Interest accrued on a Materialised Bearer Note that only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on redemption of such Note against presentation of the relevant Materialised Bearer Notes.
- (g) **Talons**: On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in respect of any Materialised Bearer Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and if necessary another Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons that may have become void pursuant to Condition 11) provided that, in respect of Notes listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, such exchange shall always take place at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent or of the Paying Agent, as a case may be.
- (h) Non-Business Days: If any date for payment in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a business day, the Noteholder shall not be entitled to payment until (i) if "Following" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the next following business day or (ii) if "Modified Following" is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the next following business day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding business day, and in each case, the Noteholders shall not be entitled to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this paragraph, "business day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) (A) (i) in the case of Dematerialised Notes, on which Euroclear France is open for business or (ii) in the case of Materialised Notes, on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the relevant place of presentation, (B) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in such jurisdictions as shall be specified as "Financial Centres" in the relevant Final Terms and (C) (i) in the case of a payment in a currency other than euro and RMB, where payment is to be made by transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial centre of the country of such currency or (ii) in the case of a payment in euro, which is a TARGET Business Day or (iii) in the case of a payment in RMB, on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business and settlement of RMB payments in Hong Kong or in the Relevant Business Centre (if any).
- (i) Payment of US Dollar Equivalent: Notwithstanding any other provision in these Conditions, if by reason of Inconvertibility, Non-Transferability or Illiquidity or if Renminbi is otherwise not available to the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, as a result of circumstances beyond their control and such unavailability has been independently confirmed by a Renminbi Dealer, neither the relevant Issuer nor the Guarantor is able to satisfy payments of principal or interest (in whole or in part) in respect of RMB Notes, the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, on giving not less than five nor more than 30 calendar days irrevocable notice to the Noteholders prior to the due date for payment, may settle any such payment (in whole or in part) in US Dollars on the due date at the US Dollar Equivalent of any such Renminbi denominated amount.

In such event, payments of the US Dollar Equivalent of the relevant principal or interest in respect of the RMB Notes shall be made by transfer to the U.S. dollar account of the relevant Account Holders for the benefit of the Noteholders. For the avoidance of doubt, no such payment of the US Dollar Equivalent shall by itself constitute a default in payment within the meaning of Condition 10.

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition 8(i) by the RMB Rate Calculation Agent, will (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuers, the Agents and all Noteholders.

For the purposes of this Condition 8(i):

"Governmental Authority" means any *de facto* or *de jure* government (or any agency or instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including the central bank) of Hong Kong or the ROC or any other relevant jurisdiction of a Renminbi offshore market.

"Illiquidity" means that the general Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong or the ROC or any other relevant jurisdiction of a Renminbi offshore market becomes illiquid, other than as a result of an event of Inconvertibility or Non-Transferability, as determined by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner following consultation with two Renminbi Dealers, as a result of which event the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, cannot, each having used its reasonable endeavours, obtain sufficient Renminbi in order to fully satisfy its obligation to pay interest or principal in respect of the RMB Notes or, as the case may be, the Guarantee.

"Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, to convert any amount due in respect of RMB Notes or the Guarantee, as the case may be, in the general Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong or the ROC or any other relevant jurisdiction of a Renminbi offshore market, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation).

"Non-Transferability" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, to deliver Renminbi between accounts inside Hong Kong or the ROC or any other relevant jurisdiction of a Renminbi offshore market or from an account inside Hong Kong or the ROC or any other relevant jurisdiction of a Renminbi offshore market to an account outside Hong Kong or the ROC or any other relevant jurisdiction of a Renminbi offshore market, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation).

"Renminbi Dealer" means an independent foreign exchange dealer of international repute active in the Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong or the ROC or any other relevant jurisdiction of a Renminbi offshore market reasonably selected by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be

"RMB Rate Calculation Agent" means the agent appointed from time to time by the relevant Issuer for the determination of the RMB Spot Rate or identified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

"RMB Rate Calculation Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange) in Hong Kong or the ROC or any other relevant jurisdiction of a Renminbi offshore market and in New York City.

"RMB Rate Calculation Date" means the day which is two RMB Rate Calculation Business Days before the due date for payment of the relevant Renminbi amount under the Conditions.

"RMB Spot Rate" for a RMB Rate Calculation Date means the spot CNY/US dollar exchange rate for the purchase of US Dollars with CNY in the over-the-counter CNY exchange market in Hong Kong or the ROC or any other relevant jurisdiction of a Renminbi offshore market for settlement on the relevant due date for payment, as determined by the RMB Rate Calculation Agent at the Relevant Time as specified in the relevant Final Terms on such RMB Rate Calculation Date, on a deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADCNY3, or if no such rate is available, on a non-deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADNDF. If neither rate is available, the RMB Rate Calculation Agent will determine the RMB Spot Rate at the Relevant Time as specified in the relevant Final Terms on the RMB Rate Calculation Date as the most recently available CNY/US dollar official fixing rate for settlement on the relevant due date for payment reported by The State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC, which is reported on the Reuters Screen Page CNY=SAEC. Reference to a page on the Reuters Screen means the display page so designated on the Reuter Monitor Money Rates Service (or any successor service) or such other page as may replace that page for the purpose of displaying a comparable currency exchange rate.

"ROC" means the Island of Taiwan and other areas under the effective control of the Republic of China.

"US Dollar Equivalent" means the relevant Renminbi amount converted into US Dollars using the RMB Spot Rate for the relevant RMB Rate Calculation Date, as calculated by the RMB Rate Calculation Agent.

# 9 TAXATION

- (a) Withholding tax: All payments of principal, interest and other revenues by or on behalf of the Issuers in respect of the Notes shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within France or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law.
- (b) Additional amounts: If French law should require that payments of principal or interest in respect of any Note or Coupon or payments under the Guarantee be subject to deduction or withholding with respect to any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of France or any political subdivision thereof, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, the relevant Issuer will or, as the case may be, the Guarantor in the case of payments under the Guarantee, to the fullest extent then permitted by law, pay such additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders or, if applicable, the Couponholders, as the case may be, of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note or Coupon, as the case may be:
  - (i) Other connection: to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Noteholder or, if applicable, a Couponholder, as the case may be, who is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the Republic of France other than the mere holding of the Note or Coupon; or
  - (ii) **Presentation more than 30 days after the Relevant Date**: in the case of Materialised Notes, more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the Noteholder or, if applicable, the Couponholder, as the case may be, would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting it for payment on the thirtieth such day.

As used in these Conditions, "Relevant Date" in respect of any Note or Coupon means the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or, in the case of Materialised Notes (if earlier) the date seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further presentation of the Note or Coupon being made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation. References in these Conditions to (i) "principal" shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, Final Redemption Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts, Amortised Nominal Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 7 or any amendment or supplement to it, (ii) "interest" shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 6 or any amendment or supplement to it and (iii) "principal" and/or "interest" shall be deemed to include any additional amounts that may be payable under this Condition.

# 10 EVENTS OF DEFAULT

The Representative (as defined under Condition 12(b)), upon request of any Noteholder, may, upon written notice to the relevant Issuer and the Fiscal Agent given before all defaults shall have been cured, cause the principal amount of all the Notes held by such Noteholder to become due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon, as of the date on which such notice for payment is received by the Fiscal Agent:

- (i) if the relevant Issuer defaults in any payment when due of principal or interest on any Note or the Guarantor defaults in any payment when due under the Guarantee (including the payment of any additional amounts provided for in Condition 9) and such default shall not have been cured within 15 days; or
- (ii) if the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor defaults in the due performance of any other provision of the Notes or the Guarantee, as the case may be, and such default shall not have been cured within 30 days after receipt by the Fiscal Agent of written notice of default given by the Representative upon request of the Noteholder; or

- (iii) (a) if any other present or future indebtedness of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor for or in respect of monies borrowed in excess of Euro 100,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency), whether individually or collectively, becomes due and payable prior to its stated maturity as a result of a default thereunder, or (b) any such indebtedness shall not be paid when due and payable or, as the case may be, within any originally applicable grace period thereof or (c) any guarantee or indemnity in excess of such aforesaid amount given by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor for, or in respect of, any such indebtedness of others shall not be honoured when due and called upon, or, as the case may be, within 15 days of any originally applicable grace period; or
- (iv) if L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance makes any proposal for a general moratorium in relation to its debt or a judgement is issued for the judicial liquidation (*liquidation judiciaire*) or for a judicial transfer of the whole of the business (*cession totale de l'entreprise*) of L'Air Liquide or, to the extent permitted by applicable law, if L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance is subject to any other insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings or if L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance makes any conveyance, assignment or other arrangement for the benefit of its creditors or enters into a composition (*accord amiable*) with its creditors or if L'Air Liquide is wound up or dissolved; or
- (v) the Guarantee is not (or is claimed by the Guarantor not to be) in full force and effect.

#### 11 PRESCRIPTION

Claims against the relevant Issuer for payment in respect of the Notes and Coupons (which for this purpose shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within 10 years (in the case of principal) or five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect of them.

# 12 REPRESENTATION OF NOTEHOLDERS

Noteholders will, in respect of all Tranches in any Series, be grouped automatically for the defence of their common interests in a *masse* (in each case, the "Masse").

In respect of the representation of the Noteholders, the following shall apply:

(a) If the relevant Final Terms specify "Full Masse", the Noteholders will, in respect of all Tranches in any Series of Notes that are not being issued outside of France within the meaning of Article L.228-90 of the French *Code de Commerce*, be grouped automatically for the defence of their common interests in a Masse and the provisions of the French *Code de Commerce* relating to the masse shall apply subject to the below provisions of this Condition 12 (a).

The names and addresses of the initial Representative (as defined below) of the Masse and its alternate will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

The holders of Notes of the same Series, and the holders of Notes of any other Series which have been assimilated with the Notes of such first-mentioned Series in accordance with Condition 14, shall, for the defence of their respective common interests, be grouped in a single Masse. The Representative appointed in respect of the first Tranche of any Series of Notes will be the representative of the single Masse of all Tranches in such Series.

The Representative will be entitled to such remuneration in connection with its functions or duties as set out in the relevant Final Terms.

In the event of death, dissolution, retirement or revocation of appointment of the Representative, such Representative will be replaced by another Representative. In the event of the death, dissolution, retirement or revocation of appointment of the alternate Representative, an alternate will be elected by the general meeting of the Noteholders (the "General Meeting").

In accordance with Article R.228-71 of the French *Code de commerce*, the right of each Noteholder to participate in General Meetings will be evidenced by the entries in the books of the relevant Account Holder of the name of such Noteholder as of 0:00, Paris time, on the second business day in Paris preceding the date set for the meeting of the relevant General Meeting

The place where a General Meeting shall be held will be set out in the notice convening such General Meeting; or

(b) If the relevant Final Terms specify "Contractual Masse", the Noteholders will, in respect of all Tranches in any Series of Notes issued outside France within the meaning of Article L.228-90 of the French *Code de Commerce*, be grouped automatically for the defence of their common interests in a Masse which will be subject to the provisions of the French *Code de Commerce* with the exception of Articles L.228-48, L.228-59, L.228-65 II, R.228-63, R.228-67, R.228-69 and R.228-72 subject to the following provisions:

(i) **Legal Personality**: The Masse will be a separate legal entity and will act in part through a representative (the "**Representative**") and in part through a general meeting of the Noteholders.

The *Masse* alone, to the exclusion of all individual Noteholders, shall exercise the common rights, actions and benefits which now or in the future may accrue respectively with respect to the Notes.

- (ii) **Representative**: The office of Representative may be conferred on a person of any nationality. However, the following persons may not be chosen as Representatives:
  - the relevant Issuer, the members of its Board of Directors (*Conseil d'administration*), its general managers (*directeurs généraux*), its statutory auditors, or its employees as well as their ascendants, descendants and spouses; or
  - companies guaranteeing all or part of the obligations of the relevant Issuer, their respective managers (*gérants*), general managers (*directeurs généraux*), members of their Board of Directors (*Conseil d'administration*), their statutory auditors, or employees as well as their ascendants, descendants and spouses; or
  - companies holding 10 per cent. or more of the share capital of the relevant Issuer or companies having 10 per cent. or more of their share capital held by the relevant Issuer; or
  - persons to whom the practice of banker is forbidden or who have been deprived of the right of directing, administering or managing an enterprise in whatever capacity.

The names and addresses of the initial Representative of the Masse and its alternate will be set out in the relevant Final Terms. The Representative appointed in respect of the first Tranche of any Series of Notes will be the Representative of the single Masse of all Tranches in such Series.

The Representative will be entitled to such remuneration in connection with its functions or duties as set out in the relevant Final Terms.

In the event of death, retirement or revocation of appointment of the Representative, such Representative will be replaced by another Representative. In the event of the death, retirement or revocation of appointment of the alternate Representative, an alternate will be elected by the General Meeting.

All interested parties will at all times have the right to obtain the names and addresses of the initial Representative and the alternate Representative at the head office of the relevant Issuer and the specified offices of any of the Paying Agents.

(iii) **Powers of the Representative**: The Representative shall (in the absence of any decision to the contrary of the General Meeting) have the power to take all acts of management necessary in order to defend the common interests of the Noteholders.

All legal proceedings against the Noteholders or initiated by them, must be brought by or against the Representative.

The Representative may not interfere in the management of the affairs of the Issuer.

(iv) **General Meeting**: A General Meeting may be held at any time, on convocation either by the relevant Issuer or by the Representative. One or more Noteholders, holding together at least one-thirtieth of the principal amount of the Notes outstanding, may address to the relevant Issuer and the Representative a demand for convocation of the General Meeting. If such General Meeting has not been convened within two months after such demand, the Noteholders may commission one of their members to petition a competent court in Paris to appoint an agent (mandataire) who will call the General Meeting.

Notice of the date, time, place and agenda of any General Meeting will be published as provided under Condition 15 not less than 15 calendar days prior to the date of such General Meeting on first convocation and not less than 10 calendar days prior to the date of such General Meeting on second convocation.

Each Noteholder has the right to participate in a General Meeting in person, by proxy, correspondence, videoconference or any other means of telecommunications allowing the identification of the participating Noteholders. Each Note carries the right to one vote or, in the case of Notes issued with more than one Specified Denomination, one vote in respect of each multiple of the lowest Specified Denomination comprised in the principal amount of the Specified Denomination of such Note.

(v) Powers of the General Meetings: The General Meeting is empowered to deliberate on the dismissal and replacement of the Representative and the alternate Representative and also may act with respect to any other matter that relates to the common rights, actions and benefits which now or in the future may accrue with respect to the Notes, including authorising the Representative to act at law as plaintiff or defendant.

The General Meeting may further deliberate on any proposal relating to the modification of the Conditions including any proposal, whether for arbitration or settlement, relating to rights in controversy or which were the subject of judicial decisions, it being specified, however, that the General Meeting may not increase the liabilities (*charges*) to Noteholders, nor establish any unequal treatment between the Noteholders, nor to decide to convert Notes into shares.

General Meetings may deliberate validly on first convocation only if Noteholders present or represented hold at least one fifth of the Notes then outstanding. On second convocation, no quorum shall be required. Decisions at meetings shall be taken by a simple majority of votes cast by Noteholders attending such General Meetings or represented thereat.

In accordance with Article R.228-71 of the French *Code de Commerce*, the rights of each holder of a Note to participate in a General Meeting must be evidenced by entries in the books of the relevant Account Holder of the name of such holder of a Note on the second business day in Paris preceding the date set for the relevant General Meeting at 0.00, Paris time.

Decisions of General Meetings must be published in accordance with the provisions set forth in Condition 15.

- (vi) Information to Noteholders: Each Noteholder or Representative thereof will have the right, during the 15-day period preceding the holding of each General Meeting, to consult or make a copy of the text of the resolutions which will be proposed and of the reports which will be presented at the General Meeting, all of which will be available for inspection by the relevant Noteholders at the registered office of the relevant Issuer, at the specified offices of any of the Paying Agents during normal business hours and at any other place specified in the notice of the General Meeting.
- (vii) **Expenses**: The relevant Issuer will pay all expenses relating to the operation of the Masse, including expenses relating to the calling and holding of General Meetings and, more generally, all administrative expenses resolved upon by the General Meeting, it being expressly stipulated that no expenses may be imputed against interest payable under the Notes.
- (c) **Single Masse**: The holders of Notes of the same Series, and the holders of Notes of any other Series which have been assimilated with the Notes of such first mentioned Series in accordance with Condition 14, shall, for the defence of their respective common interests, be grouped in a single Masse. The Representative appointed in respect of the first Tranche of any Series of Notes will be the Representative of the single Masse of all such Series.

# (d) Sole Noteholder:

As long as the Notes of a Series are held by a single Noteholder, such Noteholder will exercise directly the powers delegated to the Representative and General Meetings under the Conditions. The sole Noteholder (or its agent on its behalf) shall keep a record of the decisions taken in such capacity, which shall be available, upon request, to any future Noteholders. A Representative shall be appointed when the Notes of a Series are held by more than one Noteholder.

For the avoidance of doubt, in this Condition 12, the term "outstanding" shall not include those Notes subscribed or purchased by the relevant Issuer pursuant to Article L.213-0-1 of the Code that are held by it and not cancelled.

# 13 REPLACEMENT OF DEFINITIVE NOTES, COUPONS AND TALONS

If, in the case of any Materialised Bearer Notes, a Definitive Materialised Bearer Note, Coupon or Talon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable laws, regulations and stock exchange regulations, at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent or such other Paying Agent as may from time to time be designated by the relevant Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to Noteholders, in each case on payment by the claimant of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security and indemnity (which may provide, *inter alia*, that if the allegedly lost, stolen or destroyed Definitive Materialised Bearer Note, Coupon or Talon is subsequently presented for payment or, as the case may be, for exchange for further Coupons, there shall be paid to the Issuer on demand the amount payable by the relevant Issuer in respect of such Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes, Coupons or further Coupons) and otherwise as the relevant Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Materialised Bearer Notes, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

# 14 FURTHER ISSUES AND CONSOLIDATION

- (a) **Further Issues**: The relevant Issuer may, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders create and issue further Notes to be assimilated (assimilées) with the Notes provided such Notes and the further Notes carry rights identical in all respects (or in all respects save for the principal amount thereof and the first payment of interest specified in the relevant Final Terms) and that the terms of such Notes provide for such assimilation and references in these Conditions to "Notes" shall be construed accordingly.
- (b) Consolidation: The relevant Issuer, with the prior approval of the Consolidation Agent, may from time to time on any Interest Payment Date occurring on or after the Redenomination Date on giving not less than 30 calendar days' prior notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, consolidate the Notes of one Series with the Notes of one or more other Series issued by it, whether or not originally issued in one of the European national currencies or in euro, provided such other Notes have been redenominated in euro (if not originally denominated in euro) and which otherwise have, in respect of all periods subsequent to such consolidation, the same terms and conditions as the Notes.

#### 15 NOTICES

- (a) Notices to the holders of Materialised Bearer Notes and Dematerialised Notes shall be valid if published, at the option of the relevant Issuer:
  - (i) so long as such Notes are listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange so permit, on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu), or
  - (ii) in a leading daily newspaper with general circulation in Europe (which is expected to be the Financial Times) and so long as such Notes are listed and admitted to trading on any stock exchange, in a leading daily newspaper with general circulation in the city/ies where the stock exchange(s) on which such Notes are listed and admitted to trading is located, which, in the case of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, is expected to be the *Luxemburger Wort*.

In addition, notices to the holders of Dematerialised Notes in registered form (au nominatif) shall be valid if they are mailed to them at their respective addresses, in which case they will be deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday) after the mailing.

- (b) If any such publication is not practicable, notice shall be validly given if published in another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first publication as provided above. Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the holders of Materialised Bearer Notes in accordance with this Condition.
- (c) Notices to the holders of Dematerialised Notes (whether in registered or in bearer form) pursuant to these Conditions may also be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear France, Euroclear, Clearstream and any other clearing system through which the Notes are for the time being cleared in substitution for the mailing and publication of a notice required by Condition 15(a) above; except that:
  - (i) (a) so long as such Notes are listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange so require, notices shall also be published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu), or (b) so long as the Notes are listed and admitted to trading on any Regulated Market(s) and the rules of such Regulated Market(s) so require, notices shall be published in a leading daily newspaper of general circulation in the city/ies where the stock exchange(s) on which such Notes are listed and admitted to trading is located, which, in the case of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, is expected to be the Luxemburger Wort, and
  - (ii) notices relating to the convocation and decision(s) of the General Meetings pursuant to Condition 12 shall also be published (a) so long as such Notes are listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange so require, on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu), or (b) in a leading daily newspaper of general circulation in Europe.

# 16 HARDSHIP (IMPRÉVISION)

The provisions of Article 1195 of the French Code Civil will not apply to these Conditions.

# 17 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

- (a) **Governing Law**: The Notes (and, where applicable, the Coupons and the Talons) and the Guarantee are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, French law.
- (b) **Jurisdiction**: Any claim against the relevant Issuer in connection with any Notes, Coupons or Talons or the Guarantee may be brought before any competent court located in Paris.

# TEMPORARY GLOBAL CERTIFICATES ISSUED IN RESPECT OF MATERIALISED BEARER NOTES

#### 1. TEMPORARY GLOBAL CERTIFICATE

A Temporary Global Certificate, without interest Coupons attached, will initially be issued in connection with Materialised Bearer Notes. Upon the initial deposit of such Temporary Global Certificate with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream (the "Common Depositary"), Euroclear or Clearstream will credit the account of each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

The Common Depositary may also (if indicated in the relevant Final Terms) credit with a nominal amount of Notes the accounts of subscribers with other clearing systems through direct or indirect accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream held by such other clearing systems. Conversely, a nominal amount of Notes that is initially deposited with any clearing system other than Euroclear or Clearstream may similarly be credited to the accounts of subscribers with Euroclear or Clearstream.

# 2. EXCHANGE

Each Temporary Global Certificate issued in respect of Notes will be exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, on or after its Exchange Date (as defined below):

- (i) if the relevant Final Terms indicates that such Temporary Global Certificate is issued in compliance with the C Rules or in a transaction to which TEFRA is not applicable (as to which, see "General Description of the Programme Selling Restrictions"), in whole, but not in part, for Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes; and
- (ii) otherwise, in whole but not in part, for Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes upon certification in the form set out in the Amended and Restated Agency Agreement as to non-US beneficial ownership.

A Noteholder must exchange its share of the Temporary Global Certificate for Materialised Bearer Notes before interest or any amount payable in respect of the Notes will be paid.

# 3. DELIVERY OF DEFINITIVE MATERIALISED BEARER NOTES

On or after its Exchange Date, the holder of the Temporary Global Certificate must surrender such Temporary Global Certificate to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent. In exchange for the Temporary Global Certificate so surrendered, the Issuer will deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate nominal amount of duly executed and authenticated Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes.

In this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, "**Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes**" means, in relation to any Temporary Global Certificate, the Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes for which such Temporary Global Certificate may be exchanged (if appropriate, having attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest that have not already been paid on the Temporary Global Certificate and a Talon). Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes will be security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements in, or substantially in, the form set out in Schedule 2 Part A to the Amended and Restated Agency Agreement.

# 4. EXCHANGE DATE

**Exchange Date**" means, in relation to a Temporary Global Certificate, the day next succeeding the day that is 40 calendar days after its issue date, provided that, in the event any further Materialised Notes are issued prior to such day pursuant to Condition 14, the Exchange Date for such Temporary Global Certificate shall be postponed to the day falling after the expiry of 40 calendar days after the issue of such further Materialised Notes.

# **USE OF PROCEEDS**

		CLLDS		
Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final the Air Liquide Group's general corporate purpo	Terms, the net ses.	proceeds of the	issue of the Notes	will be used for

# **DESCRIPTION OF L'AIR LIQUIDE**

#### 1. GENERAL INFORMATION

L'Air Liquide, société anonyme pour l'Etude et l'Exploitation des Procédés Georges Claude ("**L'Air Liquide**") is a French *société anonyme* registered with the *Registre du commerce et des sociétés* of Paris under number 552 096 281. Its registered office is at 75, quai d'Orsay, 75007 Paris, France and its phone number is + 33 1 40 62 55 55.

L'Air Liquide was incorporated in France on 27 November 1902 under the laws of France and has a term expiring on 18 February 2028. It is governed by Articles L.210-1 and following of the French *Code de commerce*.

Legal Name: L'Air Liquide, société anonyme pour l'Etude et l'Exploitation des Procédés Georges Claude.

Commercial Name: L'Air Liquide Société Anonyme.

L'Air Liquide is the parent company of the Air Liquide Group. The list of its significant subsidiaries is included on pages 307 to 309 of the 2016 Reference Document.

L'Air Liquide is listed on the Paris Euronext stock exchange (compartment A) and is a member of the CAC 40 and Dow Jones Euro Stoxx 50 indexes.

L'Air Liquide's long-term rating is A- by S&P Global Ratings and A3 by Moody's Investors Service and its short-term rating is A2 by S&P Global Ratings and P-2 by Moody's Investors Service.

#### 2. CORPORATE PURPOSE

L'Air Liquide's corporate purpose comprises:

- $1^{\circ}$ / The study, exploitation, sale of the patents or inventions of Messrs. Georges & Eugène Claude, pertaining to the liquefaction of gases, the industrial production of refrigeration, liquid air and oxygen, and the applications or utilizations thereof;
- $2^{\circ}$ / The industrial production of refrigeration, of liquid air, the applications or uses thereof, the production and liquefaction of gases, and in particular oxygen, nitrogen, helium and hydrogen, the applications and uses thereof in all forms, pure, in blends and combinations, without any distinction as to state or origin, in all domains of the applications of their physical, thermodynamic, chemical, thermochemical and biological applications, and in particular in the domains of propulsion, the sea, health, agri-business and pollution;
- 3°/ The purchase, manufacturing, sale, use of all products pertaining directly or indirectly to the foregoing corporate purpose, as well as all sub-products resulting from their manufacturing or their use, of all machines or devices used for the utilization or application thereof and, more specifically, the purchase, manufacturing, sale, use of all products, metals or alloys, derived or resulting from a use of oxygen, nitrogen and hydrogen pure, blended or combined, in particular of all oxygenated or nitrogenous products;
- 4°/ The study, acquisition, direct or indirect exploitation or sale of all patents, inventions or methods pertaining to the same corporate purposes;
- 5°/ The direct exploitation or the exploitation by creating of companies, of everything which is connected, directly or indirectly, with the company's purpose or is apt to contribute to the development of its industry;
- $6^{\circ}$ / The supply of all services, or the supply of all products apt to develop its clientele in the domain of industry or health.

L'Air Liquide may request or acquire all franchises, make all constructions, acquire or take out on a rental basis all quarries, mines and all real property, and take over all operations connected with its corporate purpose, sell these franchises, assert them, merge or create partnerships with other companies by acquiring shares or company rights, through advances or in any appropriate manner.

It may undertake these operations either alone or jointly; lastly, and more generally, it may carry out all industrial, commercial, real, personal and financial operations pertaining directly or indirectly to the corporate purposes specified above.

A description of L'Air Liquide's objects and purposes can be found in Article 2 of the articles of association of L'Air Liquide.

#### 3. SHAREHOLDERS

L'Air Liquide has been listed on the Paris Euronext stock exchange since 1913. As of 31 December 2016, approximately 410,000 individual investors hold approximately 33% of the capital. French and non-French

institutional investors represent approximately 20% and 47% of the capital respectively, the remaining (less than 1%) is treasury shares.

At the end of 2016, the share of capital held by employees and former employees of the Air Liquide Group is estimated at 2.4%, of which 1.5% (in the meaning of article L.225-102 of the French *Code of Commerce*) corresponds to shares subscribed by employees during employee reserved capital increase operations or held through mutual funds.

#### 4. SHARE CAPITAL

At the date of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, the share capital of L'Air Liquide is fully paid-up.

As of 31 December 2016, the authorized capital was 2,138,816,685.50 euros, divided into 388,875,761 ordinary shares with a par value of 5.50 euros, all of the same class. As of 31 May 2017, the authorized capital was 2,132,891,915 euros, divided into 387,798,530 ordinary shares with a par value of 5.50 euros, all of the same class.

#### 5. FINANCIAL INDEBTEDNESS

As of 31 December 2016, L'Air Liquide's consolidated total borrowings amounted to €16,891.1 million. As of 30 April 2017, with the exception of the effect of the €0.6 billion bond issue carried out by Air Liquide Finance in March 2017, which was partially offset by the effect of a favorable foreign exchange remeasurement amounting to €0.2 billion, L'Air Liquide's consolidated total borrowings did not represent any significant change as compared to 31 December 2016.

L'Air Liquide's total borrowings is defined as shown in Note 25 to L'Air Liquide's audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2016.

#### 6. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

L'Air Liquide publishes annual consolidated financial statements and statutory accounts, which are audited by its statutory auditors.

L'Air Liquide also publishes semi-annual consolidated financial statements in respect of which L'Air Liquide's statutory auditors carry out a limited review.

The current joint statutory auditors of L'Air Liquide are Ernst & Young et Autres and PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit ("PwC").

PwC was appointed as statutory auditor of L'Air Liquide pursuant to the approval of the shareholders' meeting held on 12 May 2016 for six years ending at the time of the shareholders' meeting approving L'Air Liquide's financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2021, to replace Mazars whose term ended following the shareholders' meeting approving L'Air Liquide's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.

# 7. NO CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS

There are no potential conflicts of interests between any duties to L'Air Liquide of the members of the administrative and management bodies of L'Air Liquide and their private interests and/or other duties.

# RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF L'AIR LIQUIDE SINCE 1 JANUARY 2017

• On 5 January 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

"Healthcare: Air Liquide announces the acquisition of Serdex to enlarge its offer of natural active ingredients: Air Liquide announces that its subsidiary Seppic, designer and supplier of specialty ingredients for health and beauty, recently finalized the acquisition of the Serdex division of Bayer. This acquisition strengthens Seppic's footprint in natural active ingredients for cosmetics.

The global specialty active ingredients for cosmetics represent a market over ⊕00 million, of which natural active ingredients are a fast growing segment. Building on the 2013 acquisition of BiotechMarine, specialized in natural substances for cosmetics manufacturers, the acquisition of Serdex adds new natural ingredients to Seppic's portfolio, increasing its offer to meet the expectations of consumers for natural products.

Serdex, the specialist of botanical active ingredients for dermo-cosmetics and skin treatment, with a turnover of €8 million in 2015, has joined Seppic with its 40 employees, based in South-West France, Pau. Serdex brings to Seppic its expertise in high purity extraction, in sourcing of exotic plants, and its knowledge of Malagasy plants notably.

François Jackow, member of the Air Liquide group's Executive Committee, supervising the Healthcare activities, said: "We warmly welcome Serdex teams. With this acquisition, Air Liquide strengthens its position in the market of active ingredients of natural origin, meeting the high and increasing demand of consumers for these ingredients. The complementarity of Serdex and Seppic allows us to widen our know-how to better serve our beauty care customers and continue the development of this eco-responsibly sourced active ingredients activity.""

• On 9 January 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

"Air Liquide strengthens its long-term partnership with ArcelorMittal in France and Benelux: Air Liquide and ArcelorMittal, the world's largest steel producer, have recently signed two long-term renewal contracts for the supply of oxygen, nitrogen and argon to ArcelorMittal's production sites in the industrial port areas of Fos-sur-Mer and Dunkirk in France. Air Liquide also strengthens its position in Belgium in Ghent, by signing a new long-term supply contract with ArcelorMittal in order to support the growth of its industrial gas needs. In the frame of this new contract, Air Liquide will extend its pipeline network in Benelux, Oxygen, nitrogen and argon are needed for many applications in the steel industry, ranging from the air enrichment of blast furnaces to oxygen-based steel production processes. Argon in particular is used in the production of high quality steel. The use of these gases makes it possible to improve the efficiency and the energy performance of steelworks, while reducing atmospheric emissions. The ArcelorMittal facilities in Fos-sur-Mer, Dunkirk and Ghent manufacture high value added steel for the automotive, construction and packaging industries as well as other industrial applications. Air Liquide already supplies Dunkirk and Fos-sur-Mer facilities from its existing pipeline network in Benelux and France. Thanks to the new contract just signed, the plant in Ghent will be also connected to the Air Liquide Benelux pipeline network. Air Liquide pipeline networks are connected to several air separation units (ASUs) ensuring reliability, performance and supply flexibility needed for ArcelorMittal. In total Air Liquide currently operates a pipeline network stretching 4,700 kilometers in Europe, the world's most extensive network. Guy Salzgeber, Senior Vice-President and member of the Air Liquide Group's Executive Committee supervising Europe Industries, said: "We are delighted to be reinforcing our relationship with ArcelorMittal, a strategic customer for the Group. Air Liquide demonstrates its ability to continue capitalizing on existing high performance assets -in particular its European pipeline- and to develop them. This new step illustrates Air Liquide's ability to support the shift in the European steel industry to high value added steel. Our longstanding collaboration with ArcelorMittal will also help us reinforce our presence in several major industrial basins in France and Belgium."

• On 17 January 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

# "New "Hydrogen Council" launches in Davos: 13 global industry leaders join together in promoting hydrogen to help meet climate goals

Davos, Switzerland – 17th January 2017: Thirteen leading energy, transport and industry companies have today launched a global initiative to voice a united vision and long-term ambition for hydrogen to foster the energy transition.

In the first global initiative of its kind, the 'Hydrogen Council' is determined to position hydrogen among the key solutions of the energy transition. Hydrogen is a versatile energy carrier with favourable characteristics since it does not release any CO2 at the point of use as a clean fuel or energy source, and can

play an important role in the transition to a clean, low-carbon, energy system. Hydrogen technologies and products have significantly progressed over past years and are now being introduced to the market. The Council will work with, and provide recommendations to, a number of key stakeholders such as policy makers, business and hydrogen players, international agencies and civil society to achieve these goals.

During the launch, members of the 'Hydrogen Council' confirmed their ambition to accelerate their significant investment in the development and commercialization of the hydrogen and fuel cell sectors. These investments currently amount to an estimated total value of €1.4 Bn/year¹. This acceleration will be possible if the key stakeholders increase their backing of hydrogen as part of the future energy mix with appropriate policies and supporting schemes.

Meeting in Davos for the first time on Tuesday, the 'Hydrogen Council' is currently made up of 13 CEOs and Chairpersons from various industries and energy companies committed to help achieve the ambitious goal of reaching the 2 degrees Celsius target as agreed in the 2015 Paris Agreement. The international companies currently involved are: Air Liquide, Alstom, Anglo American, BMW GROUP, Daimler, ENGIE, Honda, Hyundai Motor, Kawasaki, Royal Dutch Shell, The Linde Group, Total and Toyota. The Council is led by two Co-Chairs from different geographies and sectors, currently represented by Air Liquide and Toyota.

"The 2015 Paris Agreement to combat climate change is a significant step in the right direction but requires business action to be taken to make such a pledge a reality. The Hydrogen Council brings together some of the world's leading industrial, automotive and energy companies with a clear ambition to explain why hydrogen emerges among the key solutions for the energy transition, in the mobility as well as in the power, industrial and residential sectors, and therefore requires the development of new strategies at a scale to support this. But we cannot do it alone. We need governments to back hydrogen with actions of their own – for example through large-scale infrastructure investment schemes. Our call today to world leaders is to commit to hydrogen so that together we can meet our shared climate ambitions and give further traction to the emerging Hydrogen ecosystem." Benoît Potier, CEO, Air Liquide.

"The Hydrogen Council will exhibit responsible leadership in showcasing hydrogen technology and its benefits to the world. It will seek collaboration, cooperation and understanding from governments, industry and most importantly, the public. At Toyota, we have always tried to play a leading role in environmental and technological advances in the automotive industry, including through the introduction of fuel cell vehicles. Moreover, we know that in addition to transportation, hydrogen has the potential to support our transition to a low carbon society across multiple industries and the entire value chain. The Hydrogen Council aims to actively encourage this transition." Takeshi Uchiyamada, Chairman, Toyota.

A report entitled 'How Hydrogen empowers the energy transition<sup>2</sup>' - commissioned by the Hydrogen Council – further details this future potential that hydrogen is ready to provide, and sets out the vision of the Council and the key actions it considers fundamental for policy makers to implement, to fully unlock and empower the contribution of hydrogen to the energy transition.

As global companies from major energy and industrial sectors, it is part of the corporate responsibility to provide solutions to manage the energy transition and move forward to a lowcarbon, sustainable economy: joint action is required to tackle this formidable challenge. This is why we invite governments and key society stakeholders to also acknowledge the contribution of hydrogen to the energy transition and to work with us to create an effective implementation plan.

The members of the Hydrogen Council collectively represent total revenues of  $\leq 1.07$  trillion and 1.72 million employees around the world<sup>3</sup>.

• On 24 January 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

"Home Healthcare acquisition in Colombia: Air Liquide is expanding its home healthcare business in South America with the acquisition of Oxymaster, a national sector player in Colombia. Present in the Colombian market for almost 20 years, Oxymaster is specialized in home treatment and support for patients suffering from respiratory conditions (sleep apnea, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, chronic respiratory failure). Oxymaster has more than 240 employees and serves over 21,000 patients. The company generated revenues of approximately  $\Theta$  million in 2016. South America's third-largest economy, Colombia enjoys strong growth potential and has a robust healthcare system and social welfare coverage reaching more than 90% of the population. This acquisition, made via a majority equity stake, marks Air Liquide's entry into a new territory with high potential for its Healthcare activities. The Group will call on the existing teams to continue developing the company's business. Air Liquide is already a major player in home

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> How Hydrogen empowers the energy transition, Report, 2017, Hydrogen Council

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> www.hydrogencouncil.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Company figures from financial years 2015 and 2016"

healthcare in South America, notably in Brazil, Argentina and Chile. François Jackow, member of the Air Liquide Group's Executive Committee, supervising the Healthcare activities, said: "Taking our Healthcare activities into Colombia allows us to develop our business in South America in a growing market that benefits from an advanced health system. The acquisition of Oxymaster, recognized for its know-how in treatment of respiratory diseases and the expertise of its teams, fits well with Air Liquide's strategy of developing its Home Healthcare activity."

• On 26 January 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

"Digital transformation: inauguration of the first remote operation center for Air Liquide units in France: Air Liquide inaugurated today in France, in the frame of the Connect project, an operation center that is unique in the industrial gas sector. It enables the remote management of production for 22 of the Group's units in France, optimizing their energy consumption and improving their reliability. With "technological showcase" certification from the Industry of the Future Alliance<sup>1</sup>, Connect represents an investment of 20 million<sup>2</sup>. This project is based on the implementation of new digital technologies at French production sites and on the creation of new skills.

Like a control tower, the remote operation and optimization center, located near Lyon, in Saint-Priest, has a nationwide vision of customer needs for oxygen, nitrogen, argon and hydrogen. Capable of **stopping or restarting a site remotely**, the center adapts the production level of the plants according to customer demand. Thanks to this center, the workflows of each unit are adapted **in real time to the needs of each customer**. The volume of production and the delivery of gases to customers are optimized throughout the country.

Through the analysis of **big data** 24/7 for **22 sites in France**, Air Liquide is developing **predictive maintenance** for production sites by identifying the weak signals that precede a malfunction. **Algorithms** devised by Air Liquide engineers are used to fine-tune equipment adjustments in plants in order to **optimize energy consumption**, leveraging nearly 15 years of data gathered from all industrial sites.

In the plants, new technologies (touch tablets, 3D scanning, video tutorials, etc.) are also being introduced to simplify maintenance and inspection management operations and the organization of daily tasks for operators.

The remote operation and optimization center has given rise to new skills: "real-time pilots" who are in constant contact with sites and "analysts" who study the production and optimization of energy consumption.

With the creation of the operating center and the introduction of new technologies into the daily work of production unit technicians, Connect is part of Air Liquide's **open innovation** approach between production sites teams, i-Lab, the innovation lab of Air Liquide, and the French ecosystem of **technology start-ups**.

**Guy Salzgeber**, Senior Vice-President and member of the Air Liquide Group's Executive Committee supervising Europe Industries, said: "We are proud to implement the first industrial gases remote operation center, which contribute to strengthen the Group's competitiveness. The Group's digital transformation is taking a new step, enabling Air Liquide to even better anticipate the needs of its industrial customers while strengthening the reliability of its production units."

• On 15 February 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

"2016 Annual Results: Solid performance in 2016 after Airgas integration: Increase in revenue, net profit, and earnings per share: Commenting on the 2016 results, Benoît Potier, Chairman and CEO of Air Liquide, stated: "With the acquisition of Airgas, a major achievement of the past year, the Group has taken a major step forward in its geographic expansion and the extension of its markets. Its performance in 2016, which includes Airgas for a portion of the year, is solid with an increase in revenue, net profit, and net earnings per share despite unfavorable currency and energy effects. In the context of moderate global growth, activity was buoyed by higher volumes in Large Industries, the strength of the Healthcare sector, and the promising markets served by the new entity Global Markets & Technologies. All geographies are growing on a comparable basis, benefiting from stronger growth in developing economies. The Group continues to deliver efficiency gains, to which are added this year the first Airgas synergies. The balance sheet is strong, reinforced by solid growth in cash flow and success of the capital increase, thus containing the debt below our forecasts. With the integration of Airgas and the launch of the NEOS program for the period 2016-2020, Air Liquide is implementing its transformation, which combines targeted industrial investments, digital development, and innovations to fuel growth in the coming years. Assuming a comparable environment, Air Liquide is confident in its ability to deliver net profit growth in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Industry of the Future Alliance (Alliance Industrie du Futur) brings together professionals from industry and digital fields

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Air Liquide investment decision in the first half of 2016"

2017". Consolidated revenue in 2016 reached €18,135 million, an increase of +14.6% on a reported basis<sup>1</sup>, as compared with 2015, integrating the consolidation of sales from Airgas since May 23, 2016. It was up +18.2% excluding the impact of currency (-1.4%) and energy (-2.2%). In the fourth quarter of 2016, both the currency and energy impact were slightly positive. On a comparable basis<sup>2</sup>, Group revenue in 2016 was up +0.9% as compared with 2015, impacted by lower Engineering and Construction revenue. Gas & Services revenue for 2016, which reached €17,331 million, rose by +17.5% on a reported basis versus 2015, and by +21.3% excluding the impact of currency and energy. On a comparable basis, revenue grew by +2.7%. Developing economies posted solid growth in 2016, with Gas & Services revenue up +8.0% on a comparable basis. Overall, all businesses of Gas & Services revenue rose on a comparable basis, with the exception of Industrial Merchant, which remains contrasted: Large Industries, with revenue up +5.4% in 2016, grew across all geographies, benefiting from start-ups and ramp-ups of production units primarily located in Germany, Poland, Americas, and China. Sales were also driven in the first quarter of 2016 by the contribution of the two hydrogen production units at the Yanbu site, which started up in the second quarter of 2015. The fourth quarter was marked by several temporary turnarounds of customer units for planned maintenance operations, by high air gas demand, especially in the United States, and exceptional revenue linked to a contract in Europe. Following the acquisition of Airgas, Industrial Merchant revenue rose by nearly +45% in 2016. Excluding Airgas, this activity was down -1.6% on a comparable basis. The situation for Industrial Merchant remains contrasted by country and by market segment. In Europe, sales were stable in 2016, supported by increasing bulk volumes, relatively solid demand in France, Spain, and the United Kingdom, and high demand in Poland and Russia. The cylinder business, which was generally weak in 2016, showed some signs of improvement at the end of the year. In North America, energy and metal fabrication markets are down as compared with 2015, while Agri-Food and Pharmaceuticals are growing. In Asia-Pacific, sales in Japan, down over 12 months, recorded a slight increase in the second half of 2016, while China posted solid growth over the full year and strong growth in the fourth quarter. Overall, the price effect over the year is slightly positive at +0.5% in a globally low inflation environment. In the fourth quarter, there was higher price leverage (+0.9%) globally. For Electronics, up +4.3% in 2016, sales in the first half of the year were strong. The second half was slower and was marked in particular by slower sales of Equipment and Installations and by a comparison basis that was unfavorable as compared with 2015 due to the exceptionally high price of neon in 2015. Over the full year, growth was driven by China, Singapore, and Taiwan. It was also driven by solid sales of carrier gases in Asia and continued strong overall demand for Advanced Materials, with sales growth of nearly +20% in 2016. Healthcare revenue was up +11.2% including the contribution of Airgas via its sales of Medical Gases to hospitals. On a comparable basis, sales were up a solid +4.9%, benefiting from strong demand for Home Healthcare services and robust Hygiene sales (+15.1%). Revenue rose in all geographies, including at double digit for the developing economies. Engineering and Construction revenue, at €474 million, was down sharply (-38.0%) on a comparable basis versus 2015, adversely impacted by the slowdown in large-scale projects related to energy and by the low number of new projects. Revenue from Global Markets & Technologies reached €330 million, up +13.6% on a comparable basis. Growth was primarily driven by Space, Biogas, and Maritime businesses.

The Group, which continues to reinforce its competitiveness, generated recurrent efficiency gains totaling € 315 million in 2016. This high level is in line with the target, as of 2017, of more than €300 million on average per year of the NEOS plan. In addition to these efficiencies, the first synergies related to Airgas reached 45 million USD in 2016. As a reminder, Air Liquide is forecasting a total of more than 300 million USD of synergies with Airgas, including all cost synergies (a total of more than 200 million USD) before the end of 2018. Operating income recurring rose by +5.9% to €3,024 million. The Group's operating margin at 16.7%, reflects the effect of the Airgas consolidation. As announced in the first half of 2016, the capital gains on the sale of business assets in the United States required by the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) offset the one-off costs incurred in relation to the acquisition of Airgas. Net profit (Group share) totaled €1,844 million, up +5.0%, and net earnings per share, after taking into account the dilution related to the capital increase, increased by +2.4%, in line with the guidance. Cash flow before change in Working Capital Requirements (WCR) reached €3,523 million, which is 19.4% of the year's total revenue. Net cash flow from operating activities, after change in WCR, increased by +30.5% compared with 2015 and reached 20.4% of sales. Net debt stood at €15,368 million on December 31, 2016. The excellent cash flow and the capital increase with preferential subscription rights achieved in late September 2016 helped to reduce debt in the second half of the year. The debt-to-equity ratio was lowered to 90% at the end of the year, exceeding forecasts. The return on capital employed after tax (ROCE) stood at 7.8%. ROCE, calculated by consolidating the Airgas acquisition over the full year, is estimated at 6.9%. The Group's target, set as part of its NEOS program, is to reach again ROCE above 10% in the next 5 to 6 years.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Excluding Welding and Diving, restated as discontinued operations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Estimated comparable: excluding significant scope (Airgas), currency and energy (natural gas and electricity) impact.

# Performance in 2016

In millions of euros		2016/2015 Reported	2016/2015 Excluding currency and energy impact	2016/2015 Comparable <sup>1</sup>
Group revenue <sup>2</sup>	18,135 M€	+14.6%	+18.2%	+0.9%
o/w Gas & Services	17,331 M€	+17.5%	+21.3%	+2.7%
Operating Income Recurring <sup>2</sup>	3,024 M€	+5.9%	*	*
Net profit (Group share)	1,844 M€	+5.0%	-	-
Net debt as of 12/31/2016 <sup>2</sup>	15,368 M€			

1Estimated comparable: excluding significant scope (Airgas), currency and energy (natural gas and electricity) impact.

2Excluding Welding and Diving, restated as discontinued operations.

Air Liquide's Board of Directors, which met on February 14, 2017, approved the audited financial statements for fiscal year 2016. A report with an unqualified opinion is being issued by the Statutory Auditors. At the next Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board of Directors will propose the payment of a dividend totaling 2.60 euros per share. Taking into account the restatement related to the rights issue, the dividend increases by +2.7%. The ex-dividend date has been set for May 15, 2017 and payment scheduled for May 17, 2017. Furthermore, the Board of Directors decided the attribution in the second half of 2017 of 1 free share for 10 existing. The Board also approved the draft resolutions that will be submitted to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on May 3, 2017, in particular: The reappointment for a four-year term of Mr. Thierry Peugeot, a member of the Board of Directors of the Company since 2005. The appointment of one new Board member, for a term of four years, Mr. Xavier Huillard. Mr. Xavier Huillard, Chairman and CEO of Vinci, will bring to the Board his experience as the CEO of a large multinational company. The Board of Directors has noted that the term of office of Mr. Thierry Desmarest will expire at the end of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of May 3, 2017, in accordance with the Board of Directors' internal regulations. Thierry Desmarest has been a member of the Board since 1999 and has provided extensive experience and expertise in many areas for the Board, where he had served as Lead Director since 2014. The Board warmly thanked him for his outstanding contribution to the development of Air Liquide throughout the years, The Board further advised that it intends to appoint Mr. Jean-Paul Agon as Lead Director as of that date. Mr. Pierre Dufour also announced his decision to assert his retirement rights in 2017 and not to seek the renewal of his term as Senior Executive Vice-President, which expires following the General Meeting of May 3, 2017. The Board of Directors warmly thanked him for his commitment and outstanding contribution to the Group's development during the 10 years at the General Management and in particular in the context of the acquisition of Airgas. He will remain a Director of the Company within the framework of the term of office renewed at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on May 12, 2016, and will also retain his role as a Board member of Airgas. At the end of the Annual General Meeting on May 3, 2017, the Board of Directors will be composed of 12 members, 11 of them elected and one Director representing the employees. The Board will be composed of five women and six board members who are foreign nationals. In addition, the Board set executive compensation for 2016 and 2017, details of which will be published on the Air Liquide's website. In line with the recommendations of the Afep/Medef Code, 2016 executive compensation is subject, as was the case last year, to the opinion of shareholders under two specific resolutions. This year, for the first time, shareholders will also be asked to approve the principles and criteria for determining the remuneration of Executive Officers, applicable from 1 January 2017, in accordance with the new Sapin 2 law. Lastly, the Board of Directors decided to set up a fourth specialized committee to examine environmental and societal issues in 2017."

# • On 16 February 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following information:

"Air Liquide: Share buyback: Air Liquide (Paris:AI) (Paris:AI) signed a share purchase agreement with a financial institution in the context of its Share Buyback Program, which was approved at the Combined Shareholders' Meeting of the Company on May 12th, 2016. The terms of the agreement, signed on February 16th, 2017, set a volume of 1,500,000 Air Liquide shares (representing 0.38% of the share capital of the Group as of 31/12/2016) for a maximum price that shall not exceed the limits authorized by the Combined Shareholders' Meeting of May 12th, 2016 and the Board of Directors Meeting held on February 14th, 2017 (i.e. €165 per share). The shares purchased pursuant to this agreement shall be cancelled by the Company. Details on the Share Buyback Programme can be found in the 2015 Reference Document (Chapter 5 - Board

of Directors' Report on the resolutions presented to the Shareholders' Meeting), which is available on the Company's website (https://www.airliquide.com/investors/documents-presentations)."

• On 2 March 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following information:

"Air Liquide Issues €600 Million of Bonds: The Group has issued a Eurobond with the following characteristics:

• Amount: €600 million

Issuer: Air Liquide Finance, guaranteed by L'Air Liquide SA

Maturity: March 8, 2027Settlement: March 8, 2017

• Format: Fixed rate, repayment at maturity

• Coupon: 1,00% p.a.

This transaction, issued under the Group's €12 billion Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) programme, allowed the issue of a €600 million bond with a 10-year maturity at a yield of 1.116%. This recent transaction brings the total outstanding amount of bonds issued to this day to approximately €15.2 billion, with an average maturity of 6.8 years.

Proceeds from this bond will allow the Group to refinance its two bonds maturing in June and July 2017, and to continue funding its long term profitable growth while benefiting from very attractive market conditions. The Group's capital structure remains very solid and this operation further strengthens the liquidity of the Group.

This issue will be rated A- by Standard & Poor's and A-3 by Moody's."

• On 2 March 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

"Air Liquide enters into exclusive negotiations with Lincoln Electric to sell its Air Liquide Welding subsidiary: Air Liquide announces it has entered into exclusive negotiations with Lincoln Electric Holdings, Inc. ("Lincoln Electric") (Nasdaq: LECO), the world leader in design, development and manufacture of arc welding products, robotic arc welding systems, plasma and oxy-fuel cutting equipment, to sell Air Liquide Welding, its subsidiary specializing in the manufacture of welding and cutting technologies. The transaction is subject to the final and definitive agreement between the parties and customary conditions and provisions, in particular the "information-consultation" process with the employee representative bodies and the competition authorities' approval. Air Liquide is focused on its Gas & Services activities following the acquisition of Airgas, as well as on the implementation of its company program NEOS for the 2016-2020 period."

• On 3 March 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

"Sitution in Donbass, Ukraine: Following recent decisions of the DNR - self-proclaimed Donetsk People's Republic - establishing its administrative control over some Ukrainian companies (including Air Liquide Yenakievo) operating in the Donbass region, Air Liquide is no longer able to continue its remaining activities in that region. The security of our employees as well as compliance with applicable Ukrainian and international laws remain our priorities.

**Air Liquide in Ukraine:** Air Liquide has been present in Ukraine since 1992 through its Engineering and Construction activity. In 2011, Air Liquide started the production and selling of industrial gases. In the Donbass, Air Liquide owns an oxygen production unit dedicated to supply one steel customer. This activity is not significant given the size of the Group's activities in Europe."

• On 6 April 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

"Air Liquide signs a long term contract with major petroleum group in Oman: Air Liquide and Oman Oil Refineries and Petroleum Industries Company (Orpic), Oman's national refining company, recently signed a long term agreement for the supply of nitrogen to the Liwa Plastics Industries Complex (LPIC), a new plastics production complex including the country's first steam cracker Orpic is adding to its existing production facilities, in Sohar industrial port area in Oman. Investing around €20 million to build a state-of-the-art nitrogen production unit with a total capacity of 500 tonnes of nitrogen per day, Air Liquide will strengthen its leadership position in a key industrial area to support the growth of its customer Orpic. Expected to start operations in the first quarter of 2019, the new nitrogen plant, along with the expansion of Air Liquide's existing pipeline network, will supply nitrogen for the customer's plastics production complex expanding to a capacity of polyethylene and polypropylene of 1.4 million tonnes per year. Those plastics components are needed for many applications in derived products from petroleums

such as packaging industries as well as other industrial applications. The nitrogen production unit will be designed and built by Air Liquide's Engineering and Construction teams using cutting edge technologies and bringing its world class expertise. It will be owned and operated by Air Liquide Sohar Industrial Gases Company. François Jackow, member of the Air Liquide Group's Executive Committee, supervising Africa, Middle East and India, said: "We are pleased to strengthen our relationship with a strategic petrochemical player such as Orpic. Air Liquide demonstrates its ability to continue capitalizing on its existing assets, such as its pipeline network located in the most dynamic industrial basin of Sohar. With this new nitrogen supply contract, Air Liquide will support the development of the petrochemical industry in Oman." Christiaan van der Wouden, Chief Operating Officer of Orpic, said: "Orpic is pleased to expand its collaboration with Air Liquide and to secure the highest competitive, reliable and safe supply of nitrogen to the Liwa plastics Industries Complex (LPIC) project, which is critical to the development of a downstream plastics industry in Oman.""

• On 27 April 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

"Air Liquide signed an agreement with Lincoln Electric for the sale of its Air Liquide Welding subsidiary: Air Liquide announces it signed today an agreement with Lincoln Electric France SAS, subsidiary of Lincoln Electric Holdings, Inc. ("Lincoln Electric") (Nasdaq: LECO), to sell Air Liquide Welding, its subsidiary specialized in the manufacture of welding and cutting technologies. This agreement follows the exclusive negotiations agreement announced on March 2<sup>nd</sup> 2017 with Lincoln Electric, the world leader in design, development and manufacture of arc welding products, robotic arc welding systems, plasma and oxy-fuel cutting equipment.

The completion of the transaction is subject to obtaining the usual regulatory approvals, including competition authorities' approval.

Both parties expect the transaction to be completed in the second half of 2017.

Air Liquide is focused on its Gas & Services activities following the acquisition of Airgas, as well as on the implementation of its company program NEOS for the 2016-2020 period."

• On 28 April 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following information:

"Air Liquide: Share buyback: The share purchase agreement signed by Air Liquide (Paris: Al) on February 16th 2017 with a financial institution (cf statement http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20170216006084/en/Air-Liquide%C2%A0Share-buyback) has matured as of 28/04/2017.

Under this agreement and in the context of its Share Buyback Program, as authorized by the Combined Shareholders Meeting of May 12th, 2016, the Company repurchased 1,500,000 Air Liquide shares (representing 0.38% of the share capital of the Group as of 31/12/2016) for a price of 104.8526 € The shares so purchased will be cancelled by the Company."

• On 3 May 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

"Combined Shareholders' Meeting of May 3rd, 2017: Commenting on fiscal year 2016 and the Group's growth outlook, Benoît Potier, Chairman and CEO, stated: "In 2016, the Group took a major step forward in its geographic development and the expansion of its markets with the acquisition of Airgas. Its 2016 performance was solid and a sound balance sheet was preserved. Air Liquide is fully on track and focused on completing the integration of Airgas and achieving the expected synergies. The Group also continues to implement its customer-centric transformation strategy, which combines targeted investments, digital development and innovations. Thanks to its solid fundamentals and well-defined roadmap, to its committed teams, to the trust of its customers, and the support of its shareholders, the Group is confident in its ability to create long term value and contribute to a more sustainable world."

The Combined Shareholders' Meeting of Air Liquide, chaired by Benoît Potier, the Company's Chairman and CEO, in the presence of the members of the Board of Directors, was attended by 3,874 people on Wednesday, May 3, 2017, at the Palais des Congrès in Paris. The shareholders, who represented 49.9% of the voting rights, i.e. 131,121 shareholders in attendance or represented by proxy, approved all of the resolutions that were submitted.

The **proposed dividend**, with an ex-date of **May 15** and a payment date of **May 17, 2017**, **was approved**: it will be **2.60** € **per share** and 2.86 € per share for shareholders who are eligible for the loyalty bonus. A **free share attribution**, equal to one free share for every 10 held, will take place in the second half of 2017.

The Shareholders approved the reappointment of board member Mr. Thierry Peugeot and appointed Mr. Xavier Huillard to the Board, each for a term of four years. The Board of Directors is now composed of 12 members, including 5 women, and 6 members who are not French. The current composition of the

Board offers a complementary mix of experience, nationalities and cultures, and reflects the diversity policy conducted by the Group.

In addition, the Shareholders expressed a **favorable opinion** on the remuneration of the company's executive officers for fiscal year 2016 in connection with two specific resolutions. The Shareholders also approved the principles and criteria for determining the remuneration of the company's executive officers, applicable starting in 2017, in accordance with the new Sapin 2 Law.

Meeting at the end of the Combined Shareholders' Meeting, the Board of Directors designated **Mr. Jean-Paul Agon** to serve as **Lead Director of the Board**. In addition, the Board decided to form a **new Committee, in charge of environmental and societal issues**, which will be chaired by **Mr. Pierre Dufour**. The amended Internal Regulations of the Board of Directors, including in particular the formation of this Committee, will be published on the Company's website.

Lastly, on the recommendation of the Appointments and Governance Committee, the Board appointed the following individuals to serve on its committees, resulting in the composition indicated below, effective as of today:

- Audit and Accounts Committee: Ms. Siân Herbert-Jones (Chairwoman), Ms. Sin-Leng Low, Mr. Thierry Peugeot, Mr. Brian Gilvary
- Appointments and Governance Committee: Mr. Jean-Paul Agon (Chairman), Ms. Annette Winkler, Ms. Karen Katen
- Remuneration Committee: Mr. Jean-Paul Agon (Chairman), Mr. Xavier Huillard, Ms. Annette Winkler
- **Environment and Society Committee**: Mr. Pierre Dufour (Chairman), Ms. Geneviève Berger, Mr. Philippe Dubrulle

In compliance with the Afep-Medef Code, a disclosure pertaining to the financial terms and conditions of the retirement of Mr. Pierre Dufour will be published on the company's website.

The entire Shareholders' Meeting can be viewed as a webcast on www.airliquide.com.

# Air Liquide share ownership (as of December 31, 2016):

- 33% of the capital held by individual shareholders
- 47% of the capital held by non-French institutional investors
- 20% of the capital held by French institutional investors."
- On 30 May 2017, L'Air Liquide published the following press release:

"Air Liquide wins a major engineering and construction contract with Yankuang Group, a large energy company in China: Air Liquide Engineering & Construction has recently signed a major contract amounting around €100 million to design and built three Air Separation Units (ASUs) for Yankuang Group, one of the largest energy and chemical companies in China.

Air Liquide Engineering & Construction will design and build for Yankuang Group, three new Air Separation Units, each of them with a production capacity of 3,200 tonnes per day of oxygen, plus nitrogen for the production of methanol-based chemicals, an additive widely used in the energy industry to increase combustion efficiency of hydrocarbon. As part of Yankuang's major technological upgrading program, two units will be delivered to Rongxin site in Inner Mongolia and the third unit will be delivered to Yulin site in Shaanxi province in China.

The new ASUs will be built by using Air Liquide's latest innovative technologies expertise and best in class standards to ensure a safe, optimized and reliable operation of the plants. All three ASUs will start operation in the **second half of 2019**.

Founded in 1966, Yankuang Group is listed among China's Top 500 Enterprises. Air Liquide Engineering & Construction has a long term partnership with Yankuang Group. Two ASUs have been delivered since 2003 and are currently fully operational.

François Venet, member of the Air Liquide group's Executive Committee supervising Engineering & Construction, said: "We are pleased to continue our partnership with Yankuang Group and support their business development. This milestone illustrates our expertise in oxygen production technologies notably, with the highest safety and low energy consumption solutions.""

# **DESCRIPTION OF AIR LIQUIDE FINANCE**

#### 1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Air Liquide Finance ("Air Liquide Finance") is a French société anonyme registered with the Registre du commerce et des sociétés of Paris under number 428 711 949. Its registered office is at 6, rue Cognacq Jay, 75007 Paris, France and its phone number is + 33 1 40 62 55 55.

Air Liquide Finance was incorporated on 23 December 1999 under the laws of France and has a term expiring on 23 December 2098. It is governed by Articles L.210-1 and following of the French *Code de commerce*.

Air Liquide Finance is a wholly owned subsidiary of L'Air Liquide.

As of 31 December 2016, Air Liquide Finance's issued share capital amounted to 72,000,000 euros represented by 6,000,000 ordinary shares of 12 euros nominal value each. Air Liquide Finance's share capital has not changed since that date.

Legal name and commercial name: Air Liquide Finance

#### 2. CORPORATE PURPOSE

Air Liquide Finance was created to carry out certain financial activities in connection with the funding of the Air Liquide Group. Air Liquide Finance's role is to raise funds in the capital markets or in the bank market, and to lend the proceeds to Air Liquide Group subsidiaries. Air Liquide Finance can issue notes, *inter alia*, under a French Commercial Paper Programme of 3 billion euros guaranteed by L'Air Liquide and under this Programme. In addition, its wholly-owned subsidiary Delaware limited company Air Liquide U.S. LLC, is the issuer under a US Commercial Paper Programme of 2 billion U.S. Dollars guaranteed by L'Air Liquide.

Since 2001, Air Liquide Finance has taken on the financing, treasury management and management of the interest rate, foreign exchange and commodities risks activities for the Air Liquide Group.

Air Liquide Finance's corporate purpose, as per article 2 of its articles of association, is summarised below and comprises:

- the performance of treasury operations with companies of the Air Liquide Group, in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 511-7(3) of the Monetary and Financial Code (*Code monétaire et financier*) or of any other applicable legal provisions, by having recourse to the financial markets and within the framework of a centralized management of financing and treasury; these operations could be carried out in particular by means of loans (either as lender or borrower), hedging of foreign exchange rate and by the issuance of securities or sureties,
- the direct or indirect participation in all businesses and industrial, financial or commercial companies, by way of setting-up new companies, contributions, subscription or purchase of titles or social rights, mergers, unregistered partnership or others, and all operations of alienation, exchange or others, relating to the aforementioned titles, social rights and participations,
- the deposit, exploitation, purchase, sale of all patents, models, marks and of all industrial property rights being attached directly or indirectly to the activity of Air Liquide Finance; the concession or acquisition of all user licenses and all rights of this nature,

and generally, all financial, commercial, movable and real estate transactions being attached directly or indirectly to the corporate purpose referred to above.

# 3. FINANCIAL INDEBTEDNESS

As of 31 December 2016, Air Liquide Finance external gross indebtedness amounted to €12,306.6 million. As of 30 April 2017, with the exception of (i) the €0.6 billion bond issue carried out by Air Liquide Finance in March 2017 and (ii) an increase in commercial paper amounting to €0.1 billion, the value of Air Liquide Finance's external gross indebtedness did not represent any significant change as compared to 31 December 2016.

Air Liquide Finance's external gross indebtedness is defined as the sum of the aggregates "other bonds" and "bank borrowings" as shown in Note 7 to Air Liquide Finance's audited statutory accounts as of and for the year ended 31 December 2016.

# 4. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Air Liquide Finance publishes annual statutory accounts, which are audited by its statutory auditor. Air Liquide Finance is not required to and does not publish semi-annual financial statements.

The current statutory auditor of Air Liquide Finance is PwC.

PwC was appointed as statutory auditor of Air Liquide Finance pursuant to the approval of the shareholders' meeting held on 19 December 2016 to replace Ernst & Young et Autres for the remaining term of its mandate (ie. following the shareholders' meeting approving Air Liquide Finance's statutory accounts for the year ended 31 December 2016). PwC was confirmed in its mandate by the shareholders' meeting held on 22 May 2017 for six years ending at the time of the shareholders' meeting approving Air Liquide Finance's statutory accounts for the year ending 31 December 2022.

### 5. MANAGEMENT

Air Liquide Finance is administered by a board of directors (*Conseil d'administration*) composed of at least three and no more than seven directors. Directors are elected annually by the shareholders and their terms are for one year. The board of directors elects a President from among its directors. The board of directors meets, on the President's invitation, every time the social interest requires it. The general management is run by the President of the board or by a managing director elected by the board of directors. A review committee may be created by the board in order to work on any query submitted to it by the board of directors or the President for advice purposes.

The Board of Directors of Air Liquide Finance is comprised of the following members:

Fabienne LECORVAISIER Director, Chairman and Chief executive officer

Professional address: 75 quai d'Orsay, 75007 Paris, France

Functions within L'Air Liquide Chief Financial Officer

Principal activities undertaken

outside L'Air Liquide

Director: American Air Liquide Holdings, Inc., Air Liquide

International, Air Liquide Eastern Europe, Air Liquide International

Corporation, SOAEO and SANOFI.

Chairman: Air Liquide US LLC

Alain LE BORGNE Director

Professional address: 75 quai d'Orsay, 75007 Paris, France

Functions within L'Air Liquide Deputy Group Finance Director

Principal activities undertaken

outside L'Air Liquide

Director: Chemoxal, LVL Medical Groupe, Gasoxmed – Gases Medicinais, S.A., AL Air Liquide España, S.A., Singapore Employment

Company Air Liquide Pte Ltd.

Director and Chairman: Air Liquide Services Partagés

Jacques MOLGO Director

Professional address: 75 quai d'Orsay, 75007 Paris, France

Functions within L'Air Liquide Group Financing and Treasury Director

Principal activities undertaken

outside L'Air Liquide

Director: Air Liquide Participations, Air Liquide Afrique and Orsay-Ré.

Manager : Air Liquide US LLC

Yves BATAILLON-DEBES Director

Professional address: 75 quai d'Orsay, 75007 Paris, France

Functions within L'Air Liquide Corporate Finance Director

Principal activities undertaken

outside L'Air Liquide

Director: Air Liquide Middle East, ALIAD, Horizon Specialty Leasing

Limited, Oilfield Hire and Services Limited and AL-RE.

Director, Chairman and Chief executive officer: AZERUS

# 6.

There are no poten administrative and and/or other duties	management or	nterests betwe supervisory	en any duties bodies of Ai	to Air Liqu r Liquide F	ide Finance inance and	of the member their private	ers of the interests

# **DESCRIPTION OF THE GUARANTEE**

#### 1. NATURE OF THE GUARANTEE

#### 1.1 Main Provisions

L'Air Liquide (the "Guarantor") granted through the execution of a guarantee agreement dated 3 June 2016 an irrevocable and unconditional guarantee (the "Guarantee") up to a maximum aggregate principal amount of €12,000,000,000 plus any amount of interest due under the Notes issued by Air Liquide Finance.

The Guarantor shall be liable under this Guarantee as if it was the sole principal issuer under the terms and conditions of the Notes issued by Air Liquide Finance. The Guarantor waives under the Guarantee any requirement that the Noteholder, in the event of any default in payment by the Issuer first makes demand upon or seeks to enforce remedies against the Issuer before seeking to enforce this Guarantee. Furthermore, for so long as any amount remains payable in respect of the Notes, the Guarantor will not exercise any right of subrogation against the Issuer pursuant to the Guarantee or take any other action that would result in asserting claims of the Guarantor at the same time as claims of the Noteholder.

# 1.2 Additional Provisions

The Guarantor will not be discharged under the Guarantee by the merger, dissolution or transfer of the assets of the Issuer. Moreover, if at any time when any amount remains payable in respect of the Notes, or if applicable, the coupons relating thereto, the Guarantor shall grant any mortgage (*hypothèque*), charge, pledge or other security interest (*sûreté réelle*) upon any of its assets or revenues, present or future to secure any Relevant Indebtedness (as defined in the terms and conditions of the Notes), incurred or guaranteed by it, the Guarantee shall be secured by the same ranking security.

#### 2. SCOPE OF THE GUARANTEE

The Guarantee shall secure the payment of interest and principal due under the Notes, when and as the same becomes due and payable (including any additional amounts required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the Notes), by Air Liquide Finance, whether at maturity, upon redemption by acceleration of maturity or otherwise. The Guarantor undertakes to pay any sum due under the Notes and unpaid by Air Liquide Finance in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Notes.

# 3. INFORMATION TO BE DISCLOSED ABOUT THE GUARANTOR

All material information about the Guarantor has been provided in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

# 4. DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY

The Guarantee may be obtained as described in paragraph 6 of the section headed "General Information" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

# **TAXATION**

The following is a general description of certain tax considerations relating to the Notes as in effect and as applied by the relevant tax authorities as at the date hereof, all of which are subject to change or to different interpretation with possible retroactive effect. This overview is for general information and does not purport to be a comprehensive discussion of the tax treatment of the Notes.

Prospective investors or beneficial owners of the Notes should consult their own professional advisers on the implications of making an investment in, holding or disposing of Notes and the receipt of principal, interest and other revenues with respect to such Notes under the laws of the countries in which they may be liable to taxation.

#### 1. LUXEMBOURG

Under Luxembourg tax law currently in effect and subject to the exception below, there is no Luxembourg withholding tax on payments of interest (including accrued but unpaid interest).

In accordance with the law of 23 December 2005, as amended, interest payments made by Luxembourg paying agents to Luxembourg resident individual beneficial owners are subject to a 20 per cent. withholding tax. Responsibility for withholding such tax will be assumed by the Luxembourg paying agent.

# 2. FRANCE

The following is a general description, based on the laws of France and their interpretation by the tax authorities as at the date hereof, all of which are subject to change or to different interpretation with possible retroactive effect. It specifically contains information on taxes on the income from the securities withheld at source that may be relevant to holders of Notes who do not concurrently hold shares of the Issuers.

Payments of principal, interest and other revenues made by L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance in their capacity as Issuer with respect to the Notes will not be subject to the withholding tax set out under Article 125 A III of the French *Code Général des Impôts* unless such payments are made outside France in a non-cooperative State or territory (Etat ou territoire non coopératif) within the meaning of Article 238-0 A of the French *Code Général des Impôts* (a "Non-Cooperative State"). If such payments under the Notes are made in a Non-Cooperative State, a 75 per cent. withholding tax will be applicable (subject to certain exceptions and to the more favourable provisions of any applicable double tax treaty) by virtue of Article 125 A III of the French *Code Général des Impôts*. The list of Non-Cooperative States is published by a ministerial executive order and is updated at least once a year.

Furthermore, according to Article 238 A of the French *Code Général des Impôts*, interest and other revenues on such Notes by L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance in their capacity as Issuer may not be deductible from the Issuer's taxable income, if they are paid or accrued to persons domiciled or established in a Non-Cooperative State or paid to a bank account opened in a financial institution established in such a Non-Cooperative State (subject to certain exceptions) (the "**Deductibility Exclusion**"). Under certain conditions, any such non-deductible interest and other revenues may be recharacterised as constructive dividends pursuant to Article 109 et seq. of the French *Code Général des Impôts*, in which case such non-deductible interest and other revenues may be subject to the withholding tax set out under Article 119 *bis* 2 of the French *Code Général des Impôts*, at a rate of 30 per cent. or 75 per cent. (subject to the more favourable provisions of any applicable double tax treaty).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the 75 per cent. withholding tax set out under Article 125 A III of the French *Code Général des Impôts* nor, to the extent that the relevant interest or other revenues relate to genuine transactions and are not in an abnormal or exaggerated amount, the Deductibility Exclusion (and therefore the withholding tax set out under Article 119 *bis* 2 of the French *Code Général des Impôts* that may be levied as a result of the Deductibility Exclusion) will apply in respect of a particular issue of Notes if L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance, as the case may be, can prove that the principal purpose and effect of such issue of Notes were not that of allowing the payments of interest or other revenues to be made in a Non-Cooperative State (the "Exception"). Pursuant to the French tax administrative guidelines (BOI-INT-DG-20-50-20140211, n°550 and 990, BOI-RPPM-RCM-30-10-20-40-20140211, n°70 and n°80, and BOI-IR-DOMIC-10-20-20-60-20150320, n°10), an issue of Notes will benefit from the Exception without the Issuer having to provide any proof of the purpose and effect of such issue of Notes, if such Notes are:

- (i) offered by means of a public offer within the meaning of Article L.411-1 of the French *Code monétaire et financier* or pursuant to an equivalent offer made in a State other than a Non-cooperative State. For this purpose, an "equivalent offer" means any offer requiring the registration or submission of an offer document by or with a foreign securities market authority; or
- (ii) admitted to trading on a regulated market or on a French or foreign multilateral securities trading system provided that such market or system is not located in a Non-Cooperative State, and the operation of

such market is carried out by a market operator or an investment services provider, or by such other similar foreign entity, provided further that such market operator, investment services provider or entity is not located in a Non-Cooperative State; or

(iii) admitted, at the time of their issue, to the operations of a central depositary or of a securities clearing and delivery and payments systems operator within the meaning of Article L.561-2 of the French *Code monétaire et financier*, or of one or more similar foreign depositaries or operators provided that such depositary or operator is not located in a Non-Cooperative State.

Where the paying agent (établissement payeur) is established in France, pursuant to Article 125 A of the French Code Général des Impôts, subject to certain limited exceptions, interest and similar income received by individuals who are fiscally domiciled in France are subject to a 24 per cent. withholding tax, which is deductible from their personal income tax liability in respect of the year in which the payment has been made. Social contributions (CSG, CRDS and other related contributions) are also levied by way of withholding tax at an aggregate rate of 15.5 per cent. on such interest and similar income received by individuals who are fiscally domiciled in France.

#### 3. HONG KONG

# 3.1 Withholding Tax

No withholding tax is payable in Hong Kong in respect of payments of principal or interest on the Notes or in respect of any capital gains arising from the sale of the Notes.

#### 3.2 Profits Tax

Hong Kong profits tax is chargeable on every person carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong in respect of profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from such trade, profession or business (excluding profits arising from the sale of capital assets).

Interest on the Notes may be deemed to be profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from a trade, profession or business carried on in Hong Kong in the following circumstances:

- (a) interest on the Notes is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a company, other than a financial institution (as defined in the Inland Revenue Ordinance), carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong;
- (b) interest on the Notes is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to a person, other than a company, carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong and is in respect of the funds of that trade, profession or business; or
- (c) interest on the Notes is received by or accrues to a financial institution (as defined in the Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap.112) of Hong Kong) and arises through or from the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong.

Sums derived from the sale, disposal or redemption of Notes will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax where received by or accrued to a person, other than a financial institution, from the carrying on of a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong and the sum has a Hong Kong source. The source of such sums will generally be determined by having regard to the manner in which the Notes are acquired and disposed of.

Sums received by or accrued to a financial institution by way of gains or profits arising through or from the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong from the sale, disposal or redemption of Notes will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax.

# 3.3 Stamp Duty

Stamp duty will not be payable on the issue of bearer Notes provided either:

- (a) such Notes are denominated in a currency other than the currency of Hong Kong and are not repayable in any circumstances in the currency of Hong Kong; or
- (b) such Notes constitute loan capital (as defined in the Stamp Duty Ordinance (Cap. 117) of Hong Kong, ("Stamp Duty Ordinance").

If stamp duty is payable it is payable by the Issuer on the issue of bearer Notes at a rate of 3 per cent. of the market value of the Notes at the time of issue. No stamp duty will be payable on any subsequent transfer of bearer Notes.

No stamp duty is payable on the issue of registered Notes. Stamp duty may be payable on any transfer of registered Notes if the relevant transfer is required to be registered in Hong Kong. Stamp duty will, however, not be payable on any transfer of registered Notes provided that either:

- (a) the registered Notes are denominated in a currency other than the currency of Hong Kong and are not repayable in any circumstances in the currency of Hong Kong; or
- (b) the registered Notes constitute loan capital (as defined in the Stamp Duty Ordinance).

If stamp duty is payable in respect of the transfer of registered Notes it will be payable at the rate of 0.2 per cent. (of which 0.1 per cent. is payable by the seller and 0.1 per cent. is payable by the purchaser) normally by reference to the consideration or its value, which is higher. In addition, stamp duty is payable at the fixed rate of HK\$5 on each instrument of transfer executed in relation to any transfer of the registered Notes if the relevant transfer is required to be registered in Hong Kong.

# 4. SUPPLY OF INFORMATION

Each Noteholder shall be responsible for supplying to the Paying Agent, in a timely manner, any information as may be required in order for it to comply with the identification and reporting obligations imposed on it by the Council Directive 2011/16/EU on administrative cooperation in the field of taxation (as amended by EU Council Directive 2014/107/EU).

# SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

#### 1. OVERVIEW OF AMENDED AND RESTATED DEALER AGREEMENT

Subject to the terms and on the conditions contained in an amended and restated dealer agreement dated 9 June 2017 (the "Amended and Restated Dealer Agreement") between L'Air Liquide, Air Liquide Finance, the Permanent Dealers and the Arranger, the Notes will be offered on a continuous basis to the Permanent Dealers. Each Issuer has reserved the right to sell Notes directly on its own behalf to Dealers that are not Permanent Dealers. The Notes may be resold at prevailing market prices, or at prices related thereto, at the time of such resale, as determined by the relevant Dealer. The Notes may also be sold by the relevant Issuer through the Dealers, acting as agents of such Issuer. The Amended and Restated Dealer Agreement also provides for Notes to be issued in syndicated Tranches that are jointly and severally underwritten by two or more Dealers.

L'Air Liquide and Air Liquide Finance will pay each relevant Dealer a commission as agreed between them in respect of Notes subscribed by it unless otherwise agreed. L'Air Liquide and Air Liquide Finance have agreed to reimburse the Arranger and the Permanent Dealers for certain of their expenses incurred in connection with the Programme and the Dealers for certain of their expenses incurred in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes.

L'Air Liquide and Air Liquide Finance have agreed to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes. The Amended and Restated Dealer Agreement entitles the Dealers to terminate any agreement that they make to subscribe Notes in certain circumstances prior to payment for such Notes being made to the relevant Issuer.

#### 2. SELLING RESTRICTIONS

### 2.1. Within the European Economic Area

#### **2.1.1** France

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any Notes to the public in France and it has not distributed or caused to be distributed and will not distribute or cause to be distributed to the public in France, the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, the relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Notes and such offers, sales and distributions have been and will be made in France only to (a) providers of investment services relating to portfolio management for the account of third parties (personnes fournissant le service d'investissement de gestion de portefeuille pour compte de tiers), and/or (b) qualified investors (investisseurs qualifiés) acting for their own account, all as defined in, and in accordance with, Articles L.411-1, L.411-2 and D.411-1 of the French Code monétaire et financier.

# 2.1.2 United Kingdom

Each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that:

- (i) in relation to any Notes which have a maturity of less than one year from the date of issue, (a) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (b) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the "FSMA") by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor;
- (ii) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor; and
- (iii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

# 2.1.3 Italy

The offering of the Notes has not been registered with the *Commissione Nazionale per le Società e la Borsa* ("**CONSOB**") pursuant to Italian securities legislation and, accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or delivered, and will not offer, sell or deliver any Notes in the Republic of Italy ("**Italy**") and that copies of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus or any other document relating to the offering of the Notes have not and will not be distributed in Italy, except:

- (a) to qualified investors (*investitori qualificati*), as defined pursuant to Article 100 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24 February 1998, as amended (the "Consolidated Financial Services Act") and Article 34-*ter*, paragraph 1, letter b), of CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of 14 May 1999, as amended (the "Issuers Regulation"); or
- (b) in other circumstances which are exempted from the rules on public offerings pursuant to Article 100 of the Consolidated Financial Services Act and Article 34-ter of the Issuers Regulations.

Moreover, and subject to the foregoing, any offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus or any other document relating to the offering of the Notes in Italy under (a) or (b) above must be:

- (i) made by an investment firm, bank or financial intermediary permitted to conduct such activities in Italy in accordance with the Consolidated Financial Services Act, Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993, as amended from time to time (the "Banking Act"), the Issuers Regulation and CONSOB Regulation No. 16190 of 29 October 2007, as amended from time to time;
- (ii) in compliance with Article 129 of the Banking Act and the implementing guidelines of the Bank of Italy, as amended from time to time; and
- (iii) in compliance with all Italian securities, tax, exchange control and any other applicable laws and regulations or requirement which may be imposed from time to time by the Bank of Italy, CONSOB or other Italian authority.

Any investor purchasing the Notes in this offering is exclusively responsible for ensuring that any offer or resale of the Notes it purchased in this offering occurs in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Article 100-bis of the Consolidated Financial Services Act affects the transferability of the Notes in Italy to the extent that any placement of the Notes is made solely with qualified investors and such Notes are then systematically resold to non-qualified investors on the secondary market at any time in the 12 months following such placement. Should this occur without the publication of a prospectus and outside of the scope of one of the exemptions referred to above, retail purchasers of Notes may have such purchase declared void and claim damages from any intermediary which sold them the Notes.

This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, any other document relating to the Notes, and the information contained herein are intended only for the use of its recipient and, unless in circumstances which are exempted from the rules governing offers of securities to the public pursuant to Article 100 of the Consolidated Financial Services Act and Article 34-ter of the Issuers Regulation, are not to be distributed to any third-party resident or located in Italy for any reason. No person resident or located in Italy other than the original recipients of this document may rely on it or its contents

# 2.1.4 Belgium

The Notes are not intended to be sold to Belgian Consumers. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, Notes to Belgian Consumers, and has not distributed or caused to be distributed and will not distribute or cause to be distributed, the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, the relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Notes to Belgian Consumers.

For these purposes, a "**Belgian Consumer**" has the meaning provided by the Belgian Code of Economic Law, as amended from time to time (Wetboek van 28 Februari 2013 van economisch recht/Code du 28 février 2013 de droit économique), being any natural person resident or located in Belgium and any acting for purposes which are outside his/her trade, business or profession.

# 2.2. Outside the European Economic Area

## 2.2.1 United States

The Notes and the Guarantee in respect of the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States, and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, except in certain transactions exempt from, or not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

Materialised Bearer Notes having a maturity of more than one year are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that, except as permitted by the Amended and Restated Dealer Agreement, it will not offer, sell or, in the case of Materialised Bearer Notes, deliver the Notes of any identifiable Tranche, (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 calendar days after completion of the distribution of such Tranche as determined, and certified to the relevant Issuer, by the Fiscal Agent, or in the case of Notes issued on a syndicated basis, the Lead Manager, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, and it will have sent to each dealer to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.

The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in Reliance on Regulation S.

In addition, until 40 calendar days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

# **2.2.2** Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the "Financial Instruments and Exchange Act"). Accordingly, each of the Dealers has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (as defined under Item 5, Paragraph 1, Article 6 of the Foreign Exchange and Foreign Trade Act (Act No. 228 of 1949, as amended)) or to others for re-offering or re-sale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and other relevant laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

# 2.2.3 Hong Kong

This Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus and the applicable Final Terms have not been approved by or registered with the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong or the Registrar of Companies of Hong Kong.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that:

- (a) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes (except for Notes which are a "structured product" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong) other than (i) to "professional investors" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong and any rules made under that Ordinance; or (ii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus", as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of that Ordinance; and
- (b) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons

outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors", as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance and any rules made under that Ordinance.

# 2.2.4 People's Republic of China

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that neither it nor any of its affiliates has offered or sold or will offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any of the Notes in the PRC, except as permitted by applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.

# 2.2.5 Singapore

Each Dealer has acknowledged that this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused such Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell such Notes or cause such Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of such Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (the "SFA"), (ii) to a relevant person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275, of the SFA, or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Where Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is:

- (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or
- (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

securities (as defined in Section 239(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA except:

- (i) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA;
- (ii) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
- (iii) where the transfer is by operation of law;
- (iv) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or
- (v) as specified in Regulation 32 of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Shares and Debentures) Regulations 2005 of Singapore.

# 2.2.6 **Russia**

Each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, that the Notes will not be offered, transferred or sold as part of their initial distribution or at any time thereafter to or for the benefit of any persons (including legal entities) resident, incorporated, established or having their usual residence in the Russian Federation or to any person located within the territory of the Russian Federation unless and to the extent otherwise permitted under Russian law.

#### 2.3 General

These selling restrictions may be modified or supplemented by the agreement of L'Air Liquide, Air Liquide Finance and the Dealers following a change in a relevant law, regulation or directive. Any such modification or supplement will be set out in a supplement to this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

No action has been taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of any of the Notes, or possession or distribution of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus or any other offering material or any Final Terms, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it will, to the best of its knowledge, comply with all relevant laws, regulations and directives in each jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or has in

its possession or distributes this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, any other offering material or any Final Terms and obtain any consent, approval or permission required for the purchase, offer or sale of Notes under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in which it makes such purchase, offer or sale and none of L'Air Liquide, Air Liquide Finance or any other Dealer shall have responsibility therefore.

# FORM OF FINAL TERMS - L'AIR LIQUIDE / AIR LIQUIDE FINANCE

# FORM OF FINAL TERMS FOR USE IN CONNECTION WITH ISSUES OF SECURITIES WITH A DENOMINATION OF AT LEAST $\cite{l}$ 00,000 TO BE ADMITTED TO TRADING ON A REGULATED MARKET

Final Terms dated [•]



Euro 12,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by L'Air Liquide S.A. in respect of Notes issued by Air Liquide Finance

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]

by [L'Air Liquide/Air Liquide Finance (the "Issuer")]

[unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by L'Air Liquide  $(the \ ``Guarantor")]$ 

SERIES NO: [●]

TRANCHE NO: [●]

#### PART A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions of the Notes (the "Conditions") set forth in the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus dated 9 June 2017 [and the supplement[s] to the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus dated [●] which [together] constitute[s] a Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus for the purposes of Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended (the "Prospectus Directive"). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with such Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus [as so supplemented]. Full information on the Issuer[, the Guarantor] and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus[, as so supplemented]. The Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus [and the supplement[s] to the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus] [and the Final Terms] are available for viewing at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent or the Paying Agent and on the websites of (a) the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and (b) the Issuer (www.airliquide.com) and copies may be obtained from [L'Air Liquide, 75, quai d'Orsay, 75007 Paris, France] [Air Liquide Finance, 6, rue Cognacq-Jay, 75007 Paris, France].

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under a Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus with an earlier date.]

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the terms and conditions of the Notes (the "Conditions") which are the [2007], [2009], [2011], [2012], [2013], [2014] [2015] [2016] EMTN Conditions], which are incorporated by reference in the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus dated 9 June 2017]. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended (the "Prospectus Directive") and must be read in conjunction with the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus dated 9 June 2017 [and the supplement[s] to the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus dated [•], which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive, save in respect of the Conditions, which are the [2007], [2009], [2011], [2012], [2013], [2014] [2015] [2016] EMTN Conditions]. Full information on the Issuer[, the Guarantor] and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms, the [2007], [2009], [2011], [2012], [2013], [2014] [2015] [2016] EMTN Conditions and the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus dated 9 June 2017 [and the supplement[s] to the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus dated [●]] to the exclusion of the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the Notes". The Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus [and the supplement[s] to the Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus] [and the Final Terms]<sup>2</sup> are available for viewing at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent or the Paying Agent and on the website of (a) the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and (b) the Issuer (www.airliquide.com) and copies may be obtained from [L'Air Liquide, 75, quai d'Orsay, 75007 Paris, France] [Air Liquide Finance, 6, rue Cognacq-Jay, 75007 Paris, France].

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs (in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics denote directions for completing the Final Terms.]

1	(i) Series Number:	[•]			
	(ii) Tranche Number:	[•]			
	[(iii) Date on which the Notes become fungible:	[Not Applicable/ The Notes will be assimilated (assimilées) and form a single series with the existing [insert Series Number of the relevant Series] issued by the Issuer on [insert date] (the "Existing Notes") [as from the date of assimilation which is expected to be on or about 40 calendar days after the Issue Date (the "Assimilation Date") of this Tranche]/[as from the Issue Date of this Tranche].]			
2	Specified Currency or Currencies:	[•]			
3	Aggregate Nominal Amount:				
	(i) Series:	[•]			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> To be adjusted if the Notes are not admitted to trading on the LSE.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> To be adjusted if the Notes are not admitted to trading on the LSE.

Issue Price:		(ii) Tranche:	[•]			
6 (i) Issue Date: (ii) Interest Commencement Date: 7 Maturity Date: 8 Interest Basis: 9 Interest Basis: 1 [•] per cent. Fixed Rate] 1 [[o] per cent. Fixed Rate] 2 [[o] per cent. Fixed Rate] 3 Change of Interest Basis: 4 [[o] per cent. Fixed Rate] [[specify particular reference rate] +/- [o] per cent per annum] Floating Rate] 9 Change of Interest Basis: 9 [[o] per cent. Fixed Rate] [[specify particular reference Floating Rate] 1 [[o] per cent. Fixed Rate] [[specify particular reference Floating Rate] 1 [[o] per cent. Fixed Rate] [[specify particular reference Floating Rate] 1 [[o] per cent. Fixed Rate] [[specify particular reference Floating Rate] 1 [[o] per cent. Fixed Rate] [[specify particular reference Floating Rate] 1 [[o] per cent. Fixed Rate] [[specify particular reference Floating Rate] 1 [[o] per cent. Fixed Rate] [[specify particular reference Floating Rate] 1 [[o] per cent. Fixed Rate] [[specify particular reference Floating Rate] 1 [[o] per cent. [specify particular reference rate] +/- [o] per cent per annum payable [annually/semiannually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date 1 [[o] per cent. per annum payable [annually/semiannually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date 1 [[o] per cent. per annum payable [annually/semiannually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date	4	Issue Price:	[•] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus accrued interest from [insert date] (in the case of			
(ii) Interest Commencement Date:    Maturity Date:	5	Specified Denomination(s):				
Maturity Date:   [specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant month and year]   Rate	6	(i) Issue Date:	[•]			
[specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interes Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevan month and year]  8		(ii) Interest Commencement Date:	[•]			
[Ispecify particular reference rate] +/- [•] per cent [per amum] Floating Rate]  [Zero Coupon]  [[•] per cent. Fixed Rate] – [specify particular reference Floating Rate]  [Applicable/Not Applicable]  [Specify the date when any fixed to floating rate (or any floating to fixed rate) change occurs or refer to paragraphs 12 and 13 below and identify there)  [Not Applicable]  [Investor Put]  [Change of Control Put Option]  [Issuer Call]  [Make-Whole Redemption by the Issuer]  [Residual Maturity Call Option]  [Clean-Up Call Option]  [	7	Maturity Date:	[specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant			
[per annum] Floating Rate]   [Zero Coupon]   [[•] per cent. Fixed Rate] - [specify particular reference Floating Rate]   [9] per cent. Fixed Rate] - [specify particular reference Floating Rate]   [4] plicable/Not Applicable]   [4] particular reference Floating Rate]   [4] particular Rate]   [5] particular Rate]   [6] particular R	8	Interest Basis:	[[●] per cent. Fixed Rate]			
[[•] per cent. Fixed Rate] - [specify particular reference Floating Rate]     9			[[specify particular reference rate] +/- [•] per cent. [per annum] Floating Rate]			
Paper   Paper   Paper   Paper			[Zero Coupon]			
(Specify the date when any fixed to floating rate (orany floating to fixed rate) change occurs or refer to paragraphs 12 and 13 below and identify there)  10 Put/Call Options: [Not Applicable] [Investor Put] [Change of Control Put Option] [Issuer Call] [Make-Whole Redemption by the Issuer] [Residual Maturity Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [(further particulars specified below)]  11 (i) Status of the Guarantee: [Not Applicable/Unsubordinated] (ii) Dates of the corporate authorisations for issuance of the Notes: [Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquid dated [•] [and of [•] [function] dated [•]]]*[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]]*[Pecision of [•] [function] dated [•]]*  PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE  12 Fixed Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] (i) Rate [(s)] of Interest: [•] per cent. per annum payable [annually/semi annually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interes Payment Date (ii) Interest Payment Date(s): [•] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [the			[[•] per cent. Fixed Rate] – [specify particular reference Floating Rate]			
any floating to fixed rate) change occurs or refer to paragraphs 12 and 13 below and identify there)  10 Put/Call Options: [Not Applicable] [Investor Put] [Change of Control Put Option] [Issuer Call] [Make-Whole Redemption by the Issuer] [Residual Maturity Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [(further particulars specified below)]  11 (i) Status of the Guarantee: [Not Applicable/Unsubordinated] [Investor Put] [Change of Control Put Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquid dated [•] [and of [•] [function] dated [•]]  Provisions of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and of [•] [function] dated [•]]  PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE  12 Fixed Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraph of this paragraph) of this paragraph (ii) Rate [(s)] of Interest:  [•] per cent. per annum payable [annually/semi annually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interes Payment Date (iii) Interest Payment Date(s):  [•] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [the	9	Change of Interest Basis:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]			
[Investor Put] [Change of Control Put Option] [Issuer Call] [Make-Whole Redemption by the Issuer] [Residual Maturity Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [(further particulars specified below)]  [Not Applicable/Unsubordinated] [Not Applicable/Unsubordinated] [Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquiddated [] [and of []] [function] dated []]]3/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [] [and []] [function] dated []]/[Decision of [] [function] dated []]/[Decision of []] [function] dated []]/[Decision of []]/[Decision of []] [function] dated []]/[Decision of []]/[Decision o			(Specify the date when any fixed to floating rate (or any floating to fixed rate) change occurs or refer to paragraphs 12 and 13 below and identify there)			
[Change of Control Put Option] [Issuer Call] [Make-Whole Redemption by the Issuer] [Residual Maturity Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [(further particulars specified below)]  [Inot Applicable/Unsubordinated] [Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquid dated [•] [and of [•] [function] dated [•]]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]]³/[Decision of [•] [function] dated [•]]]³/  PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE  12 Fixed Rate Note Provisions  [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraph of this paragraph)  [•] per cent. per annum payable [annually/semi annually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date  [•] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [the	10	Put/Call Options:	[Not Applicable]			
[Issuer Call]  [Make-Whole Redemption by the Issuer]  [Residual Maturity Call Option]  [Clean-Up Call Option]  [(further particulars specified below)]  11 (i) Status of the Guarantee: [Not Applicable/Unsubordinated]  (ii) Dates of the corporate authorisations for issuance of the Notes: [Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquid dated [•] [and of [•] [function] dated [•]]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Financidated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Financidated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision			[Investor Put]			
[Make-Whole Redemption by the Issuer]  [Residual Maturity Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [(further particulars specified below)]  [Not Applicable/Unsubordinated]  [Not Applicable/Unsubordinated]  [Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquid dated [•] [and of [•] [function] dated [•]]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of			[Change of Control Put Option]			
[Residual Maturity Call Option] [Clean-Up Call Option] [(further particulars specified below)]  11 (i) Status of the Guarantee: [Not Applicable/Unsubordinated]  (ii) Dates of the corporate authorisations for issuance of the Notes: [Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquidd dated [•] [and of [•] [function] dated [•]]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]]²/[Decision of [•] [function] dated [•]]²/[Decision of [•] [function] dated [•]]²/[Decisio			[Issuer Call]			
[Clean-Up Call Option] [(further particulars specified below)]  (ii) Dates of the Guarantee: [Not Applicable/Unsubordinated] (ii) Dates of the corporate authorisations for issuance of the Notes: [Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquidd dated [•] [and of [•] [function] dated [•]]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•] [and [•] [and [•] [and [•] [and [•] [and [			[Make-Whole Redemption by the Issuer]			
[(further particulars specified below)]  11 (i) Status of the Guarantee: [Not Applicable/Unsubordinated]  (ii) Dates of the corporate authorisations for issuance of the Notes: [Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide dated [•] [and of [•] [function] dated [•]]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [function] dated [•]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance d'administration of the Conseil			[Residual Maturity Call Option]			
(ii) Dates of the Corporate authorisations for issuance of the Notes:  [Not Applicable/Unsubordinated]  [Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide dated [●] [and of [●] [function] dated [●]]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●] [and [●] [			[Clean-Up Call Option]			
(ii) Dates of the corporate authorisations for issuance of the Notes:  [Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquida dated [●] [and of [●] [function] dated [●]]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of [●] [function] dated [●]]⁴  PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE  12 Fixed Rate Note Provisions  [Applicable/Not Applicable]  (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraph of this paragraph)  (i) Rate [(s)] of Interest:  [●] per cent. per annum payable [annually/semi annually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date  (ii) Interest Payment Date(s):  [●] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [the			[(further particulars specified below)]			
issuance of the Notes:  dated [●] [and of [●] [function] dated [●]]]³/[Decision of the Conseil d'administration of Air Liquide Finance dated [●] [and [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of [●]]³/[Decision of [●]] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of [●] [function] dated [●]]³/[Decision of [●]] [function] dated [●]	11	(i) Status of the Guarantee:	[Not Applicable/Unsubordinated]			
[Applicable/Not Applicable]  (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraph of this paragraph)  (i) Rate [(s)] of Interest:  [•] per cent. per annum payable [annually/semi annually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date  (ii) Interest Payment Date(s):  [•] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [the			[Decision of the Board of Directors of L'Air Liquide dated [•] [and of [•] [function] dated [•]]] <sup>3</sup> /[Decision of the <i>Conseil d'administration</i> of Air Liquide Finance dated [•] [and [•] [function] dated [•]] <sup>3</sup> /[Decision of [•] [function] dated [•]] <sup>4</sup>			
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraph of this paragraph)  (i) Rate [(s)] of Interest:  [•] per cent. per annum payable [annually/semi annually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date  (ii) Interest Payment Date(s):  [•] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [the	PROV	VISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAY	YABLE			
of this paragraph)  (i) Rate [(s)] of Interest:  [•] per cent. per annum payable [annually/semi annually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date  (ii) Interest Payment Date(s):  [•] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [the	12	Fixed Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]			
annually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date  (ii) Interest Payment Date(s):  [•] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [the			(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)			
		(i) Rate [(s)] of Interest:	[•] per cent. <i>per annum</i> payable [annually/semi-annually/quarterly/ monthly] in arrear on each Interest Payment Date			
		(ii) Interest Payment Date(s):	[•] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [the Business Day Convention specified below <sup>5</sup> ] ( <i>specify</i>			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Relevant for issues of Notes constituting *obligations* under French law.

74

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Only relevant for issues of Notes not constituting *obligations* under French law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> [RMB Notes only]

Business Day Convention and any applicable Business Centre(s) for the definition of "Business Day")/not adjusted.]

(iii) Fixed Coupon Amount [(s)]:

(iv) Broken Amounts:

(v) Day Count Fraction (Condition 6(a)):

(vi) Determination Date(s) (Condition 6(a)):

(vii) [Business Day Convention<sup>6</sup>:

(viii) [Party responsible for calculating Interest Amounts (if not the Calculation Agent)<sup>7</sup>:

(ix) [Relevant Time<sup>8</sup>:

13 Floating Rate Provisions

(i) Interest Period(s):

(ii) Specified Interest Payment Dates:

(iii) Business Day Convention:

(iv) Business Centre(s):

(v) Manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined:

(vi) Party responsible for calculating the Rates(s) of Interest and Interest Amount(s) (if not the Calculation Agent):

(vii) Screen Rate Determination:

Reference Rate:

- Reference Inter-Bank Market:

Reference Screen Page Time:

- Interest Determination Date:

Effective Date:

[•] per Note of [•] Specified Denomination

[Not Applicable/ $[\bullet]$  payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on]  $[\bullet]$ ] [Insert particulars of any initial or final broken interest amounts which do not correspond with the Fixed Coupon Amount [(s)] and the Interest Payment Date(s) to which they relate]

[30/360 / Actual/Actual - ICMA / Actual/Actual - ISDA / Actual/365 (Fixed) / Actual/360 / 30E/360 ]

[Day Count Fraction should be Actual/Actual-ICMA for all fixed rate issues other than those denominated in USD]

[Not Applicable]/[[•] in each year. [Insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon]]

[Floating Rate Business Day Convention/ Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/other]]

[•] / [Not Applicable]]

[11.00 a.m./[ •]] ([Hong Kong/Taipei/[•]] time)]

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph.)

[ullet]

[[•] in each year, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (iii) below]

[Floating Rate Business Day Convention /Following Business Day Convention /Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/other]

[ullet]

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]

[Not Applicable/[●]]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[•]

[•]

[•]

[•]

[•]

<sup>6 [</sup>RMB Notes only]

<sup>7 [</sup>RMB Notes only]

<sup>8 [</sup>RMB Notes only]

	- Repr	esentative Amount:	[•]					
	- Rele	vant Screen Page:	[•]					
	- Refe	rence Banks:	[•]					
	(viii) ISDA	[Applica	[Applicable/Not Applicable]					
	- Float	[•]						
	- Desig	gnated Maturity:	[•]					
	- Rese	[•]						
	(ix) Marg	[+/-] [●] per cent. <i>per annum</i>						
	(x) Mini	mum Rate of Interest:	[Not Applicable]/[●] per cent. per annum]					
	(xi) Maxi	[Not Ap	[Not Applicable]/ [●] per cent. per annum]					
	(xii) Rate	[•]						
	(xiii) Day	[30/360 / Actual/Actual - ICMA / Actual/Actual - ISDA / Actual/365 (Fixed) / Actual/360 / 30E/360 ]						
14	Zero Coup	on Note Provisions:	[Applica	able/Not Ap	plicable]			
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub paragraphs of this paragraph)					
	(i) [Amo	ortisation/Accrual] Yield:	[•]	per	cent.	per	annum	
	(ii) Day	Count Fraction (Condition 6(a)):			Actual - ICM (Fixed) / Act			
PROV	SIONS REL	ATING TO REDEMPTION						
15	Call Option		[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub paragraphs of this paragraph)					
	(i) Optional Redemption Date(s):		[•]					
		(ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of each Note:		r Note o	of [●] Sp	ecified Der	nomination	
	(iii) If red	leemable in part:						
	(a)	Minimum nominal amount to be redeemed:	[Not Ap	plicable/[●]	]]			
	(b)	Maximum nominal amount to be redeemed:	[Not Ap	plicable/[●]	]			
	(iv) Notice	ce period:	[Not Ap	plicable/[•]	]			
16	Make-Whole Redemption by the Issuer (Condition 7(b))		[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub paragraphs of this paragraph)					
	(i) Notic	ce period:	[Not Ap	plicable/ [•	]]			
	(ii) Refer	rence Security:	[•]					
	(iii) Refer	(iii) Reference Dealers:		[Not Applicable/ [●]]				
	[(iv) Similar Security:		[Not Applicable/ [●]]					
	[(v) Party responsible for calculating the principal and/or interest due (if not the Calculation Agent):		[Not Ap	plicable/ [●	)))			
	(vi) Rede	emption Margin:	[•]					
17	Residual Maturity Call Option (Condition 7(d))  [Applicable/Not (If not applicable, delete the remaining of this paragraph)						Applicable] paragraphs	

Call Option Date: [•] (i) Notice period: [As per the Conditions]/[•] (ii) 18 Clean-Up Call Option (Condition 7(e)) [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub paragraphs of this paragraph) Clean-Up Redemption Amount: 19 Put Option [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub paragraphs of this paragraph) (i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [•] (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) of each Note: [●] per Note of [●] Specified Denomination (iii) Option Exercise Date: [•] (iv) Notice period: [Not Applicable/ [●]] 20 Change of Control Put Option: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 21 Final Redemption Amount of each Note Redemption at par 22 Early Redemption Amount Early Redemption Amount(s) of each [Not Applicable/ [●]] Note payable on redemption for taxation reasons (Condition 7(h)), for illegality (Condition 7(1)) or an event of default (Condition 10): Redemption for taxation reasons permitted [Yes/No] on days others than Interest Payment Dates (Condition 7(h)): (iii) Unmatured Coupons to become void upon [Yes/No/Not Applicable] early redemption (Materialised Bearer Notes only) (Condition 8(f)): GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES 23 Materialised Form of Notes: [Dematerialised Notes/ Notes] (Materialised Notes are only in bearer form and may only be issued outside France) Form of Dematerialised Notes: Applicable/Bearer (i) [Not dematerialised form (au porteur) / Registered dematerialised form (au nominatif)] Registration Agent: [Not Applicable/if Applicable give name and details] (ii) (Note that a Registration Agent must be appointed in relation to Registered Dematerialised Notes only) (iii) Temporary Global Certificate: Applicable/Temporary Global Certificate exchangeable for Definitive Materialised Bearer Notes on [•] (the "Exchange Date"), being 40 calendar days after the Issue Date subject to postponement as provided in the Temporary Global Certificate (iv) Applicable TEFRA exemption: Rules/D Rules/Not Applicable] (Only applicable to Materialised Notes) 24 Possibility to request identification of the [Applicable/Not Applicable] Noteholders as provided by Condition 1(a)(i):

[Not Applicable/Give details. (Note that this item

Days

Non-Business

25

**Payments** 

(Condition 7(h)):

on

Financial Centre(s):

relates to the date of payment, and not the end dates of interest periods for the purposes of calculating the amount of interest, to which the item 13(iv) relates)]

(ii) Business Day Convention:

Talons for future Coupons to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):

27 Redenomination:

Possibility of resale of purchased Notes in accordance with Article L.213-0-1 and D.213-1 A of the French *Code monétaire et financier*:

29 *Masse* (Condition 12):

[Following/Modified Following]

[Yes/No/Not Applicable.] (Only applicable to Materialised Notes)

[Not Applicable/The provisions [in Condition 1(d)] apply]

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

[Full Masse]/[Contractual Masse] shall apply

(Note that: (i) in respect of any Tranche of Notes issued outside France, Condition 12(b) (Contractual Masse) may be elected by the Issuer, and (ii) in respect of any Tranche of Notes issued inside France, Condition 12(a) (Full Masse) shall apply.)

[Name and address of the Representative: [•]

Name and address of the alternate Representative: [•]]

[The Representative will receive no remuneration/The Representative will receive a remuneration of [•]].

#### [ADMISSION TO TRADING APPLICATION

These Final Terms comprise the final terms required for the Notes described herein to be admitted to trading pursuant to the Euro 12,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of L'Air Liquide and Air Liquide Finance.]

# [THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

The Issuer confirms that the information contained in these Final Terms has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by [•], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:
Ву:
Duly authorised
[Signed on behalf of the Guarantor:
By:
Duly authorised]

#### PART B - OTHER INFORMATION

# 1 LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

(i) Admission to trading:

[Application has been made for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange/specify relevant regulated market] with effect from [•].] [Not Applicable.]

(ii) Estimate of total expenses related to admission to trading:

[•]

(iii) Regulated markets or equivalent markets on which, to the knowledge of the issuer, securities of the same class of the securities to be offered or admitted to trading are already admitted to trading:

**[●]** 

#### 2 RATINGS

The Notes to be issued have been rated:

[S&P Global Ratings ("**S&P**"): [•]]

[Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's"): [●]]

[[Other]: [•]]

[[Each of [●], [●] and] [●] is established in the European Union and has applied for registration under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009, as amended, although the result of such applications has not been determined.]

[[Each of [S&P] and] [Moody's] is established in the European Union, is registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 as amended (the "CRA Regulation") and is included in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation published on the European Securities and Markets Authority's website (www.esma.europa.eu/supervision/credit-rating-agencies/risk).]

[[Each of [●],[●] and] [●] is [not] established in the European Union [nor has/and has not] applied for registration under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 as amended (the "CRA Regulation"), but is endorsed by [insert credit rating agency's name] which is established in the European Union, registered under the CRA Regulation and is included in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation published on the European Securities and Markets Authority's website (www.esma.europa.eu/supervision/credit-rating-agencies/risk).].

[[None of  $[\bullet]$  and]  $[\bullet]$  is [not] established in the European Union [nor has/and has not] applied for registration under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 as amended.]

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated to Notes of the type being issued under the Programme generally or, where the issue has been specifically rated, that rating.)

# 3 INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE [ISSUE/OFFER]

[Not Applicable/Need to include a description of any interest, including conflicting ones, that is material to the issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be satisfied by the inclusion of the following statement:

"So far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the offer."]/ $[\bullet]$ ]

#### 4 YIELD

Indication of yield: [Not Applicable (in the case of Floating Rate Notes)/[•]]

#### 5 OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

ISIN: [●]

Common Code: [•]

Depositaries:

(i) Euroclear France to act as Central Depositary:

[Yes/No]

Common Depositary for Euroclear (ii) and Clearstream:

[Yes/No]

Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear and Clearstream and the relevant identification

[Not Applicable/give number(s)name(s), and address(es)]

number(s):

Delivery [against/free of] payment

Names and addresses of additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):

[•]

**GENERAL** 

Delivery:

The aggregate principal amount of Notes issued has been translated into Euro at the rate of [•] producing a sum of:

[Not Applicable/Euro[•]](Only applicable for Notes not denominated in Euro)

Reason for the offer: [As per section headed "Use of Proceeds" of the Debt

Issuance Programme Prospectus / [•] (particular

identified use of proceeds)]

DISTRIBUTION

Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated] (i)

(ii) If syndicated:

> (A) Names of Managers: [Not Applicable/give names]

> > (Include names of entities agreeing to underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and names of the entities agreeing to place the issue without a firm commitment or on a "best efforts" basis if such entities

are not the same as the Managers)

(B) Stabilising Manager(s) if any: [Not Applicable/give name]

(iii) If non-syndicated, name of Dealer: [Not Applicable/give name]

US Selling Restrictions (Categories of Reg. S Compliance Category 2 applies to the Notes; (iv) potential investors to which the Notes [TEFRA C]/[TEFRA D]/[TEFRA not applicable]

are offered):

#### **GENERAL INFORMATION**

#### 1 Listing and admission to trading

Application may be made (i) to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to be listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or (ii) to the competent authority of any other Member State of the EEA for Notes issued under the Programme to be listed and admitted to trading on a regulated market in such Member State.

In compliance with Article 18 of the Prospectus Directive, application may also be made for the notification of certificate of approval to any competent authority of any Member State of the EEA.

#### 2 Corporate authorisations

Any drawdown of Notes under the Programme, to the extent that such Notes constitute *obligations*, requires the prior authorisation of (i) the *Conseil d'administration* of L'Air Liquide or the *Conseil d'administration* of Air Liquide Finance or (ii) the Ordinary General Meeting of the relevant Issuer's shareholders if (a) the articles of association of the relevant Issuer so require (at the date hereof, the articles of association of L'Air Liquide require a resolution of the Ordinary General Meeting, but the articles of association of Air Liquide Finance do not) or (b) the shareholders at an Ordinary General Meeting decide to authorise an issue of *Obligations*, all pursuant to Article L.228-40 of the French *Code de commerce*. Any drawdown of Notes, to the extent that such Notes do not constitute *obligations*, falls within the general powers of the *Président Directeur Général* of L'Air Liquide and of the *Président Directeur Général* of Air Liquide Finance.

- (a) As at the date of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, any issue of Notes constituting *obligations* by L'Air Liquide must be authorised by a resolution of its shareholders; pursuant to this authorisation, the shareholders of L'Air Liquide may delegate their powers to the *Conseil d'administration* of the Issuer, which may in turn sub-delegate its powers to the *Président Directeur Général* or any *Directeur Général Délégué*. For this purpose the shareholders of L'Air Liquide have on 12 May 2016 authorised the *Conseil d'administration* to issue *obligations* up to a maximum aggregate amount outstanding of €20 billion (such authority to expire on 12 May 2021). To the extent that the Notes do not constitute *obligations*, their issue will fall within the general authority of the *Président Directeur Général* of the Issuer or any authorised officer of the Issuer acting by delegation.
- (b) On 3 May 2017, the *Conseil d'Administration* of L'Air Liquide has given its consent to issue *obligations* up to a maximum aggregate amount outstanding of €16 billion (whether under the Programme or outside the scope of the Programme) and, delegated to its *Président Directeur Général* or, with the approval of the latter, to any *Directeur Général Délégué* appointed as such in compliance with the Issuer's articles of association, all power to issue *obligations* up to a maximum aggregate amount outstanding of €16 billion (whether under the Programme or outside the scope of the Programme) and to determine their terms and conditions (such authority to expire on 2 May 2018 (inclusive)).
- (c) Pursuant to Article L. 225-35 of the French *Code de commerce*, any guarantee given by L'Air Liquide must be authorised by a resolution of its *Conseil d'administration*. The Guarantee dated 3 June 2016 has been authorised by a resolution of the *Conseil d'administration* of L'Air Liquide on 12 May 2016 which authorised the *Président Directeur Général* (with the power to sub-delegate) for and on behalf of L'Air Liquide to issue all forms of guarantee for the term of Notes issued by Air Liquide Finance up to a maximum principal amount of €12 billion.
- (d) Any issue of Notes constituting *obligations* by Air Liquide Finance must be authorised by a resolution of its *Conseil d'administration*. On 13 April 2017, the *Conseil d'administration* of Air Liquide Finance has given its consent to issue *obligations* up to a maximum aggregate amount outstanding of €16 billion (whether under the Programme or outside the scope of the Programme) and, pursuant to Article L. 228-40 *alinéa* 2 of the French *Code de commerce*, the *Conseil d'administration* of Air Liquide Finance delegated to its *Président Directeur Général* Fabienne Lecorvaisier and to one of its Administrateur Jacques Molgo, acting together or separately, all powers to issue *obligations* up to a maximum aggregate amount outstanding of €16 billion (whether under the Programme or outside the scope of the Programme) and to determine their terms and conditions. To the extent that the Notes do not constitute *obligations*, their issue will fall within the general authority of the *Président Directeur Général* of the Issuer or any authorised officer of the Issuer acting by delegation.

# 3 Financial/Trading position and trend information

Except as disclosed in the section headed "Recent Developments of L'Air Liquide since 1 January 2017" of this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading

position of the Air Liquide Group since 31 December 2016 and no material adverse change in the prospects of L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance or of the Air Liquide Group since 31 December 2016.

#### 4 Legal and arbitration proceedings

Except as disclosed in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus on pages 21 and 22, neither L'Air Liquide nor Air Liquide Finance is or has been involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceeding which are pending or threatened of which L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance is aware), during a period covering the previous 12 months which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects on the financial position or profitability of either L'Air Liquide or Air Liquide Finance or the Air Liquide Group.

#### 5 Clearing Systems

Notes have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream systems which are entities in charge of keeping the records. The Common Code, the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) or the identification number for any other relevant clearing system for each Series of Notes will be set out in the relevant Final Terms.

The address of Euroclear is 1 boulevard du Roi Albert II, 1210 Bruxelles, Belgium and the address of Clearstream is 42 avenue John Fitzgerald Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg, Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg.

Dematerialised Notes will be inscribed in the books of Euroclear France (acting as central depositary). Dematerialised Notes which are in registered form (*au nominatif*) are also inscribed either with the Issuer or with the registration agent.

The address of Euroclear France is 66, rue de la Victoire, 75009 Paris, France.

#### 6 Documents on display

For so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, the following documents will be available, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted), for inspection at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent and at the registered office of L'Air Liquide (75 quai d'Orsay - 75007 Paris, France), on the website of the Issuers (www.airliquide.com) (save for the articles of association and the audited annual statutory accounts of Air Liquide Finance and for the Guarantee), or otherwise, using any kinds of communication means, permitted by law, at the choice of the relevant Issuer:

- (i) the articles of association of the Issuers;
- (ii) the published annual reports and the audited annual statutory accounts and consolidated financial statements of the Guarantor for each of the two financial years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 and the first quarter 2017 revenue report of the Guarantor;
- (iii) the audited annual statutory accounts of Air Liquide Finance for each of the two years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015;
- (iv) the Guarantee;
- (v) each Final Terms for Notes that are admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or on any other Regulated Market in the EEA; and
- (vi) all reports, letters and other documents, historical financial information, valuations and statements prepared by any expert at the relevant Issuer's request any part of which is included or referred to in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus.

For so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, the following documents will be available, on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu):

- (i) this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus;
- (ii) the information incorporated by reference in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus; and
- (iii) the Final Terms for Notes that are listed and admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

So long as any of the Notes is outstanding, copies of the latest published annual report, annual statutory accounts and annual consolidated financial statements of L'Air Liquide (including any published semi-annual consolidated financial statements) (both in the English and French languages) and copies of the latest annual statutory accounts of Air Liquide Finance (both in the English and French languages) may be obtained upon request, free of charge, and copies of the Amended and Restated Agency Agreement will be available for inspection, at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent during normal business hours.

#### 7 Statutory auditors

Ernst & Young et Autres (1/2, place des Saisons, 92400 Courbevoie – Paris – La Défense 1) and Mazars (61, rue Henri-Regnault, 92400 Courbevoie) have audited, and rendered an unqualified audit report on the annual consolidated financial statements and statutory accounts of L'Air Liquide for the year ended 31 December 2015. Ernst & Young et Autres and PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit (63, rue de Villiers, 92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex) have audited, and rendered an unqualified audit report on the annual consolidated financial statements and statutory accounts of L'Air Liquide for the year ended 31 December 2016.

It is specified that L'Air Liquide's statutory auditors review the semi-annual consolidated financial statements of L'Air Liquide but they do not audit or review the quarterly accounts. L'Air Liquide's First Quarter 2017 Revenue Report, which is incorporated by reference in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, was not audited or reviewed by its statutory auditors.

Ernst & Young et Autres have audited, and rendered an unqualified audit report on the annual statutory accounts of Air Liquide Finance for the year ended 31 December 2015. PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit have audited, and rendered an unqualified audit report on the annual statutory accounts of Air Liquide Finance for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Ernst & Young et Autres, Mazars and PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit are regulated by the *Haut Conseil du Commissariat aux Comptes*, duly authorised as *Commissaires aux comptes* and belong to the *Compagnie Nationale des Commissaires aux Comptes* of Versailles.

#### **8** Yield (Fixed Rate Notes only)

In relation to any Tranche of Fixed Rate Notes, the yield in respect of such Notes will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. The yield is calculated at the Issue Date of the Notes on the basis of the relevant Issue Price. The yield indicated will be calculated as the yield to maturity as at the Issue Date (as defined in the Final Terms) of the Notes and will not be an indication of future yield.

# PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE INFORMATION GIVEN IN THE DEBT ISSUANCE PROGRAMME PROSPECTUS

To the best knowledge of L'Air Liquide and Air Liquide Finance (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), and each as far as they are concerned, the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus, is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import and the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be, accept responsibility for the information contained in this Debt Issuance Programme Prospectus accordingly. The relevant Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be, will also accept responsibility for the information contained in the Final Terms in respect of any issue of Notes.

L'Air Liquide 75, quai d'Orsay 75007 Paris France Air Liquide Finance 6, rue Cognacq-Jay 75007 Paris France

Duly represented by:

Duly represented by:

Benoît Potier

President and Chief Executive Officer

Fabienne Lecorvaisier
President and Chief Executive Officer

#### **Issuer and Guarantor**

# L'AIR LIQUIDE

75, quai d'Orsay 75007 Paris France

#### **Issuer**

# AIR LIQUIDE FINANCE

6, rue Cognacq-Jay 75007 Paris France

#### **Arranger**

# **BNP PARIBAS**

10 Harewood Avenue London NW1 6AA United Kingdom

#### **Permanent Dealers**

# Banca IMI S.p.A.

Largo Mattioli 3 20121 Milan Italy

# **Barclays Bank PLC**

5 The North Colonnade Canary Wharf London E14 4BB United Kingdom

#### **BNP PARIBAS**

10 Harewood Avenue London NW1 6AA United Kingdom

# **Citigroup Global Markets Limited**

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB United Kingdom

#### Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft

Kaiserstraße 16 (Kaiserplatz) 60311 Frankfurt-am-Main Federal Republic of Germany

#### Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank

12, place des Etats-Unis CS 70052 92547 Montrouge Cedex France

# Crédit Industriel et Commercial S.A.

6, avenue de Provence 75452 Paris cedex 09 France

#### **HSBC France**

103, avenue des Champs-Elysées 75008 Paris France

# Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Europe) S.A., acting through its Paris branch

73, boulevard Haussmann 75008 Paris France

# J.P. Morgan Securities plc

25 Bank Street Canary Wharf London E14 5JP United Kingdom

# **Merrill Lynch International**

2 King Edward Street London EC1A 1HQ United Kingdom

# **MUFG Securities EMEA plc**

Ropemaker Place 25 Ropemaker Street London EC2Y 9AJ United Kingdom

# Mizuho International plc

Mizuho House 30 Old Bailey London, EC4M 7AU

# **Natixis**

30, avenue Pierre Mendès France 75013 Paris France

# **SMBC Nikko Capital Markets Limited**

One New Change London EC4M 9AF United Kingdom

#### Société Générale

29, boulevard Haussmann 75009 Paris France

# The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (trading as NatWest Markets)

250 Bishopsgate London EC2M 4AA United Kingdom

# Fiscal Agent, Paying Agent, Redenomination Agent, Consolidation Agent and Calculation Agent

#### **BNP Paribas Securities Services**

(affiliated with Euroclear France under number 29106)
Les Grands Moulins de Pantin
9, rue du Débarcadère
93500 Pantin
France

# **Luxembourg Listing Agent**

#### **BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch**

60 avenue J.F. Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg (Postal address: L-2085) Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg

# Statutory Auditors to L'AIR LIQUIDE

for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015

for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016

# **Ernst & Young et Autres**

1/2, place des Saisons 92400 Courbevoie – Paris – La Défense 1 France

#### Mazars

61, rue Henri Regnault 92075 Paris La Défense cedex France

# **Ernst & Young et Autres**

41, Rue Ybry 92200 Neuilly-sur-Seine France

# PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

63, rue de Villiers 92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex France

# Statutory Auditors to AIR LIQUIDE FINANCE

for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015

for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016

#### **Ernst & Young et Autres**

1/2, place des Saisons 92400 Courbevoie – Paris – La Défense 1 France

# PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

63, rue de Villiers 92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex France

# **Legal Advisers**

To the Issuers

As to French law

To the Dealers

As to French law

White & Case LLP

19, Place Vendôme 75001 Paris France **Linklaters LLP** 25, rue de Marignan 75008 Paris

France